Molecular mechanism for coping with critical heat and oxidative stresses in thermotolerant Zymomonas mobilis

(耐熱性 Zymomonas mobilis における限界熱ストレスと 酸化ストレスに対する対処分子)

Kannikar Charoensuk

2011

Molecular mechanism for coping with critical heat

and oxidative stresses in thermotolerant

Zymomonas mobilis

Kannikar Charoensuk

Graduate School of Medicine,

Yamaguchi University,

2011

Graduate School of Medicine Yamaguchi University

Molecular mechanism for coping with critical heat and oxidative stresses in thermotolerant

Zymomonas mobilis

Kannikar Charoensuk

Doctor of Applied Molecular Bioscience

Graduate School of Medicine, Yamaguchi University, 2011 ı

Contents

	Deser
list of figuros	Page
List of figures List of tables	1 ii
List of abbreviations	iii
Chapter 1	1
Introduction and review of literatures	1
1.1 General introduction	1
1.2 Microorganism genetic developments for bioethanol	2
production	2
1.3 The ethanologenic bacterium Zymomonas mobilis and its biotechnological potential	4
Chapter 2	6
Molecular strategy for survival at a critical high temperature in	
Eschierichia coli	
Abstract	6
2.1 Introduction	6
2.2 Material and methods	8
2.2.1 Materials	8
2.2.2 Bacterial strains and growth conditions	8 8
2.2.3 Screening of thermosensitive mutants 2.2.4 Effects of glucose and MgCl ₂ and sensitivity to H ₂ O ₂	8 9
2.2.4 Effects of glucose and MgCl ₂ and sensitivity to H ₂ O ₂ 2.2.5 RT-PCR analysis	9
2.2.6 Bioinformatics and phylogenetic analyses	11
2.2.7 DNA chip analysis	11
2.3 Results and Discussion	11
2.3.1 Thermosensitive mutants and thermotolerant genes	11
2.3.2 Effects of supplements and oxidative stress on growth of thermosensitive mutant strains	16
2.3.3 Bioinformatics analysis and classification of thermotolerant genes	17
2.3.4 Possible acquisition of some thermotolerant genes by horizontal gene transfer	22
2.3.5 Expressional change caused by heat shock at CHT	32
2.3.6 Further consideration on mechanisms for survival at CHT	34
Supplement Information	35
Chapter 3	43
Molecular metabolism of thermotolerance in ethanologenic themotolerant <i>Zymomonas mobilis</i> applicable for high temperature fermentation	
Abstract	43

Contents (cont.)

Page

3.1 Introduction	43
3.2 Materials and methods	45
3.2.1 Materials	45
3.2.2 Microorganisms	45
3.2.3 Growth and ethanol production of Z. mobilis strains	46
3.2.4 Conjugation and strain construction	46
3.2.5 Screening of the thermosensitive mutant strain	46
3.2.6 Effect of various stresses on growth of thermosensitive mutants	47
3.2.7 DNA manipulation	47
3.2.8 Identification of the transposon $(Tn10)$ inserted site of	47
Z. mobilis thermosensitive mutant genome by TAIL (Thermal	
Asymmetric Interlaced) PCR and nucleotide sequence	
analysis	49
3.2.9 Comparison of Nucleotide Sequences	49 49
3.2.10 Analytical procedures 3.2.11 Statistics	49 49
3.3 Results	49 49
3.3.1 Comparative growth and ethanol production of	49
thermotolerant Z. mobilis with the other type strains	77
3.3.2 Screening of thermosensitive mutants and identify the	51
thermotolerant genes of Z. mobilis	01
3.3.3 Identification of possible thermotolerant genes	56
3.3.5 Effect of other stresses on thermotolerant mutants	56
3.4 Discussion	56
Chanter 4	60
Chapter 4 Physiological importance of cytochrome <i>c</i> peroxidase in	00
ethanologenic thermotolerant Zymomonas mobilis	
Abstract	60
4.1 Introduction	60
4.2 Material and methods	62
4.2.1 Materials	62
4.2.2 Bacterial strains, culture conditions and membrane	63
preparation	
4.2.3 DNA manipulation	65
4.2.4 Halo assay	66
4.2.5 Intracellular ROS level	66

Contents (cont.)

Page

4.2.6 RT-PCR analysis	67
4.2.7 Analytical procedures	67
4.2.8 Database search and computer analysis	68
4.2.9 Statistics	68
4.3 Results	69
4.3.1 Structural characteristics of ZmCytC	69
4.3.2 Effects of disruption or increased expression of <i>ZmcytC</i> on morphology, growth and ethanol production	70
4.3.3 Sensitivity to H_2O_2 of a disrupted mutant of ZmcytC	74
4.3.4 Expression of genes presumably related to oxidative stress response and effect of a disrupted mutation of <i>ZmcytC</i> on their expression	76
4.3.5 Peroxidase activity of ZmCytC and its possible electron donor	78
4.4 Discussion	80
References	82
Acknowledgements	101
Summary	102
Summary (Japanese)	104
List of publications	106

List of figures

.

		Page
Chapter 1	The marphele are of 7 metilia	1
Figure 1.1	The morphology of Z. mobilis	4 5
Figure 1.2	Major carbohydrate pathway in Z. mobilis	3
Chapter 2		·
Figure S1	Growth of thermosensitive mutants in LB liquid culture at different temperatures	39
Figure S2	Gene organizations around genes having either an essential gene or a thermotolerant gene as a just downstream gene	40
Figure S3	Testing of possible polar effects by the <i>aph</i> insertion	41
Figure S4	Effects of addition of glucose and $MgCl_2$ and sensitivity to H_2O_2	42
Figure S5	Down-regulated genes for ribosomal proteins	42
Chapter 3		
Figure	Phylogenic tree analysis of 16 s rRNA of the	50
3.1	thermotolerant Z. mobilis TISTR 548 and other type strains	
Figure 3.2	Comparison of growth abilities of the <i>Z. mobilis</i> TISTR 548 with other type strains under stresses condition	50
Figure	Growth and ethanol production of Z. mobilis strains in	51
3.3	YPD medium under static condition.	
Figure	Relative growth of thermosensitive mutant strains with	52
3.4	its parental strain	
Chapter 4		
Figure 4.1	Alignment of deduced amino acid sequences of ZmCytC and other bCCPs.	70
Figure 4.2	Growth curves and morphology of <i>Zmcyt</i> C mutant and parental strains under a shaking condition and effects of <i>Zmcyt</i> C clone.	73
Figure 4.3	Effect of disruption of <i>ZmcytC</i> on glucose utilization and ethanol production	74
Figure 4.4	Effect of disruption or increased expression of $ZmcytC$ on sensitivity to exogenous H_2O_2	75

List of tables

·		Page
Chapter 1 Table 1.1	Genetic engineered microorganism for utilization of useful materials for ethanol production.	3
Chapter 2		
Table 2.1	RT-PCR primers used in this study	10
Table 2.2	Thermotolerant genes identified in this study	13
Table 2.3	Distribution of thermotolerant genes in group D in various bacteria	19
Table 2.4	Distribution of thermotolerant genes in various bacteria.	24
Table 2.5	Distribution of thermotolerant genes in group B in various bacteria	28
Table 2.6	Genes significantly up-regulated and down-regulated at CHT	33
Table 2.7	Essential genes significantly up-regulated and down- regulated at CHT	34
Chapter 3		
Table 3.1	Reaction parameters of TAIL-PCR for amplification of the franking region of $Tn10$ inserted in the thermosensitive mutant strains of <i>Z. moobilis</i> TISTR 548 with the modified from previous report (Liu and Whitter, 1995)	48
Table 3.2	Functional distribution of Z. mobilis thermotolerant genes	53
Chapter 4		
Table 4.1	Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study	63
Table 4.2	Primers used in this study	64
Table 4.3	Peroxidase and oxidase activities in membrane fractions from the parental and $\Delta ZmcytC$ cells	79

ii

List of abbreviations

bp	Base pair
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
°C	Degree Celsius
DNA	Deoxyribinecleic acid
et al.	and others
g	gram (s)
h	hour (s)
kb	kilobase (s)
kDa	kilodalton (s)
Km	Kanamycin
L	Liter (s)
LB	Luria-Bertani medium
М	Molar
mg	milligram (s)
min	minute (s)
mM	millimolar
μg	microgram (s)
μl	microliter (s)
μM	micromolar (s)

iii

į

List of abbreviations (cont.)

NAD+	oxidized nicotnamide adenine dinecleotide
NADP+	oxidized nicotnamide adenine dinecleotide phosphate
NADH	reduceded nicotinamide adenine dinecleotide
NADPH	reduceded nicotinamide adenine dinecleotide phosphate
nm	nanometer (s)
PCR	Plymerase chain reaction
rpm	revolutions per minute
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophresis
YPD	Yeast Peptone Dextrose
%	percent

Chapter 1

Introduction and review of literatures

1.1 General introduction

The world population on Earth of July 2008 is estimated to be just over 6.68 billion expected to reach nearly 9 billion by the year 2042. The additional people will be almost all in poorer developing countries. A rapidly growing world population required more food (http://www.commondreams.org/news2000/0523-01.htm). Global demand for cereals is projected to increase by 40 %. Meat demand is expected to increase by 58 % and demand for roots and tubers by 37 %. The most of this increase coming from the developing world. Demand for fruits, vegetables and seasonings as well as nonfood farm products will also rise. But future increases in food production and new land to expand the agricultural base are likely to be more difficult because a complex range of environmental and social factors.

In too many foods production regions of the world have severely depleted because supplies of oil and gas are essential to modern agriculture techniques, a fall in global oil supplies could cause spiking food prices and unprecedented famine in the coming decades. Nowadays crude oil prices behave much as any other commodity with wide price swings in times of shortage or oversupply. The crude oil price cycle may extend over several years responding to changes in demand as well as OPEC and non-OPEC supply. In 1983 crude oil price was about 30 US. Dollar per barrel during 25 years the price raise dramatically with 400 % at 140 US. per barrel. Because of world high dependence of most modern industrial transport, agricultural and industrial systems on the relative low cost and high availability of oil will cause the oil-peak production decline and possible severe continue increases in the price of oil to have negative economy (http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Peak oil). implications for the global The alternative energy comes to substitute for oil. In 2006, about 18% of global final energy consumption came from renewable source, with 13% coming from traditional biomass. Hydropower was the next largest renewable source, providing 3%, followed by hot water/heating, which contributed 1.3%. Modern technologies, such as

geothermal, wind, solar, and ocean energy together provided some 0.8% of final energy consumption (http://www.i-sis.or g.uk/SustainableWorldInitiativeF.php).

Bio-fuel as a member of renewable energy which uses the energy contained in organic matter - crops such as sugarcane or corn include wheat crops, waste straw, willow and popular trees, sawdust, reed canary grass, cord grasses, Jerusalem artichoke, myscanthus and sorghum plants. To produce ethanol, an alternative to fossil-based fuels like petrol.

Ethanol or ethyl alcohol (C_2H_5OH) is a clear colorless liquid; it is biodegradable, low in toxicity and causes little environmental pollution if spilt. Ethanol burns to produce carbon dioxide and water. Ethanol is a high octane fuel and has replaced lead as an octane enhancer in petrol. By blending ethanol with gasoline and oxygenate the fuel mixture so it burns more completely and reduces polluting emissions. Ethanol fuel blends are widely sold in the United States and still increase around the world (http://www.esru.strath.ac.uk/EandE/Web_sites/02-03/biofuels/what_bioethanol.htm).

The production of bioethanol around the world was 41 billion liters in 2004. The largest producers in the world are Brazil with 37%, US with 33% and Asia with 14%. Below is a description of EU's focus on bioethanol (http://www.biogasol.dk/3me4.htm). Global demand to approach 90 million metric tons in 2011 - Demand for biofuels will expand almost 20 % per year through 2011 to 92 million metric tons. On another hand the World Bank reported cause of increased bio fuel production has contributed to the rise in food price. So increase the efficiency of bioethanol production processes such as used the ethanologenic thermotolerant microorganism is expected to become one of the economical next-generation fermentation technologies.

1.2 Microorganism genetic developments for bioethanol production

The importance of yeast cell physiology in alcohol fermentations has been emphasized by several researches such as for fermentations of pentose by *S. cerevisiae* [Kötter et al., 1990; Tantirungkij et al., 1993] and *Z. mobilis* [Deanda et al., 1995], for fermentations of high-gravity cereal [Thomas and Ingledew, 1992] and for fermentations of sugar cane molasses [Walker *et al.*, 1996]. Genetic engineering micro-organisms for utilization of useful materials for ethanol production are noted in Table 1.1.

	Gene engineering	Useful materials	Reference
Escherichia coli	Alcohol dehydrogenase II and pyruvate decarboxylase from <i>Zymomonas mobilis</i>	Glucose	Ingram LO <i>et al.</i> , (1987), Ohta K <i>et al.</i> , (1991)
Klebsiella oxytoca	Plasmids with a-Amylase Bacillus stearothermophilus and the pullulanase gene from Thermoanaerobium brockii	Starch and maltose	Vera Lu' cia dos Santos et al., (1999)
K. oxytoca	Pyruvate decarboxylase and alcohol dehydrogenase from <i>Z. mobilis</i> ; and endoglucanase from <i>Erwinia chrysanthemi</i>	Cellulose	Zhou S <i>et al.</i> , (2001), Zhou S and Ingram LO (2004)
Z. mobilis	xylose isomerase, xylulokinase, L-arabinose isomerase, L-ribulokinase, L-ribulose 5-phosphate 4-epimerase, transaldolase and transketolase from <i>E.coli</i>	Xylose, arabinose that produce by hydrolysis of hemicellulose and cellulose or starch	Deanda K et al., (1995)
Zymobacter palmae	Xylose isomerase, xylulokinase, transaldolase and transketolase from <i>E.coli</i>	Xylose	Yanase H <i>et al.</i> , (2007)
Saccharomyces cerevisiae	Xylose reductase, xylitol dehydrogenase from <i>Pichai stipitis</i>	xylose	Kötter <i>et al.</i> , (1990), Tantirungkij, M <i>et al.</i> , (1993)

1.3 The ethanologenic bacterium Z. mobilis and its biotechnological potential



Bacteria; Proteobacteria; Alphaproteobacteria; Sphingomonadales; Sphingomonadaceae; Zymomonas; Zymomonas mobilis

Figure 1.1 Morphology of Zymomonas mobilis

The genus Zymomonas consists of large, gram-negative rod (2-6 long and 1-4 wide), which carry out a vigorous fermentation of sugars to homo-ethanol. Although not all strains are motile, if motility occurs, it is by lophotrichous flagella. Zymomonas is a common organism involved in alcoholic fermentation of various plant saps, and in many tropical areas of South and Central America, Africa, and Asia, it occupies a position similar to that of S. cerevisiae (yeast) in North America and Europe. Zymomonas is involved the alcoholic fermentation of agave in Mexico, and palm sap in many tropical areas. It also carries out of ethanol fermentation from sugarcane juice and honey. Although Zymomonas is rarely the sole organism involved in these alcoholic fermentations, it is often the dominant organism and is probably response for the production of most of the ethanol in these beverages. Zymomonas is also responsible for spoilage of fruit juices such as apple cider and perry. It also may be the constituent of the bacterial flora of spoiled beer and may be responsible for the production in beer of unpleasant odor of rotten apples. Zymomonas resembles most closely the acetic acid bacteria, specifically Gluconobacter because of its polar flagellation, and it is often found in nature associated with the acetic bacteria. This is of interest because Zymomonas ferments glucose to ethanol, whereas the acetic acid bacteria oxidize ethanol to acetic acid. Thus, the acetic acid bacteria may depend on the activity of Zymomonas for the production of their growth substrate, ethanol. Like the acetic acid bacteria, Zymomonas is quite tolerant of low pH. Unlike yeast, which ferments glucose to ethanol via the Emden-Meyerhof (glycolytic) pathway, Zymomonas employs the Enter-Doudoroff pathway. This pathway is active in many pseudomonads as a means of catabolizing glucose.

Zymomonas is of interest to the ethanol industry because it shows higher rates of glucose uptake and ethanol production and gives a higher yield of ethanol than many

types of yeast. *Zymomonas* is also rather tolerant of high ethanol concentrations (up to 10%) but is not quite as tolerant as some of the best yeast strains, which can grow to 12-15% ethanol. However, the fact that *Zymomonas* is a Gram-negative bacterium and can thus be readily manipulated genetically makes it an attractive candidate for use by ethanol production industries.

We report the complete genome sequence of Z. mobilis ZM4 (ATCC31821), an ethanologenic microorganism of interest for the production of fuel ethanol. The genome consists of 2,056,416 base pairs forming a circular chromosome with 1,998 open reading frames (ORFs) and three ribosomal RNA transcription units. The genome lacks recognizable genes for 6-phosphofructokinase, an essential enzyme in the Embden-Meyerhof-Parnas pathway, and for two enzymes in the tricarboxylic acid cycle, the 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase complex and malate dehydrogenase, so glucose can be metabolized only by the Entner-Doudoroff pathway. Whole genome microarrays were used for genomic comparisons with the Z. mobilis type strain ZM1 (ATCC10988) revealing that 54 ORFs predicted to encode for transport and secretary proteins, transcriptional regulators and oxidoreductase in the ZM4 strain were absent from ZM1. Most of these ORFs were also found to be actively transcribed in association with ethanol production by ZM4 [Seo et al., 2007].



Major	carbohy	ydrate	pathways
	in <i>Z</i> .	mobili	5

Abbreviations	
ADH : alcohol dehydrogenases I and II;	
EDA : 2-keto-3-deoxy-gluconate-aldolase;	
EDD : 6-phosphogluconate dehydratase;	
ENO: enolase;	
FRK : Fructokinase;	
GAP : glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate	
dehydrogenase;	
GFOR : glucose-fructose oxidoreductase;	
GLF : glucose facilitator;	
GLK : glucokinase;	
GNL : gluconolactonase;	
GNT K : gluconate kinase;	
INV B : invertase B;	
KDPG : 2-keto-3-deoxy-6-phosphogluconate;	
LEV U: levansucrase;	
ME : malic enzyme;	
PDC : pyruvate decarboxylase;	
PDHC : pyruvate dehydrogenase complex;	
PGI : phosphogluco isomerase;	
PGK : phosphoglycerate kinase;	
PGL : phosphogluconolactonase;	
PGM : phosphoglyceromutase;	
PPC : phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase;	
PYK : pyruvate kinase;	
TKT : transketolase;	
ZWF : glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase.	

Figure 1.2 Major carbohydrate pathway in Z. mobilis

Chapter 2

Molecular strategy for survival at a critical high temperature in Eschierichia coli

Abstract

The molecular mechanism supporting survival at a critical high temperature (CHT) in E. coli was investigated. Genome-wide screening with a single-gene knockout library provided a list of genes indispensable for growth at 47°C, called thermotolerant genes. Genes for which expression was affected by exposure to CHT were identified by DNA chip analysis. Unexpectedly, the former contents did not overlap with the latter except for dnaJ and dnaK, indicating that a specific set of non-heat shock genes is required for the organism to survive under such a severe condition. More than half of the mutants of the thermotolerant genes were found to be sensitive to H_2O_2 at 30°C, suggesting that the mechanism of thermotolerance partially overlaps with that of oxidative stress resistance. Their encoded enzymes or proteins are related to outer membrane organization, DNA double-strand break repair, tRNA modification, protein quality control, translation control or cell division. DNA chip analyses of essential genes suggest that many of the genes encoding ribosomal proteins are down-regulated at CHT. Bioinformatics analysis and comparison with the genomic information of other microbes suggest that E. coli possesses several systems for survival at CHT. This analysis allows us to speculate that a lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis system for outer membrane organization and a sulfur-relay system for tRNA modification have been acquired by horizontal gene transfer.

2.1 Introduction

Responses of *Escherichia coli* to high temperatures have been extensively investigated, though previous studies have mainly focused on the response to a temperature up-shift around 42°C, a response known as a heat shock response (HSR) to induce the expression of a set of proteins, heat-shock proteins (HSPs) [Morimoto et al.,

1996]. The fact that many HSPs are conserved among species indicates that the actions of HSRs are the fundamentally and physiologically important mechanisms in living organisms [Boorstein et al., 1994; Gupta,1995]. HSPs play crucial roles not only in the rescue or removal of proteins damaged by environmental stresses, including heat stress and salt stress, but also in the intrinsic folding of proteins under normal growth conditions [Yura et al., 2000].

It has been shown taht 384 genes are up-regulated by short-time exposure to a temperature of 43°C as a heat shock in *E. coli* [Gunasekera et al., 2008], and these genes may be directly or indirectly induced by the treatment. The directly induced genes encode HSPs, including the main cellular chaperone machineries of GroEL and DnaK, ATP-dependent proteases of Lon, HslUV, Clp and FtsH (HflB), periplasmic protease DegP, and other proteins involved in protein folding, refolding, quality control and degradation [Narberhaus et al., 1998]. HSPs are under complex regulations and are divided into several regulatory groups by their major stimulons [Erickson and Gross, 1989]. The control of their expression, however, is highly variable among organisms and even among various bacteria [Raina et al., 1995].

One of the control elements found in Gram-negative bacteria is a heat shock sigma factor that regulates transcription of the major HSPs. HSR in *E. coli* is generally mediated by alternative sigma factors, sigma 32 and sigma 24 [Yura et al., 2000; Erickson and Gross, 1989; Raina et al., 1995]. Transcription of the *rpoH* gene for sigma 32 is induced at elevated temperature via the action of sigma 24 [Erickson and Gross, 1989]. Sigma 24, which is inactive under non-stress conditions by interaction with anti-sigma factor, is activated by misfolding of outer membrane or periplasmic proteins and by stresses including heat shock [Alba et al., 2002]. Both sigma factors are further regulated at the translation level and or at the posttranslational level. The factor sigma 24 is in part regulated by a cognate small RNA, and sigma 32 synthesis is regulated by structural change of its own mRNA molecules serving as a cellular thermometer and its activity modulated by phosphorylation [Morita et al., 1999; Klein et al., 2003]. Other microorganisms, on the other hand, appear to possess diverged regulatory mechanisms [Helmann and Chamberlin 1988].

There is no information on the molecular mechanisms of response to and survival at a critical high temperature (CHT) in organisms, probably due to the limited experimental procedures. Developments of a single-gene knockout library and DNA chip analysis have encouraged us to perform a genome-wide investigation of responses in organisms under extreme conditions. Since several mesophilic bacteria including *E. coli* can grow and survive at high temperatures compared to other mesophilic bacteria,

they are assumed to have acquired the potential for thermotolerance during their evolution. In this study, we utilized new procedures for the first time to obtain information on the molecular mechanisms related to thermotolerance in *E. coli* at CHT. Screening of thermosensitive mutants at CHT and informatics analysis of the corresponding genes revealed pathways or factors indispensable for survival at CHT. For essential genes, their possible involvement in the response to CHT was examined by DNA chip analysis. Based on the results, we propose novel molecular mechanisms for survival at CHT in *E. coli*.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Materials

Oligonucleotide primers for polymerase chain reaction (PCR) were purchased from FASMAC Co, Ltd (Atsugi, Japan). Other chemicals were all of analytical grade.

2.2.2 Bacterial strains and growth conditions

Strains used in this study were derivatives of *E. coli* K-12. W3110 (IN (*rrnD-rrnE*), *rph-1*), BW25113 (*rrnB3*, Δ (*lacZ*)4787, *hsdR514*, Δ (*araBAD*)567, Δ (*rhaBAD*)568, *rph-1*) [Datsenko and Wanner, 2000] and mutants of BW25113 in the Keio collection as a single-gene knockout library [Baba et al., 2006] were grown on plates or in liquid of modified Luria-Bertani (LB) medium (1% Bactotryptone, 0.5% yeast extract, and 0.5% NaCl) at 37°C, 45°C or 47°C for appropriate times.

2.2.3 Screening of thermosensitive mutants

The Keio collection consisting of 3,908 mutant strains was used for screening. In the 1st screening, mutant strains were grown on LB plates at 30°C overnight. A colony of each strain was patched on LB plates and incubated at 47°C for 48 h to find sensitive strains. The sensitive strains were subjected to the 2nd screening of spotting tests on plates. Cells were cultured in LB medium for 18 h and then diluted with LB medium to adjust turbidity to OD_{600} of 0.5, 0.05 and 0.005. The diluted samples (10 µl) were spotted on LB plates and incubated at 47°C for 48 h. The thermosensitive strains selected by the 2nd screening were subjected to the 3rd screening in liquid culture. After 8-h preculture, cells were diluted to a turbidity corresponding to OD_{600} of 0.1 and

inoculated into LB medium at the final OD_{600} of 0.001. Samples were then incubated at 47°C for 18 h under a shaking condition. Thermosensitivity was determined by measuring OD_{600} . Thermosensitive strains were defined to be <0.1 at OD_{600} . The experiments were performed three times, and the results were confirmed to be reproducible.

2.2.4 Effects of glucose and MgCl₂ and sensitivity to H₂O₂

To examine effects of supplements, glucose (0.5% (w/v)) or MgCl₂ (20 mM) was added to the LB liquid culture. After 8-h preculture, cells were diluted to a turbidity corresponding to OD₆₀₀ of 0.1 and inoculated into LB medium with or without the supplement at the final OD₆₀₀ of 0.001. Samples were then incubated at 47°C for 18 h under a shaking condition. After 18 h, turbidity at OD₆₀₀ was measured. To test the sensitivity to oxidative stress, H₂O₂ was added to the culture medium at the final concentration of 0.5 mM. After 8-h preculture, cells were diluted to a turbidity corresponding to OD₆₀₀ of 0.1 and inoculated into LB medium with or without H₂O₂ at the final OD₆₀₀ of 0.001. Samples were then incubated at 30°C for 8 h under a shaking condition. The experiments were performed three times, and the results were confirmed to be reproducible.

2.2.5 RT-PCR analysis

Cultures were grown in LB medium at 37°C until the exponential phase, and then the temperature was up-shifted to 47°C and incubation was continued for 8 min. Total RNA was immediately prepared from the heat-stressed cells by the hot phenol method [Aiba et al., 1981]. RT-PCR analysis was performed using an mRNA-selective RT-PCR kit (TAKARA BIO Inc, Otsu, Japan) to examine the expression of immediate downstream genes of disrupted genes as described previously [Tsunedomi et al., 2003]. The primer set used for each gene is shown in Table 2.1. The RT reaction was carried out at 42°C for 15 min, 85°C for 1 min, 45°C for 1 min and extension at 72°C for 2 min using the two specific primers for each gene. After the completion of 15, 20, 25 and 30 cycles, the PCR products were analyzed by 0.9% agarose gel electrophoresis and stained with ethidium bromide. The relative amounts of RT-PCR products on the gel were compared by measuring the band density after the color of the image taken had been reversed using a model GS-700 Imaging Densitometer (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc, Tokyo, Japan) [Nitta et al., 2000].

Name	Sequence
aceF-5'	5'-GAGATCCTGGTCAAAGT-3'
aceF-3'	5'-GCCAGCAAACGGAGCCG-3'
lpd-5'	5'-AACTCAGGTCGTGGTAC-3'
lpd-3'	5'-AACGGCAGTTGGATCGG-3'
rfaC-5'	5'-CGATGGGCGATGTTCTC-3'
rfaC-3'	5'-CATCTGTAGGCAGGTTC-3'
rfaF-5'	5'-ACATGATGATGTCGCAA-3'
rfaF-3'	5'-TTGTTATGGCCGCAGTT-3'
der-5'	5'-GTCTAACTCGCACCCGA-3'
der-3'	5'-CCGTTCTCTTCCGCTTC-3'
tolR-5'	5'-GAGGTCGTCGCGATCTCA-3'
tolR-3'	5'-CGGTTGGTTTAATGACGCA-3'
valS-5'	5'-AAGATATCGAACAGCCG-3'
valS-3'	5'-TTCACCGCATTGGACAG-3'
rpsL-5'	5'-CAGTTAACCAGCTGGTA-3'
rpsL-3'	5'-CTTCACGCCATACTTGG-3'
yheL-5'	5'-CACATTACATCGCTCAC-3'
yheL-3'	5'-TCACCAGGCCATCTGGC-3'
yheM-5'	5'-CTACTGCACCTCATGGT-3'
yheM-3'	5'-TCGTAGTTGGCGAGTTC-3'
yheN-5'	5'-TTGCCATCGTGGTGACC-3'
yheN-3'	5'-GAGCGAGGCTTCCGCCA-3'
dnaJ-5'	5'-CAGCGGAAGAGCGTGAA-3'
dnaJ-3'	5'-GAAGAATCCCTGGCGCA-3'
rpsM-5'	5'-CCGTATAGCAGGCATTA-3'
rpsM-3'	5'-TTGATCGGTTTGCGCGG-3'
rpsK-5'	5'-GGCAAAGGCACCAATTCG-3'
rpsK-3'	5'-TAGTGATGCGGAAACCTG-3'
rpsR-5'	5'-ACGTTATTTCCGTCGTCG-3'
rpsR-3'	5'-GATCAGTGTACGGCAGCA-3'

 Table 2.1 RT-PCR primers used in this study.

. .

2.2.6 Bioinformatics and phylogenetic analyses

Bioinformatics analysis was mainly performed according to the instructions of the KEGG site (http://www.genome.jp/kegg-bin/show_organism? menu_type=pathway maps&org=ecj). Databases of DDBJ and GenBank were also used.

2.2.7 DNA chip analysis

W3110 cultures were grown in LB medium at 37°C until the exponential phase, and then the temperature was up-shifted to 47°C and incubation was continued for 8 min. A control culture was incubated in parallel at 37°C for 8 min. Total RNA was immediately prepared from the heat-stressed cells by the hot phenol method [Tsunedomi et al., 2003]. Preparation of cDNA, fragmentation and the end-labeling of DNA fragments were performed according to the instruction manual from Affymetrix. The ENZO Bioarray terminal labeling kit (Enzo Life Sciences, Inc, New York, USA) was used to end-label DNA fragments. DNA hybridization, data capture and analyses were performed as described in the protocol supplied by Affymetrix and GCOS software (Affymetrix, Inc, California, USA). Two independent experiments were performed and four data sets (two data sets at 37°C: 37°C-1 and 37°C-2, two data sets at 47°C: 47°C-1 and 47°C-2) per gene were obtained. The expression ratio used here indicates the average of the ratios obtained in the two independent experiments. Spots with a significantly lower (<0.50; i.e., a negative fold difference) or higher (2>; i.e., a positive fold difference) fluorescence ratio of the heated sample to the control sample were considered to represent a real significant difference. Physiological function and functional classification of the genes were derived from the Genobase database (http://ecoli.aist-nara.ac.jp/GB6/search.jsp). Array data were submitted to ArrayExpress accession number will be available the web and the on site (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/arrayexpress/).

2.3 Results and Discussion

2.3.1 Thermosensitive mutants and thermotolerant genes

In order to identify genes required for survival at CHT in *E. coli*, we screened for thermosensitive mutants from a single-gene knockout library [Baba et al., 2006)], which had been constructed according to the one-step gene disruption method with an

aph cassette [Datsenko and Wanner, 2000] and for which each construct had been confirmed extensively [Yamamoto et al., 2009]. In the disrupted gene of each mutant strain, the region between the 1st codon and the last 6 codons was displaced with the *aph* cassette, so that most of the coding region of the gene was deleted. Our experiments indicated that the parental strain used for construction of the disrupted library is able to grow at temperatures up to 47°C, this temperature thus being its CHT.

After three successive screening steps of the library, including 3,908 disrupted-mutant strains, 51 strains were found to be sensitive to CHT. Their growth curves at 37°C, 45°C and 46°C were then compared to those of the parental strain (Figure S1). The growth profiles suggest that most mutants selected are significantly sensitive to 46°C and some even to 45°C. Such a disrupted gene responsible for the thermosensitive phenotype was designated as a thermotolerant gene (Table 2.2).

Table 2.2 Therr	Table 2.2 Thermotolerant genes identified in	in this study	udy.			
Classification	Sub-classification		Gene Function	Glcª	Mg ^{2+b}	H2O2 ⁶
Energy metabolism	Pyruvate metabolism	aceE	pyruvate dehydrogenase, decarboxylase component E1	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++		S
(Group A)	Pyruvate metabolism	aceF	pyruvate dehydrogenase, dihydrolipoyltransacetylase component E2	‡	‡	
	Pyruvate metabolism	<i>pd</i>	lipoamide dehydrogenase, E3 component is part of three enzyme complexes	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++		
	Pyruvate metabolism	lipA	lipoate synthase	+	+	
	Propanate metabolism	ackA	Acetate kinase A and propionate kinase 2		++	S
	Pentose phosphate pathway	spe	D-ribulose-5-phosphate 3-epimerase	+		S
	Respiratory chain	cydB	cytochrome d terminal oxidase, subunit II	+	++	
	Respiratory chain	yhcB	cytochrome d terminal oxidase, subunit III		‡	S
Outer membrane	Lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis	gmhB	D,D-heptose 1,7-bisphosphate phosphatase		+	
stabilization	Lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis	lpcA	D-sedoheptulose 7-phosphate isomerase	+	++	
(Group B)	Lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis	rfaC	ADP-heptose:LPS heptosyl transferase I		+	
	Lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis	rfaD	ADP-L-glycero-D-mannoheptose-6-epimerase, NAD(P)-binding	+		
	Lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis	rfaE	fused heptose 7-phosphate kinase and heptose 1 -phosphate adenyltransferase		+	
	Lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis	rfaF	ADP-heptose:LPS heptosyltransferase II		+	S
	Lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis	rfaG	glucosyltransferase I	+		
	Peptidoglycan-associated lipoprotein ydcL	ydcL	predicted lipoprotein	+	+	S
	Peptidoglycan-associated lipoprotein yfgL	yfgL	protein assembly complex, lipoprotein component	‡	S	
	Peptidoglycan-associated lipoprotein <i>ynbE</i>	ynbE	predicted lipoprotein	÷	+	
	Peptidoglycan-associated lipoprotein nlpl	Iqln	conserved protein	+	+	
	Peptidoglycan-associated lipoprotein ycdO	ycdO	conserved protein	+	+	
	Outer membrane integrity	pal	peptidoglycan-associated outer membrane lipoprotein	‡		

- 13 -

*	++ S		S	S	+ S	++ S	+ S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S		++ S	S	·	S	S	S	+
		+	+	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++	÷						+		+				+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++			+
membrane spanning protein in TolA-TolQ-TolR complex	membrane spanning protein in TolA-TolQ-TolR complex	conserved hypothetical protein	DNA polymerase III subunit, epsilon	DNA polymerase III subunit, chi	Primosome factor n'	component of RuvABC resolvasome, regulatory subunit	component of RuvABC resolvasome, endonuclease	sulfer relay system, cysteine desulfurase	sulfer relay system, predicted intracellular sulfur oxidation protein	sulfer relay system, predicted intracellular sulfur oxidation protein	sulfer relay system, predicted intracellular sulfur oxidation protein	conserved protein required for cell growth	delta(2) isopentenylpyrophosphate tRNA-adenosine transferase	tRNA (5-methylaminomethyl-2-thiouridylate)- methyltransferase	pseudouridylate synthase I	chaperone Hsp40, co-chaperone with DnaK	chaperone Hsp70, co-chaperone with DnaJ	Chaperone/serine endoprotease	Anti-sigma factor	50S ribosomal subunit L36, related to secY expression	30S ribosomal subunit S6, supecifically modified with gutamic acid or phosphate	DNA-binding transcriptional regulator or rRNA transcription DnaK suppressor
tol Q	tolR	yciM	dnaQ	holC	priA	huvA	ruvC	iscS	yheL	yheM	yheN	дүүр	miaA	trmU	truA	dnaJ	dnaK	degP	rseA	lmJ	rpsF	dksA
Outer membrane integrity	Outer membrane integrity	Outer membrane integrity	DNA replication & repair, DSBR	DNA replication & repair, DSBR	DNA replication & repair, DSBR	DNA repair, DSBR	DNA repair, DSBR	tRNA modification	tRNA modification	tRNA modification	tRNA modification	tRNA modification	tRNA modifoication	tRNA modification	tRNA modification	Chaperon system	Chaperon system	Chaperon system	Chaperon regulator	Translation control	Translation control	Translation control
			DNA repair	(Group C)				tRNA modification	(Group D)							Chaperone/protease	(Group E)			Translation control	(Group F)	

- 14 -

S						S	
+	S			+	+ +	+	
+	++++	+ +	+	+	+	+++++	
Component of trans-translation process	Site-specific tyrosine recombinse involved in chromosome dimer resolution	Membrane-anchored periplasmic protein involved in separation	Regulator of cell wall hydrolases responsible for cell separation	Zinc/cadmium/mercury/lead-exporting ATPase	Predicted proton-dependent oligopeptide Transporter, POT family	Conserved hypothetical protein	
smpB	xerC	dedD	envC	zntA	ybgH	Ннац	
Translation control	Related to cell division	Related to cell division	Related to cell division	Membrane transport	Membrane transport	Membrane transport	
	Cell division	(Group G)		Others			

^aAccording to the data in Figure S4, ratios of growth in the presence of glucose to that in the absence of glucose at 46°C were estimated. "++" and "+" represent more than 2.0 and 1.5-2.0, respectively.

^bAccording to the data in Figure S4, ratios of growth in the presence of MgCl₂ to that in the absence of MgCl₂ at 46°C were estimated. "++" and "+" represent more than 2.0 and 1.5-2.0, respectively.

^cAccording to the data in Figure S4, ratios of growth in the presence of H₂O₂ to that in the absence of H₂O₂ at 30°C were estimated. "S" represents less than 0.5.

- 15 -

The gene organization generated by construction of the disrupted mutants might give rise to a polar effect of the inserted *aph* gene on transcription of downstream genes that are intrinsically transcribed by read-through from the promoter or the region upstream of the disrupted gene. Such an organization was found in 42 of the 51 mutants. Sensitivity was not due to a polar effect in 29 of those 42 mutants because disruption of genes just downstream from the disrupted gene by the same method caused no thermosensitive phenotype. The remaining 13 mutants have either an essential gene or a thermotolerant gene as an immediate downstream gene (Figure S2). Their possible polar effects were thus tested by RT-PCR with total RNA prepared from cells exposed to a temperature of 37°C or 47°C (Figure S3). The results suggest that the transcription level of the immediate downstream gene in the mutant was almost the same as that in the parent in all cases except for the cases of mutants of aceF, tolQ, dnaK and rpsF. Most of these downstream genes would thus have their own promoters or the transcription level by read-through would be nearly the same as that of the aph promoter. However, the transcription levels of lpd, tolR and dnaJ located downstream of aceF, tolO and dnaK, respectively, were increased and the level of rpsR located downstream of rpsF was decreased compared to those of the parental strain at both temperatures. Although the expressional alteration of the 4 genes was nearly the same at both temperatures, growth of the corresponding mutant strains at 37°C was not significantly changed from that of the parental strain. Taken together, the results suggest that the thermotolerant phenotype in the 51 mutants is due to disruption of the targeted gene and not due to a polar effect on its downstream genes. Out of the 51 thermotolerant genes, 8 genes, cydB, degP, dnaJ, dnaK, dnaQ, nlpI, rfaD and rfaC, had been reported as genes supporting growth at a high temperature. [Wall et al., 1992; Raina and Georgopoulos 1991; Klein et al., 2009; Adams and West 1996; Tomoyasu et al., 1998; Lipinska et al., 1990; Ohara et al., 1999], and thus we newly identified 43 thermotolerant genes in this organism.

2.3.2 Effects of supplements and oxidative stress on growth of thermosensitive mutant strains

Since LB was utilized as a medium for the screening of thermosensitive mutants, limitation of carbon source might cause sensitiveness to CHT. We thus examined the effect of glucose as a supplement for growth of the thermosensitive mutant strains (Table 2.2, Figure S4). We also tested the effect of MgCl₂ because Mg^{2+} somehow protects against cell damage under stress conditions [Kabir et al., 2005; Noor et al.,

2009]. The growth of 20 and 37 mutants was improved at CHT by the addition of 0.5% glucose and 20 mM MgCl₂, respectively. The growth of sixteen mutant strains was improved by supplementation of not only glucose but also MgCl₂.

Next, the effect of exogenous oxidative stress on the thermosensitive mutant strains was tested since a higher temperature causes more oxidative stress (Noor *et al*, 2009; unpublished data). We exposed thermosensitive mutant strains to 0.5 mM H_2O_2 in LB liquid medium at 30°C. Twenty-nine mutants were found to be sensitive to H_2O_2 (Table 2.2, Figure S4), corresponding to approximately 60% of the thermosensitive mutants. Moreover, out of the 10 thermosensitive mutants for which glucose and MgCl₂ supplementation had no effect, 9 mutants showed sensitivity to H_2O_2 . These results suggest that the mechanism of thermotolerance at CHT partially overlaps with that of oxidative stress resistance.

2.3.3 Bioinformatics analysis and classification of thermotolerant genes

To understand the molecular mechanism of *E. coli* survival at CHT, bioinformatics analysis with various public databases including the KEGG PATHWAY database was performed. Out of the 51 thermotolerant genes, 29 genes were successfully mapped on *E. coli* pathways in the KEGG PATHWAY database. Interestingly, many genes were found to be involved in the same metabolic pathway, suggesting that the organism possesses indispensable pathways at CHT. The remaining 19 genes except for 3 unknown genes were extensively analyzed by using the DDBJ or GenBank database. On the basis of results of these analyses and the effects of the supplements, the 51 thermotolerant genes were classified into 7 groups (Table 2.2).

Group A consists of genes concerned with energy metabolism for production of ATP. The gene products of *aceE*, *aceF*, *lpd* and *ackA* are mapped in the pyruvate metabolism pathway from pyruvate to acetyl CoA [Haydon et al., 1993; Lyngstadaas et al., 1995; Cassey et al., 1988; Barak et al., 1998] and that of *rpe* is located in the pentose phosphate pathway. *cydB* and *yhcB* encode subunits of cytochrome *d* terminal oxidase, which generates the membrane potential responsible for ATP synthesis [Wall et al., 1992; Mogi et al., 2006]. *lipA*, which encodes LipA to produce lipoate required for pyruvate dehydrogenase reaction, also contributes to pyruvate metabolism [Reed and Cronan, 1993]. Based on the results showing that disrupted mutations of these genes caused a thermosensitive phenotype, we assumed that the cells require more ATP at a higher temperature. This assumption was supported by the finding that the

phenotype of most mutants in this group was partially suppressed by the addition of glucose (Table 2.2, Figure S4).

Group B consists of genes related to biosynthesis of the cell wall or organization of the outer membrane. The products of gmhB, lpcA(gmhA), rfaC (waaC), rfaD (waaD/htrM), rfaE (gmhC), rfaF (waaF) and rfaG (waaG) were mapped into the lipopolysaccharide (LPS) biosynthesis pathway [Raina and Georgopoulos, 1991; Klein et al., 2009; Kneidinger et al., 2002; Roncero and Casadaban, 1992]. The products of involved these genes are in synthesis of the heptose unit of ADP-L-glycero-D-manno-heptose from sedoheptulose-7phosphate or encode early heptosyl transferases for KDO-lipid A (rfaC and rfaF) and to further extend the inner core of LPS with glcosyltransferase (rfaG). ydcL, yfgL (bamB), ynbE, nlpI and ycdO encode peptidoglycan-associated outer membrane lipoproteins, and the products of *pal*, tolQ and tolR are components for a complex structure forming a biopolymer transporter [Gerding et al., 2007; Kampfenkel and Braun, 1993]. vciM encodes a protein possibly required for integrity of the outer membrane [Niba ETet al., 2007]. The thermosensitive phenotype caused by disrupted mutants of all of these genes was significantly suppressed by the addition of Mg^{2+} (Table 2.2, Figure S4). Since Mg^{2+} is known to stabilize the outer membrane structure by binding extracellularly [Nikaido, 2003], it is assumed that YdcL, YfgL, YnbE, NlpI, YcdO, Pal, TolQ, TolR and YciM act as components or scaffold proteins of the membrane to maintain outer membrane integrity, especially at a high temperature. Similarly, our data suggest that Mg²⁺ is able to stabilize the outer membrane structure when the LPS biosynthesis pathway becomes defective.

Group C consists of *dnaQ*, *holC*, *priA*, *ruvA* and *ruvC* for DNA double-strand break repair (DSBR) [Motamedi et al., 1999]. DnaQ and HolC are epsilon and chi subunits, respectively, of DNA polymerase III [Fijalkowska et al., 1997;39 Xiao et al., 1993], which is required for homologous recombination in DSBR [Adams and West, 1996]. RuvA and RuvC act as DNA helicase and endonuclease, respectively [Adams and West, 1996; 40 Bennett and West, 1996], before the replication restart in the DSBR process, and PriA functions as DNA helicase after the replication restart [Al-Deib et al., 1996]. The requirement of DSBR for survival at CHT suggests that DNA molecules are subjected more to double-strand breaks at a higher temperature. Interestingly, mutants of all members in this group exhibited sensitivity to oxidative stress at 30°C. Therefore, it is thought that there is a strong connection between oxidative stress and DNA double-strand breaks.

Group D includes genes for tRNA modification. Products of iscS, yheL (tusB), vheM (tusC), vheN (tusD) and vhhP (tusA) have been demonstrated to compose the sulfur-relay system [Rojas and Vásquez, 2005; Ikeuchi et al., 2006; Dahl et al., 2008]. IscS is a widely distributed cysteine desulfurase that catalyzes desulfuration of L-cysteine by transfer of the sulfur to its active-site cysteine to form a persulfide group (-SSH), being responsible together with YheL, YheM, YheN and YhhP for biosynthesis of the 2-thio modification of 5-methylaminomethyl-2-thiouridine (mnm⁵s²U) [Ikeuchi et al., 2006] and five different thio modifications in bacterial tRNAs [Lauhon, 2002]. IscS also works as a general sulfur donor in various metabolic pathways [Mihara and Esaki, 2002] including biosynthesis of iron-sulfur (Fe-S) cluster [Frazzon and Dean, 2003], thiamine [Taylor et al., 1998], nicotinic acid and branched-chain amino acids [Lauhon and Kambampati, 2000]. Additionally, miaA, trmU and truA in this group are involved in tRNA modification. The mutations of genes related to sulfer modification cause the phenotype of sensitivity to anti-oxidation stress [Dahl et al., 2008]. Consistently, our study provided evidence that mutants of this group exhibited hypersensitivity to oxidative stress. YheL, YheM, YheN and YhhP, which mainly function in t-RNA modification [Lauhon, 2002], are conserved in thermotolerant bacteria in mesophiles (see Table 2.3), whereas *iscS*, a general sulfur donor, is widely conserved in mesophiles. These findings suggest that tRNA modifications presented here are indispensable for growth at CHT.

Bacteriaª	iscS	yheL	yheM	yheN	yhhP	miaA	<i>truU</i>	truA
Escherichia coli	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Salmonella enterica	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Yersinia pestis	ο	0	0	0	0	0	0	о
Shigella flexneri	о	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Klebsiella pneumoniae	о	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
anthomonas campestris	x	x	х	x	x	0	0	0
nthomonas axonopodis	x	x	х	x	x	0	0	0
ibrio cholerae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
seudomonas aeruginosa	0	о	0	0	0	0	0	0
eudomonas putida	0	0	0	0	о	0	0	х
eudomonas syringae	0	о	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 2.3 Distribution of thermotolerant genes in group D in various bacteria.

Bacteria ^a	iscS	yheL	yheM	yheN	yhhP	miaA	trmU	truA
Azotobacter vinelandii	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Acinetobacter sp	0	x	x	0	0	0	0	0
Neisseria meningitides	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
Nitosomonas europaea	0	x	x	x	х	0	0	0
Ielicobacter pylor	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
Campylobacter jejuni	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
Geobacter sulfurreducens	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
Rickettsia prowazekii	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
Agrobacterium tumefaciens	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
Rhizobium etli	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
Brucella melitensis	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
Rhodopseudomonas palustris	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
1ethylobacterium extorquens	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
aulobacter crescentus	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
hodobacter sphaeroides	0	x	x	x	0	0	0	0
ymomonas mobilis	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
luconacetobacter diazotrophicus	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
cetobacter pasteurianus	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
acillus subtilis	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
acillus cereus	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
acillus licheniformis	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
aphylococcus aureus	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
actococcus lactis	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
treptococcus pyogenes	0	x	x	×	x	0	0	0
actobacillus plantarum	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
lostridium acetobutylicum	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
lycoplasma genitalium	x	x	x	X	x	x	x	0
lycobacterium tuberculosis	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
orynebacterium glutamicum	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
orynebacterium efficiens	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
treptomyces coelicolor	0	x	x	x	x	0	0.	0
Chlamydia trachomatis	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
hlamydophila pneumoniae	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0

Bacteria ^a	iscS	yheL	yheM	yheN	yhhP	miaA	trmU	truA
Borrelia burgdorferi	0	x	x	x	x	x	x	0
Flavobacterium johnsoniae	0	x	х	x	x	0	0	0
Flavobacterium psychrophilum	0	x	x	x	x	ο	0	0
Synechocystis sp	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
Chlorobaculum tepidum	0	x	о	0	0	0	0	0
Chlorobium chlorochromatii	0	0	о	0	0	0	0	0
Deinococcus radiodurans	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
Thermotoga maritime	0	0	X	x	x	0	0	0
Archaeoglobus fulgidus	0	x	х	x	x	x	x	0
Pyrococcus horikoshii	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	0
Methylococcus capsulatus	0	0	x	0	x	0	0	0
Methanococcus jannaschii	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	0
Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum	x	0	0	x	x	x	x	0
Halobacterium sp	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	0
Thermoanaerobacter tengcongensis	0	ο	ο	0	x	0	0	0
Thermodesulfovibrio yellowstonii	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0
Thermanaerovibrio acidaminovorans	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	0

^aBacteria shown here are representatives of species of which genomic sequences are available in databases. "o" and "x" represent the presence and absence of themotorelant genes in group D, respectively.

Group E genes encode chaperones and a protease and thus contribute to the cellular process of regulating heat shock response: *dnaK* and *dnaJ* encode a chaperone and co-chaperone, respectively, for maturation of protein folding or refolding of unfolded proteins [Tomoyasu et al., 1998], and *degP* encodes a chaperone/serine protease located in the periplasm [Lipinska et al.,1990]. The indispensability of these genes at CHT suggests that DnaK/DnaJ play a crucial role in dealing with unfolded proteins caused by CHT and that DegP plays an important role in the removal of damaged proteins that have accumulated at such a temperature. *rseA* in this group encodes an anti-sigma factor to keep sigma 24 inactive under non-stress conditions. The thermosensitivity caused by *rseA* disrupted mutation suggests that fine tuning of the intracellular level of active sigma 24 that regulates expression of chaperone or protease

genes is somehow crucial for adaptation to the CHT condition. Alternatively, the defective mutant of *rseA* increased sigma 24 activity, which in turn decreased the production of outer membrane proteins via MicA or RybB as a sigma 24 regulon gene [Valentin-Hansen et al., 2007], resulting in membrane unstability and thermosensitiveness at CHT.

Genes in group F belong to the translation control apparatus. S6 encoded by rpsF interacts with the central domain of 16S rRNA and has been demonstrated to play a regulatory rather than a structural role in the ribosome [Britton and Lupski et al., 1997]. L36 encoded by rpmJ is a component of the 50S subunit of the ribosome, and its disruption decreases the expression of secY [Ikegami et al., 2005], which encodes a protein-conducting channel in the cytoplasmic membrane. DksA encoded by dksA functions as a negative regulator for rRNA genes [Perron et al., 2005]. Overexpression of DksA has been shown to be a suppressor for a dnaK deletion mutation [Kang and Craig,1990] and ensures replication completion by removing transcription roadblocks [Tehranchi, 2010]. SmpB encoded by smpB is a component of the trans-translation process and performs rescue of stalled ribosomes with its binding partner, transfer-messenger RNA [Watts et al., 2009]. These lines of evidence suggest that several constituents in translation pathways are crucial for survival at CHT.

Finally, genes in group G are related to cell division. A *xerC*-encoded protein is a site-specific recombinase [Bloor and Cranenburgh, 2006] and is essential for conversion of chromosome dimers to monomers during cell division. *envC* encodes a component of the cell division machinery that is a direct regulator of the cell wall hydrolase responsible for cell separation that is required for cell division [Uehara et al., 2010]. DedD encoded by *dedD* is a membrane-anchored periplasmic protein involved in septation [Gerding et al., 2009] and has been shown to participate in cytokinesis [Arends et al., 2010].

The functions of the remaining genes, ybgH, yciM and yhhH, are unknown. Notably, the thermosensitiveness of their mutations was partially suppressed by the addition of Mg²⁺. It is thus likely that their gene products are related to cellular activities similar to those in group B, C or G.

2.3.4 Possible acquisition of some thermotolerant genes by horizontal gene transfer

Two groups for outer membrane integrity and tRNA modification are almost completely conserved in limited bacterial species with optimal growth at a relatively high temperature (Table 2.4). Of these group members, genes for the LPS biosynthesis pathway, some lipoproteins and the sulfur-relay system are distributed in very limited bacterial species including Enterobacteriaceae (Tables 2.5 and 2.3). The sulfur-relay system classified in tRNA modification has been demonstrated to modify a few nucleotides of tRNA molecules, contributing to stabilization of their structure, and to be required for survival at an extremely high temperature in Thermous thermophilus [Shigi et al., 2008] and it is also conserved in Thermoanaerobacter tengcongensis (Table 2.3). The mature LPS biosynthesis pathway for assembly of the outer membrane consists of many enzyme reactions, which was found to be dispensable at a lower temperature. Interestingly, this pathway is mostly conserved in Thermodesulfovibrio yellowstonii and Thermanaerovibrio acidaminovorans (Table 2.5). Enzymes in the LPS biosynthesis and sulfur-relay system in E. coli share about 40% sequence identity and about 50% sequence similarity to the corresponding enzymes in thermophilic bacteria. E. coli and its closely related bacteria would thus have acquired these genes of the two groups presumably by horizontal gene transfer during their evolution. Since the other five groups are widely conserved not only in thermotolerant mesophilic bacteria but also in other mesophilic bacteria, they would be intrinsically present in E. coli. This is consistent with the conserved nature of essentiality of the lipid A part of LPS and essentiality of synthesis of lipid IVA but dispensability of enzymes involved in extension of Kdo2-lipid A by various glycosyltransferases. This draws support from Re (rfaC) mutants with only tetraacylated lipid A exhibiting a very narrow growth range with ability to grow only under slow growth conditions on minimal medium around 23°C [Klein et al., 2009], suggesting overall importance of outer membrane integrity at CHT.

_:
cteria
ba
sn
vario
in
it genes in various
notoleraı
tol
mo
hen
f th
fol
ion
out
tril
4. Dis
.
5
ole
Tat
Η

Bacteria ^ª	Optimum	Energy	Outer	DNA	tRNA	Chaperone/	Chaperone/ Translation Cell	Cell	
Temperature	Metabolism	membrane	repair	modification protease	on protease	control	division		
	(°C)	stabilization	E						
		(Group A)	(Group B)	(Group C)	(Group D)	(Group E)	(Group F)	(Group G)	
		8 genes	16 genes	5 genes	8 genes	4 genes	4 genes	3 genes	
Escherichia coli	25-39	~ ∞	16	S	8	4	4	3	
Salmonella enterica	30-39	8	15	5	8	4	4	3	
Yersinia pestis	28-35	8	14	5	8	4	4	3	
Shigella flexneri	30-35	8	16	5	8	4	4	3	
Klebsiella pneumoniae		8	16	5	8	4	4	3	
Xanthomonas campestris		6	9	5	3	2	4	2	
Xanthomonas axonopodis		6	6	5	3	2	4	3	
Vibrio cholerae	30-40	8	10	5	8	4	4	3	
Pseudomonas aeruginosa		8	13	5	8	4	4	3	
Pseudomonas putida	25-30	7	12	5	7	4	4	3	
Pseudomonas syringae	25-30	8	12	5	8	4	4	3	
Azotobacter vinelandii		8	13	5	8	4	4	3	
Acinetobacter sp	33-35	8	6	5	9	2	4	2	
Neisseria meningitidis	35-37	9	×	5	4	2	4	2	
----------------------------------	-------	---------------	----	----	---	---	-----	---	--
Nitosomonas europaea		9	7	5	4	ŝ	3	ŝ	
Helicobacter pylori	30-37	5	8	4	4	2	3	1	
Campylobacter jejuni	35-37	. 2	6	4	4	3	4		
Geobacter sulfurreducens		. 9	6	4	4	2	2		
Rickettsia prowazekii		Ŝ	4	5	4	2	4	5	
Agrobacterium tumefaciens	25-28	5	4	S	4	2	4		
Rhizobium etli	25-30	5	4	5	4	2	4		
Brucella melitensis			4	S	4	2	4	2	
Rhodopseudomonas palustris	30-37	. 9	10		4	2	4	5	
Methylobacterium extorquens	25-30	9	4	S	4	2	4	2	
Caulobacter crescentus	25-30	9	9	S		2	4	2	
Rhodobacter sphaeroides	30-34	7	4	5	5	2	4	2	
Zymomonas mobilis	25-30	S	4	5		2	4	2	
Gluconacetobacter diazotrophicus		9	9	5	4	2	4	2	
Acetobacter pasteurianus		9	9	5	4	2	3	2	
Bacillus subtilis	28-30	9	4	2	4	2		2	
Bacillus cereus	~37	9	2	3	4	2	3	2	
Bacillus licheniformis		9	7	2	4		Э	2	
Staphylococcus aureus	30-37	9	ю	3	4		3	2	
Lactococcus lactis		5	3	3	4		3	1	
Streptococcus pyogenes		4	Э	3	4	2	ε	-	
Lactobacilius plantarum	30-40	5	3	e	4	3	. 3	2	
				25	1				

Clostridium acetobutylicum		2	4	Э	4	2	3
Mycoplasma genitalium		4	0	1	1	2	3
Mycobacterium tuberculosis		7	3	4	4	2	
Corynebacterium glutamicum		9	3	4	4	2	5
Corynebacterium efficiens		6	3	4	4	2	æ
Streptomyces coelicolor	25-35	7	4	4	4	2	4
Chlamydia trachomatis	37	5	4	4	4	2	4
Chlamydophila pneumoniae	37	5	4	4	4	2	4
Borrelia burgdorferi		1	2	2	2	2	3
Flavobacterium johnsoniae		. 9	4	4	4	2	4
Flavobacterium psychrophilum		4		4	4	5	e
Synechocystis sp		9	3	3	4	2	e
Chlorobaculum tepidum		5	7	4	7	2	Э
Chlorobium chlorochromatii	25-30	4	80	3	8	5	3
Deinococcus radiodurans		6	2	4	4	2	æ
Thermotoga maritime		3	2	4	5	2	3
Archaeoglobus fulgidus		1	2	1	2	0	0
Pyrococcus horikoshii		0	2	0	I	0	0
Methylococcus capsulatus	~45	7	8	5	9	3	4
Methanococcus jannaschii	35-40	2	3	0	1	0	0
Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum	37-45	1	5	0	3	1	0
Halobacterium sp	35-50	4	2	0	1	2	0
Thermoanaerobacter tengcongensis	55-75	S.	3	3	7	2	ŝ
	×			- 26 -			

2	2
3	e
2	2
4	4
4	4
11	6
4	1
60-65	60-65
Thermodesulfovibrio yellowstonii	Thermanaerovibrio acidaminovorans

^aBacteria shown here are representatives of species of which genomic sequences are available in databases.

.

			1													
Bacteria ^a	gmhB lpcA	lpcA	rfaC	rfaD	rfaE	rfaF	rfaG	ydcL	yfgL	ynbE	Idln	ycdO	pal	tolQ	tolR	yciM
Escherichia coli	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Salmonella enterica	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	x	0	0	0	0
Yersinia pestis	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	x	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Shigella flexneri	0	0	0	0	0	. 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Klebsiella pneumoniae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Xanthomonas campestris	x	x	x	×	x	x	x	0	0	x	x	x	0	0	0	0
Xanthomonas axonopodis	X	x	x	x	×	×	×	0	0	x	x	x	0	0	0	0
Vibrio cholerae	0	0	x	0	x	0	×	×	0	x	0	x	0	0	0	0
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	x	0	0	x	x	0	0	0	0
Pseudomonas putida	0	0	0	x	0	0	0	0	0	0	x	x	x	0	0	0
Pseudomonas syringae	0	0	0	X	0	0	0	x	0	x	x	0	0	0	0	0
Azotobacter vinelandii	0	0	0	x	0	0	0	0	0	0	x	X	0	0	0	0
Acinetobacter sp	X	X	x	x	x	×	x	0	0	x	X	x	0	0	0	0
Neisseria meningitides	0	0	0	0	x	0	x	x	0	x	, X	0	X	x	Х	0
Nitosomonas europaea	0	X	x	x	x	x	×	0	0	x	X	x	0	0	0	0
Helicobacter pylori	0	0	0	0	0	0	x	X	x	X	×	x	0	x	x	0
Campylobacter jejuni	0	0	0	0	0	0	x	x	0	x	x	x	0	x	x	0

Table 2.5 Distribution of thermotolerant genes in group B in various bacteria.

- 28 -

•

ı

Bacteria ^ª	gmhB	gmhB lpcA rfaC	rfaC	rfaD	rfaE	rfaF	rfaG	ydcL	yfgL	ynbE	Idln	ycdO	pal	tol Q	tolR	yciM	
Geobacter suffurreducens	0	0	0.	×	0	0	×	×	0	×	×	×	0	0	×	0	
Rickettsia prowazekii	×	x	x	x	x	X	x	X	0	×	×	x	0	0	x	0	
Agrobacterium tumefaciens	x	x	x	X	x	x	X	X	0	×	×	X	0	0	x	0	
Rhizobium etli	x	x	x	×	×	×	x	×	0	×	x	x	0	0	x	0	
Brucella melitensis	x	x	x	x	x	Х	x	X	0	×	x	x	0	0	x	0	
Rhodopseudomonas palustris	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	x	0	×	×	x	x	0	x	0	
Methylobacterium extorquens	x	x	x	×	x	x	x	x	0	×	×	x	0	0	x	0	
Caulobacter crescentus	x	x	X	0	0	x	X	X	0	×	×	x	0	0	x	0	
Rhodobacter sphaeroides	x	x	X	×	×	x	x	x	0	×	×	x	0	0	X	0	
Zymomonas mobilis	×	×	x	×	x	x	x	×	0	0	×	x	0	0	x	0	
Gluconacetobacter diazotrophicus	x	×	X	0	0	x	X	x	0	×	×	x	0	0	×	0	
Acetobacter pasteurianus	X	x	X	0	0	x	x	X	0	×	×	x	0	0	×	0	
Bacillus subtilis	×	x	x	×	x	x	x	0	0	×	×	0	×	×	×	0	
Bacillus cereus	×	×	x	×	X	x	x	x	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	
Bacillus licheniformis	×	×	x	×	x	x	×	x	0	×	×	×	x	×	×	0	
Staphylococcus aureus	×	×	x	×	×	x	x	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	
Lactococcus lactis	×	x	x	×	×	x	×	×	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	
Streptococcus pyogenes	×	x	x	x	x	x	x	0	0	×	x	×	× .	×	x	0	

- 29 -

١,

Bacteria ^ª	gmhB	gmhB lpcA rfaC	rfaC	rfaD	rfaE	rfaF	rfaG	ydcL	yfgL	ynbE	Idlu	ycdO	pal	tolQ	tolR	yciM
Lactobacillus plantarum	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	×	×	x	x	×	×	0
Clostridium acetobutylicum	0	0	x	x	x	x	x	x	0	X	x	x	x	x	x	0
Mycoplasma genitalium	x	x	x	X	×	x	×	X	x	x	x	x	x	×	x	X
Mycobacterium tuberculosis	0	0	×	x	X	x	X	x	0	x	x	X	x	X	x	Х
Corynebacterium glutamicum	x	x	X	X	x	×	×	0	0	x	x	X	x	x	x	0
Corynebacterium efficiens	x	x	x	×	x	×	×	×	0	X	x	×	x	x	x	0
Streptomyces coelicolor	x	0	x	x	x	x	x	x	0	X	x	0	x	X	x	0
Chlamydia trachomatis	x	X	x	x	x	×	x	X	0	x	x	0	0	x	x	0
Chlamydophila pneumoniae	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	X	0	X	x	0	0	x	x	0
Borrelia burgdorferi	×	x	X	x	X	×	x	x	0	x	x	X	x	x	x	0
Flavobacterium johnsoniae	X	x	X	x	x	0	x	x	0	X	x	x	0	x	x	0
Flavobacterium psychrophilum	x	x	X	x	X	x	x	x	0	x	×	x	0	X	x	0
Synechocystis sp	×	0	x	×	x	x	x	x	0	x	x	X	x	×	x	0
Chlorobaculum tepidum	0	0	x	0	x	X	x	x	x	0	×	×	0	0	X	0
Chlorobium chlorochromatii	0	0	x	0	x	x	x	x	0	0	x	X	0	0	x	0
Deinococcus radiodurans	×	x	x	×	x	x	x	×	0	x	×	x	×	×	x	0
Thermotoga maritime	x	X	X	×	X	x	x	x	0	x	×	x	x	×	x	0
Archaeoglobus fulgidus	x	×	x	x	×	×	×	x	0	x	×	x	×	×	x	0

- 30 -

Bacteria ^a	gmhB	gmhB lpcA	rfaC	rfaD	rfaE	rfaF	rfaG	ydcL	yfgL	ynbE	Idln	ycdO	pal	tol Q	tolR	yciM
Pyrococcus horikoshii	×	×	×	×	x	X	X	X	0	x	x	x	X	x	×	0
Methylococcus capsulatus	0	0	×	×	0	x	x	x	0	x	X	x	0	0	0	0
Methanococcus jannaschii	x	0	x	x	x	x	×	x	×	x	x	x	X	x	×	0
Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum	×	x	×	x	x	x	x	x	0	x	X	×	x	x	X	0
Halobacterium sp	x	×	x	X	x	x	x	x	0	X	×	x	x	x	X	0
Thermoanaerobacter tengcongensis	x	0	X	x	x	x	x	×	0	x	×	×	X	X	x	0
Thermodesulfovibrio yellowstonii	x	0	0	0	×	x	0	×	0	x	0	0	0	0	0	0
Thermanaerovibrio acidaminovorans 0	0	0	0	x	0	x	×	×	x	x	×	0	0	0	0	0

^aBacteria shown here are representatives of species of which genomic sequences are available in databases. "o" and "x" represent the presence and absence of themotorelant genes in group B, respectively.

- 31 -

3.3.5 Expressional change caused by heat shock at CHT

None of the thermotolerant genes identified in this study were found to encode HSPs previously identified in *E. coli* except for *dnaJ*, *dnaK*, *degP* and *dnaQ*. To examine whether the thermotolerant genes were up-regulated at CHT or not, we examined transient change in expression of the genomic genes at CHT by DNA chip analysis. The results showed that 42 genes and 111 genes were significantly up-regulated and down-regulated, respectively (Table 2.6). The up-regulated genes were classified mainly into genes involved in the cellular process, and the down-regulated genes were classified into genes involved in energy metabolism, transport/binding protein and translation. However, none of the thermotolerant genes except for *dnaJ* and *dnaQ* as a heat-shock gene were identified as up-regulated genes except for *dnaJ* and *dnaK*. Taken together with data shown above, it is possible that the chaperone systems except for DnaJ/DnaK and GroEL/GroES are not neccesarily involved in thermotolerant mechanisms acquired at CHT. Therefore, it is likely that most products of thermotolerant genes are not HSPs and that the organism possesses a specific set of genes required for survival at CHT.

It is possible that some of the essential genes are crucial for growth at CHT. Such genes, however, could not be examined in this analysis because no disrupted mutants for these genes are available other than the conditional mutants. We thus listed essential genes with significant fluctuation in expression at CHT (Table 2.7). *groEL* (*groL*) encoding HSP was up-regulated, indicating the possibility that the gene product contributes to survival at CHT. Consistently, it was reported that GroEL appears as a mediator of evolution of extremely heat-resistant *E. coli* cells [Rudolph et al., 2010]. On the other hand, 90% of the down-regulated genes were mapped into the translation pathway (Figure S5), encoding for components of ribosomal proteins. It is thus possible that down-regulation of ribosomal genes is one of the strategies for survival at CHT in *E. coli*. Noteworthily, Alix *et al.* reported that ribosome biogenesis in *E. coli* is high temperature-sensitive and DnaK-dependant and predicted that high temperature causes a severe limitation in DnaK/DnaJ to hamper ribosome assembly because heat-induced misfolded proteins would titrate out all the free DnaK/DnaJ [Al Refaii and Alix, 2009; René and Alix, 2010].

Classification	Number of classified genes	U	Up-regulated L	Down-regulated
1) Amino acid metabolism	136 (5)	0 (0)	3 (0)	
2) Biosynthesis of cofactors,	127 (28)	1(0)	0 (0)	
prosthetic groups, carriers				
3) Cell envelope	171 (16)	0 (0)	5 (0)	
4) Cellular process	102 (63)	6 (1)	5 (0)	
5) Central intermediately metabolism	153 (8)	2 (0)	8 (0)	
6) Energy metabolism	358 (7)	2 (0)	22 (0)	
7) Fatty acid/Phospholipid metabolism	40 (22)	0 (0)	2 (1)	
8) Nucleotide metabolism	113 (0)	0 (0)	4 (0)	
9) Regulatory functions	107 (1)	1 (0)	4 (0)	
10) Replication	79 (23)	0 (0)	1 (0)	
11) Transport/binding protein	76 (1)	0 (0)	12 (0)	
12) Translation	354 (101)	4 (1)	23 (20)	
13) Transcription	77 (13)	1 (0)	1(1)	
14) Other categories	336 (14)	3 (0)	5 (0)	
15) Hypothetical	2269 (10)	20 (0)	16 (0)	
Total number of genes	4498 (312)	42 (2)	111 (22)	

Table 2.6 Genes significantly up-regulated and down-regulated at CHT.

*Digits inside parentheses represent the number of essential genes. respectively.

- 33 -

Classification ^a	Pathway ^a	Gene
Up-regulated		
Cpn60 chaperonine	RNA degradation	groEL
tRNA-Leu	Transfer RNA	leuU
Down-regulated		
Lipid metabolism	Fatty acid biosynthesis	fabG
Transcription	RNA polymerase	rpoA
Translation	16S rRNA processing protein	rim
Translation	Translation factors	fusA
Translation	Ribosome	rpsP, rplQ, rpsD, rpsK, rpsM, rpmC, rplP, rpsC, rplV, rpsS, rplB, rplW, rplD, rplC, rpsJ, rplJ, rplL, rpsR

Table 2.7 Essential genes significantly up-regulated and down-regulated at CHT.

^aClassification and Pathway accoding to the KEGG PATHWAY are shown. (http://www.genome.jp/kegg-bin/show_organism?menu_type=genome_info&org=ecj).

2.3.6 Further consideration on mechanisms for survival at CHT

Two groups of DNA double-strand repair and chaperone/proteinase genes may contribute to endurance against oxidative stress in addition to CHT. Evidence that a higher temperature results in accumulation of more oxidative stress [Noor et al., 2009] and the finding that mutants of all members in both groups exhibited sensitivity to oxidative stress allow us to speculate that oxidative stress is a main cause of DNA double-strand breaks and of damage to proteins at CHT. Interestingly, oxidative stress is involved in heat-induced cell death in *S. cerevisiae* [Davidson et al., 1996], which is supported by the findings that overexpression of catalase and superoxide dismutase genes could increase the degree of thermotolerance and that the thermotolerance is

increased under anaerobic conditions. We thus assume that CHT somehow causes intracellular oxidative stress to elicit harmful effects on cells as a secondary stress.

Significant suppression of the thermosensitive phenotype by a defect in the group of energy metabolism (Group A) by the addition of glucose suggests the limitation of energy level at CHT in the organism. The limitation seems to be resolved by alternative pathways that may generate ATP by glucose assimilation. The requirement of ATP at CHT may be consistent with expression of ribosomal genes. Many genes for ribosomal proteins were found to be down-regulated by exposure to CHT, and the disrupted mutant of *dksA* that encodes a negative regulator for rRNA genes became thermosensitive to CHT. These findings and evidence that translation as a ribosomal activity utilizes much energy, up to about 90% of energy consumption under a severe condition at CHT. Such saved energy would be utilized for other crucial activities such as repair or degradation of damaged DNA or protein molecules. A smooth translational process at CHT might also save energy, for which S6 and L36 of ribosomal proteins in addition to SmpB may have important functions.

Several strategies for *E. coli* to survive at CHT were discovered. Most of them may also be responsible for other stresses and are conserved even in mesophilic bacteria. Early glycosyltransferases for LPS core biosynthesis for proper outer membrane assembly and permeability barrier function and the sulfur-relay system for tRNA modification might have been acquired for the organism to perform a main task to survive at CHT. Considering the genetic conversion of non-thermotolerant to thermotolerant bacteria, the two strategies might be applicable.

Supprement Information









Figure S1 Growth of thermosensitive mutants in LB liquid culture at different temperatures. Each 51 thermosensitive mutant strain (opened symbols) and the parental strain, BW25113 (closed symbols), were grown in 30 ml LB medium at 37 °C (circles), 45 °C (squares), or 46 °C (triangles). At the times indicated, turbidity at OD_{600} was measured. A, group A; B, group B; C, group C; D, group D; E, group E; F, group F; G, group G; H, others.





(A)

(C)

		(B)		
	Contra the F		Gene aceF	
	Gene aceF Strain BW25113 aceE::kan		Strain BW25113aceE::kan	
	Strain BW25113 aceE::kan Cycle 15 20 25 30		Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30	
	the second s			
	Gene lpd		Gene lpd	
	Strain BW25113 aceF::kan		Strain BW25113 aceF::kan	
	Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30		Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30	
	Gene rfaF		Gene rfaF	
	Strain BW25113 rfaD::kan		Strain BW25113 rfaD::kan	
	Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30		Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30	
	Gene rfaC		Gene rfaC	
	Strain BW25113 rfaF::kan		Strain BW25113 rfaF::kan	
	Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30		Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30	
	must tassa			
	Gene der		Gene der	
	Strain BW25113 yfgL::kan		Strain BW25113 vfgL::kan	
	Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30		Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30	
	Gene tolR		Gene tolR	
	Strain BW25113 tolQ::kan		Strain BW25113 tolQ::kan	
	Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30		Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30	
	Gene valS		tenter finitels tentes tente fattiff	
	Strain BW25113 holC::kan		Gene valS	
	Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30		Strain BW25113 holC::kan	
			Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30	
	Gene rpsL		Gene rpsL	
	Strain BW25113 yheL::kan		Strain BW25113 vheL::kan	
	Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30		Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30	
	Gene yheL			
	Strain BW25113 yheM::kan		Gene yheL	
	Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30		Strain BW25113 vheM::kan	
			Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30	
	Gene yheM		Gene yheM	
	Strain BW25113 vheN::kan		Strain BW25113 yheN::kan	
	Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30		Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30	
	Gene dna.I		Gene dnaJ	
	Strain BW25113 dnaK::kan		Strain BW25113 dnaK::kan	
	Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30		Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30	
	Annual Contacts Contacts Contacts		waren Binneth Binneth Binneth	
	Gene rpsH		Gene rpsH	
	Strain BW25113 rpmJ::kan Cycle 15 20 25 30		Strain BW25113 rpmJ::kan	
	Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30		Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30	
	Gene rpsR		Gene rpsR	
	Strain BW25113 rpsF::kan		Strain BW25113 rpsF::kan	
	Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30		Cycle 15 20 25 30 15 20 25 30	
	······································		www. William Gallian	
		(D)		
	2 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4		2444444	
_	BW2113 BW2113 BW2113 BW213 FW214 FW214 FW214 FW214 FW214 FW214 FW214 FW214 FW214 FW214 FW214 FW214 FW214 FW2113 FW213 FW213 FW213 FW213	mert.tan drak.tan 17mL.tan 17dT.itan	BW2511 ace:iso ace:iso ace:iso for:	druck fan druck fan 17mL fan 17dE fan
		all and the second s		Rand Rich Root
	20 资源涨涨涨涨。	the sake that she	·** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** **	- 96 - 96 - 99 -

Figure S3 Testing of possible polar effects by the *aph* insertion. Total RNA was prepared from cells cultured at 37°C (A, C) and 47°C (B, D) as described in Materials and methods. RT-PCR was performed with primers specific for a just downstream gene of each thermotolerant gene to amplify about 500-bp DNA fragments. (A and B) After RT reaction, PCR was performed 15, 20, 25 and 30 cycles and the products were analyzed. (C and D) As a control, each total RNA (10 μ g) was submitted to 1.2% agarose gel electrophoresis and staining with ethidium bromide.



Figure S4 Effects of addition of glucose and MgCl₂ and sensitivity to H_2O_2 . Thermosensitive mutant strains are shown by gene names. Growth conditions are described in Materials and methods. Black and white columns represent turbidity under the conditions

in Materials and methods. Black and while columns represent turbidity inder the columnois with or without supplements (0.5% glucose (A) or 20 mM MgCl₂ (B)) or 0.5 mM H_2O_2 (C).



Figure S5 Down-regulated genes for ribosomal proteins. Systematic analysis of gene function was performed with a database of KEGG PATHWAY. Down-regulated genes for ribosomal proteins were mapped into 6 operons.

Chapter 3

Molecular metabolism of thermotolerance in ethanologenic themotolerant Zymomonas mobilis applicable for high temperature fermentation

Astract

To identify thermotolerant genes responsible for growth of the ethanologenic thermotolerant Z. mobilis at critical high temperature (CHT), TISTR 548 strain that was chosen as a thermotolerant strain was subjected to transposon mutagenesis via transconjugation with a mobilizable plasmid harboring the transposable element (Tn10)and growth experiment at 39°C, CHT for the strain. Among about 4,000 of the transconjugants obtained, 42 mutants that were found to be dramatically defective in growth at the CHT, which were selected as thermosensitive mutant strains. The insertion site of Tn10 within the genome was then determined by thermal asymmetric interlaced-(TAIL) PCR followed by DNA sequencing. As a result, 17 genes related to the thermotolerance have been identified. Some of these were related to membrane biosynthesis and lipid metabolism, recombination for DNA repair and replication, tRNA modification, transportation system, which may have a direct or in direct relation to the thermotolerance mechanism. Interestingly, the results also revealed a partial overlapping between genes required for the thernotolerance and those for tolerance to other stresses. Our findings provide molecular mechanisms underlying a survival of Z. mobilis at CHT which may advantages in production of ethanol and other useful materials at high temperature.

3.1 Introduction

Z. mobilis as a Gram-negative, non-spore forming and polar flagellated bacterium has been isolated from sugar cane as well as alcoholic beverages such as African palm wine and is known to cause cider sickness and spoiling of beer [Swings and De Ley, 1977]. Gibbs and DeMoss [1954] discovered its anaerobic catabolism of glucose following the discovery of the Entner-Doudoroff (ED) pathway in the early 1950s. The ED pathway utilizes 1 mol of glucose to yield 2 mol of pyruvate, which are

then decarboxylated to acetaldehyde and reduced to ethanol, which was lower than that of the Emden-Meyerhof pathway of the conventional ethanol producer yeast [Panesar et al., 2006] and is generally recognized as safe (GRAS) status [Yang et al., 2010]. The world wide interest have thus focused on the application of this organism as an efficient microorganism for production of the bio-fuel [Osman and Ingram, 1987; Ingram et al., 1998; Altintas et al., 2006; Cazetta et al., 2007; Bai et al., 2008; Agrawal et al., 2011] and of useful materials such as oligosaccharide; lactosucrose [Han et al., 2009] and levan [Chiang et al., 2009] that can be applied for food and pharmaceutical industries [Calazans et al., 1997] and medicine [Yoo et al., 2004].

Z. mobilis TISTR 548 is one of thermotolerant strains [Sootsuwan et al., 2008] isolated from Thailand, and can grow at 39°C [Charoensuk et al., 2011], which is about 10°C over the reported optimum temperature of Z. mobilis [Swing and De Ley, 1977]. The definition of thermotolerance is that a mesophile is able to grow at about 10°C to 15°C higher than the general same species [Saeki et al., 1997].

There are a number of advantages in application of thermophilic microorganisms for production of ethanol and useful materials: reduction in cooling cost, higher saccharification and fermentation rates, continuous ethanol removal and reduced contamination [Singh et al., 1998]. However, in even thermotolerant strains, heat stress may impact on their growth viability [Basso et al., 2008;Babiker et al., 2010;] and also they may cause stuck fermentations, especially when other fermentation factors reach critical values, i.e. low pH, high ethanol content, high osmolarity, nutrient supply and temperature etc. [Piper, 1995; Carmelo, 1998; Ciani, 2006; Pizarro, 2007; Coleman et al., 2007; Gibson et al., 2007].

When exposed to environmental stress, cells alter their transcriptional program, resulting in the immediate down-regulation of housekeeping genes and dramatic increase of expression of a set of crucial defense and/or adaptation genes which are essential for cell viability [Ruiz-Roig et al., 2010], and under more sever situation, protein denaturation, transient cell cycle arrest and variations in membrane fluidity and structure occur [Benschoter and Ingram, 1986]. Cells can adapt to relatively mild (not sever) stress, which is known as the heat stress response [Riezman, 2004; van der Veen et al., 2007] to protect their components [Guyot et al., 2005]. However, mechanisms underlying heat tolerance may be complicated in which many different genes are assumed to be involved but the exact mechanism has not been fully delineated [Jeffries and Jin, 2000].

Since the ethanol fermentation process is exothermic [Uden, 1981; Ghose, 2004], ethanologenic microorganisms seem to be exposed to heat stress in addition to other

stresses including ethanol [Attfield, 1997; Wei et al., 2007]. The effect of heat and ethanol stresses on the protein expression pattern in *Z. mobilis* is evident in several polypeptides that associated with the cell envelope fraction in addition to specific heat shock proteins [Michel and Starka, 1986; Thanonkeo 2007]. Some of them would be involved in heat and ethanol tolerance mechanisms in the organism. Only limited information is available on the capacity of the thermotolerant *Z. mobilis* to grow at high temperatures. The molecular mechanisms that allow *Z. mobilis* cells to survive at high temperature environments are very useful for high-temperature fermentation of bioethanol and other useful materials.

This study aims to identify the thermotolerant mechanism supporting the growth of thermotolerant *Z. mobilis* at high temperature. Comparison of two TISTR strains in Thailand, ZM4, NCIMB 11163 and LMG revealed that TISTR 548 was the most thermotolerant. TISTR 548 was then subjected to transposon mutagenesis, via transconjugation with a mobilizable plasmid harboring the transposable element (Tn10) and thermosensitive mutants were isolated. The mutation site of each mutant was determined by thermal asymmetric interlaced-(TAIL) PCR followed by DNA sequencing and thermotolerant genes were identified. These genes were then categorized and compared with those in *E. coli* shown in the 2nd Chapter.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Materials

A DNA sequencing Kit (ABI PRISM [®] Terminator v 3.1 Cycle sequencing Kit) was obtained from Applied Biosystem Japan. Oligonucleotide primers were synthesized by Proligo Japan K.K. (Tokyo, Japan). Other chemicals were all of analytical grade and obtained from commercial sources.

3.2.2 Microorganisms

Z. mobilis strains used in this study were grown in YPD medium consisting of 3 g of glucose, 0.5 g of peptone and 0.3 g of yeast extract in 100 ml of IEW. Cells cultured for 9 h and 24 h, these terms correspond to optical densities of about 0.8 and 2.5 at 550 nm under a shaking condition and about 1.5 and 3.0 at 550 nm under a static condition, respectively, were used as exponential- and stationary-phase samples, respectively. *E. coli* S17-1 carrying plasmids of the pSUP2021 Tn*10* was grown in LB

medium supplemented with 12.5 μ g/ml of tetracycline and Z. mobilis transposon-inserted mutants were grown in YPD medium containing 12.5 μ g/ml of tetracycline.

3.2.3 Growth and ethanol production of Z. mobilis strains

Z. mobilis TISTR 548 and 405 reported as the thermotolerant strain [Sootsuwan et al., 2008; Charoensuk et al., 2011] were compared in growth with the other type strains of ZM4 strain [Seo et al., 2005], NCIMB 11163 [Kouvelis et al., 2009] and LMG. Cells were grow on YP containing 3% glucose at 30°C for 18 h, and then diluted cells to ten times by YPD medium. Five μ l of each serial diluted cell was spotted onto an YPD agar plate with or without supplemented agents, and incubated at 30°C or 37°C. Their growth was observed and their pictures were taken after 48 h incubation. Growth and ethanol production in YPD medium were carried out in triplicate for each strain.

3.2.4 Conjugation

E. coli S17-1 carrying pSUP2021 Tn10 as a donor strain for conjugal mating was routinely grown in LB medium containing 12.5 μ g/ml of tetracycline under 100 rpm-shaking condition at 37°C. The recipient *Z. mobilis* TISTR 548 was grown in YPD medium at 30°C under a static condition. After both strains were grown to mid-log phase, about 0.8 of OD₆₀₀ and washed three times with LB broth medium and each bacterium was recovered by centrifugtion for 1 min at 5,000 rpm then mixed at a ratio of donor/recipient of 3:2, incubated for 3 h at 30°C to allow their mating and further incubated at 30°C for 5 h on the surface of LB agar plates with 15 μ l dot spot of suspension of the mixed donor and recipient cells. After mating, the cells were recovered and re-suspended in YPD medium, and then spread on YPD agar plates containing 0.2% of acetic acid and 12.5 μ g/ml tetracycline HCl. Tn10-inserted mutants appeared after 3 days at 30°C, which were subsequently screened for further experiments.

3.2.5 Screening of thermosensitive mutant strains

The first screening was performed on YPD agar plates. Among about 4,000 transconjugants obtained were grown at 30°C and 39°C, mutant strains that could not grow or poorly grew on the plates were selected for the 2nd screening. The second

screening was performed in 1 ml of YPD medium at 30°C and 39°C for 24 h under a static condition with the initial inoculation at 0.05 of OD_{550} . The mutant strains that gave the OD_{550} less than a half of that of the parent strain were selected for the final screening, which was performed in 30 ml of YPD medium under the same condition of the 2nd screening. The mutant strains that gave the OD_{550} in the significant reduction compared to that of the parent strain were selected and defined as thermosensitive mutants.

3.2.6 Effect of various stresses on growth of thermosensitive mutants

To determine the overlapping effect between high temperature and other stresses, thermosensitive mutants were subjected to osmotic, ethanol, oxidative and antibiotic stress. Growth ability of thermosensitive mutants was determined on YPD agar plates supplemented with 12% (w/v) of glucose, 2.5% (v/v) of ethanol or 2 mM H₂O₂. Cells grown in YPD medium at 30°C for 18h under a static condition were serially diluted with YPD medium, and 5 μ l of each diluted sample was spotted on YPD agar plates with or without supplemented agents and incubated at 30°C for 48 h. Growth ability test was carried out in duplicate for each strain.

3.2.7 DNA manipulation

Genomic DNA isolation and other general molecular biology techniques were performed as described by Sambrook et al [30Sambrook et al., 1989]. Concentration of isolated genomic DNA was measured by using Nanodrop (Nanodrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE).

3.2.8 Identification of transposon (Tn10)-inserted site in the genome of thermosensitive mutants by thermal asymmetric interlaced (TAIL)-PCR and nucleotide sequencing

Since transposon (Tn10) was randomly inserted into the genome in this experiment, the unknown site inserted of Tn10 was determined by TAIL-PCR as reported previously [Lui et al., 1995] with several modifications as described below. Three serials of PCR were performed on MycyclerTM thermal cycler (Bio-Rad) in different conditions (Table 3.1) with specific primers, TnISR-1

(GATCCTCTCGTTTGTTGCGGTCAGGCC) [Deeraksa et al., 2005], TnISR-1.5 (AGGGCTGCTAAAGGAAGCGG) and TnISR

(ACGAAGCGCAAAGAGGAAGCAGG) together with degenerated primer, AD2 (GTNCGASWCANAWGTT) [Lui et al., 1995]. The first PCR was carried out in a 50 µl of mixture containing 10 ng of chromosomal DNA, 5.0 µM of specific primer TnISR1, 25 µM of AD2 primer, 500 µM of each dNTP, 0.5 U PrimSTAR (Takara), a buffer supplied for enzyme and sterilized distilled water. The product of 1st PCR was 50-times diluted and used as a template for the 2nd PCR in the same reaction mixture as the 1st PCR except that the TnISR1.5 was used as a specific primer. The 3rd PCR was similarly performed as the 2nd PCR with a specific primer TnISR2 and 12.5 µM of AD2. The products from 2nd or 3rd PCR were purified by using a column (Takara) and used as a template for the reaction of nucleotide sequencing. The product of sequencing reaction was then subjected to sequence analysis using an ABI PRISM 310 (PE Biosystems).

Table 3.1 Reaction parameters of TAIL-PCR for amplification of the franking region of
Tn10 inserted in the thermosensitive mutant strains of Z. moobilis TISTR 548 with the
modified from previous report (Liu and Whitter, 1995).

Reaction Primer combination	Steps	Number of cycles	Cycle (supercycle) parameter
1 st PCR	1	1	93°C, 1 min; 95°C, 1 min
(TnISR-1/AD2)	2	5	94°C, 30 sec; 64°C, 1 min; 72 °C, 2 min
	3	1	94°C, 30 sec; 25°C, 1 min; ramping to 72 °C, 3 min; then 72°C, 2 min
	4	15	94°C, 30 sec; 64°C, 1 min; 72 °C, 2 min; 94°C, 30 sec; 64°C, 1 min; 72°C, 2 min; 94 °C, 30 sec; 44°C, 1 min; 2 min; 72 °C, 2 min
2 nd PCR (TnISR-1.5/AD2)	1	15	94°C, 30 sec; 64°C, 1 min; 72 °C, 2.5 min; 94°C, 30 sec; 64°C, 1 min; 72°C, 2.5 min; 94 °C, 30 sec; 44°C, 1 min; 2 min; 72 °C, 2.5 min
3 rd PCR	1	1	94 °C, 1 min;
(TnISR-2/AD2)	2	30	94 °C, 30 sec; 50°C, 1 min; 72 °C, 2.5 min

3.2.9 Comparison of nucleotide sequences of flanking regions of Tn10 inserted with those in database

Nucleotide sequences of flanking regions of Tn10 inserted in each thermosensitive mutant were compared with those in the DDBJ database by using BLAST [Altschul et al., 1990]. Further comparison and alignment of nucleotide sequences were conducted by using GENETYX (Software Development, Tokyo, Japan). The phylogenetic tree was constructed using CLASTAL W (DDBJ).

3.2.10 Analytical procedures

Ethanol and glucose concentrations in the medium were measured by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) (Hitachi Chemical, Japan) using a Gelpack GL-C610-S column (7.8 x 300 mm). A medium fraction was prepared as a supernatant after a low-speed centrifugation of cultures at different cultivation time points and diluted 10 times before applying to HPLC. Using HPLC with a reflective index detector, chromatography was performed at 60°C and degassed water was used as a mobile phase at a flow rate of 0.3 ml/min. Concentrations of ethanol and glucose were determined by comparing a detected area with that of the corresponding standard sample.

3.2.11 Statistics

Unless otherwise indicated, mean and standard deviations (SD) were calculated from data of at least three independent experiments. The variations between the experiments were estimated by SD, and the statistical significance of changes was estimated by two-sample *t*-test assuming equal variances. ***, ** and * mean p < 0.001, <0.01 and <0.05, respectively. The level of significance was accepted at $p \le 0.05$.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Comparative growth and ethanol production of thermotolerant Z. mobilis with the other type strains

Z. mobilis TISTR 548 and 405 as a thermotolerant strain [Sootsuwan et al., 2008; Charoensuk et al., 2011] was compared in growth and ethanol production with other thermosensitive type strains of ZM4 [Seo et al., 2005] and NCIMB 11163

[Kouvelis et al., 2009] at high temperature. A phylogenetic tree (Figure 3.1) with 16S rDNA revealed that the two thermotolerant strains were closely related to the two thermosensitive strains.

The growth ability of cells was examined in YPD medium containing 3% (w/v) glucose with or without 2.5% v/v ethanol or 3 mM H₂O₂ and in YPD medium containing 12% (w/v) glucose at high temperature after 48 h. As shown in Figure 3.2, only *Z. mobilis* TISTR 548 and 405 strains could grow well at high temperature. By the evaluation of the growth ability and the ethanol productivity at high temperature (Figure 3.3), TISTR 548 was chosen for further experiments.





Fig. 3.1 Phylogenic tree analysis of 16 s rRNA of the thermotolerant *Z. mobilis* TISTR 548 and other type strains.

Figure 3.2 Comparison of growth abilities of the *Z. mobilis* TISTR 548 with other type strains under stresses condition.

Growth ability of *Z. mobilis strains* on YPD agar plate; cells suspension of 18 h with serial dilution were spotted on the YPD containing 3% glucose agar plates and incubated at 30°C (A) and 37°C (B), and on the YPD containing 3% glucose agar plates supplemented with 2.5% v/v ethanol (C) or 3mM H₂O₂ (D) at 30°C. Photos shown are representatives.



Fig. 3.3 Growth of *Z. mobilis* strains in YPD medium under a static condition. Growth ability was compared in 30 ml of YPD containing 3 % glucose under a static condition at 30°C (A) and 39°C (B), and at the same time ethanol concentration at 30°C (C) and 39°C (D) was measured. Reported values are the mean (\pm SD) of three independent experiments. *p* values were calculated by two-sample *t*-test assuming equal variances.

3.3.2 Screening of thermosensitive mutants and identification of thermotolerant genes in Z. mobilis

To obtain thermosensitive mutants of Z. mobilis TISTR 548, a mobilizable plasmid hearing the transposable element (Tn10) was transferred from Escherichia coli S17.1 as a donor to Z. mobilis TISTR 548 as a recipient. About 4,000 transconjugants obtained were cultivated on YPD plates at 30°C or 39°C to observe a thermosensitive phenotype such an absence of growth or smaller colonies at high temperatures. As the result, 126 mutant strains were selected as candidates of thermosensitive mutants. The

growth phenotype of these mutants were further examined by measuring cell growth at 39°C, and finally 42 mutants with a strong defective growth were obtained, which exhibited significantly defective growth in YPD medium at 39°C but not at 30°C when compared with the parental strain (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4 Relative growths of thermosensitive mutant *Z. mobilis* strains with its parental strain. Cells were grown in YPD medium under static condition. The 0.05 initial $OD_{550 nm}$ of inoculums were used to grown cells in 30 ml of YPD containing 3 % glucose under static condition. Growth at 30°C (A) and 39 °C (B), and ethanol production at 30°C (C) and 39 °C (D). Reported values are the mean (±SD) of three independent experiments. *p* values were calculated by two-sample *t*-test assuming equal variances.

Table 3.2 Functional distribution of Z. mobilis thermotolerant genes

Functional category	Organisms	Identities	Frequencies		Sensitivity to stresses ^(a)	es ^(a)
	(encoded protein)	(%)	(No.)	Osmotic	Ethanol	Oxidative
				stress	stress	stress
(B) Membrane stabilization						
TE12; Glucosamine/fructose	Z. mobolis ZM4	98(95)	1	Х	x	X
6-phosphate aminotransferase,	(ZMO0056)					
isomerizing						
C12-36; Squalene hopene cyclase	Z. mobolis ZM4	(26)66	3	S	S	x
	(shc; ZM01548)					
C11-44 ; TolQ biopolymer transport	Z. mobolis ZM4	99(98)	1	S	S	X
proteins	(ZM00161)					
(C) DNA repair						
CF-32; DNA repair protein	Z. mobolis ZM4	99(95)	1	X	×	x
	(radC; ZMO0663)					
C12-43; Exonuclease VII	Z. mobolis ZM4	(26)66	1	X	X	X
large subunit	(xseA; ZMO0300)					
(D) tRNA modification						
C12-44 ; rRNA methylase	Z. mobolis ZM4	99(98)	1	S	S	Х
	(ZM01328)					

- 53 -

...

.

(E) Chaperon/protease						
C21-17 ; Predicted Zn dependent	Z. mobolis ZM4	98(97)	1	S	Х	S
peptidase	(ZM01422)					
(F) Translation						
C31-23; Preprotein translocase subunit	Z. mobolis ZM4	66(98)	1	х	Х	x
	(ZM01897)					
(G) Cell division						
TE19; ATPase involved in chromosome	Z. mobolis ZM4	98(96)	1	Х	Х	Х
partitioning-like protein	(ZMO0236)					
(H) Anti-oxidative stress						
C11-39; Xanthine/Uracil permease	Z. mobolis ZM4	(16)66	. 21	Х	Х	S
family protein	(69600WZ)					
C13-36; Predicted metal binding	Z. mobolis ZM4	90(92)	1	S	S	S
protein	(ZM01965)					
TA10; Glutathione S-transferase	Z. mobolis ZM4	99(94)	1	Х	×	X
	(ZM01118)					
Others						
C31-15; TrpR binding protein WrbA	Z. mobolis ZM4	66)66	1	S	S	S
	(ZM01335)					
TE18; Conserved hypothetical protein	Z. mobolis ZM4	97(97)	3	Х	×	Х
	(ZM00695)		·			
TA4 · Protein unknown function	7 mobolis ZM4	(70)00		X	X	×

- 54 -

	Х		S			
	Х		S			
	X		Х			
	3		3			
	98(97)		- (84)			
(ZM00021)	Z. mobolis ZM4	(ZM01243)	Z. mobolis NCIMB	11163	(Za10_0951)	
DUF162	TB10; Conserved hypothetical		C12-37; Hypothetical protein			

The values in parentheses represent the identities (%) of the thermotolerant genes compared with the genome of Z. mobilis NCIMB 1163

^(a)According to the data of Agar diffusion assay, "S" represents difference on growth between the thermosensitive mutants compared with the Z. mobilis TISTR 548 and "X" represent on difference. Osmotic stress, ethanol stress and oxidative stress is YPD medium supplemented with 12% w/v glucose, 2.5% w/v ethanol and 2 mM H₂O₂, respectively, as descript in material and methods.

- 55 -

3.3.3 Identification of possible thermotolerant genes

The insertion site of Tn10 in the genome of each thermosensitive mutant was determined by thermal asymmetric interlaced (TAIL)–PCR and nucleotide sequencing. This determination revealed the genomic sequences flanking Tn10 inserted in the genome (Table 3.2). The nucleotide sequences were then compared with the genome sequences of the type strain ZM4 [Seo et al., 2005] and NCIMB 11163 [Kouvelis et al., 2009]. Genes disrupted by the insertion of Tn10 were assumed to be thermotolerant genes if there was no polar effect of Tn10 insertion on the downstream genes, and thus 42 possible thermotolerant genes were identified by the analysis. Of these, 23 genes were found to be duplicated, and 19 unique genes were identified. Interestingly, one gene encoding transposase is absent from the type strain ZM4 genome. This is not surprising because there is the different number of genes present in the same specie, which allows each strain to exhibit individual characteristics [Welch et al., 2002; Seo et al., 2005; Kouvelis et al., 2009].

3.3.4 Effect of other stresses on thermotolerant mutants

In *E. coli*, about 60% of thermotolerant genes have been shown to be oxidative-stress tolerant genes (see Chapter 2). Effects of osmotic, ethanol and oxidative stresses were thus examined on YPD plates. As expected, a part of the thermosensitive mutants also exhibited defective growth on other stresses (Table 3.2). Therefore, it is assumed that there is some correlation between high temperature and other stresses in *Z. mobilis* as reported in a conventional yeast [Auesukaree et al., 2009] and *E. coli* [Gunasekera et al., 2008].

3.4 Discussion

Thermotolerant Z. mobilis TISTR 548, which was found to be an efficient ethanol producer at high temperature compared to other type strains, was subjected to transposon mutagenesis to obtain thermosensitive mutants at CHT. The analysis of thermosensitive mutants led to identify 17 possible thermotolerant genes. On the basis of the evidence that Z. mobilis possesses about 2,000 genes in its genomes [Seo et al., 2005; Kouvelis et al., 2009], the ratio of possible thermotolerant genes to total genomic genes in Z. mobilis was about 0.85%, which was nearly equivalent to that in E. coli (see Chapter 2). The possible thermotolerant genes were functionally categorized into 8

groups as shown below. Notably, all groups categorized except for anti-oxidative stress were found in *E. coli*, suggesting that a similar molecular mechanism functions in survival at CHT.

(i) Membrane stabilization: squalene hopene cyclase (ZMO1548) encoded by shc is involved in the biosynthesis of pentacycline triterpanoid lipids, known as a hopanoids biosynthesis pathway. Hopanoids is the prokaryotic membrane component [Hermans et al., 1991] equivalent to sterols in eukaryotes and is thought to protect bacterial cells by reducing molecular permeability and increasing membrane stability from environmental stresses, such as high temperature, high ethanol concentrations, or high oxygen levels [Ourisson and Rohmer, 1992; Berry et al., 1993]. It has been thought that the acquisition of hopanoids is an evolutionary adaptation for survival in the presence of ethanol in Z. mobilis [Carey and Ingram, 1983]. ZMO056 is glucosamine/fructose-6-phosphate aminotransferase (GFAT; EC 2.6.1.16) and catalyzes the formation of glucosamine-6-phosphate using glutamine as an ammonia donor. GFAT is the first and rate-limiting enzyme in the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway (HBP). This nucleotide sugar is essential for the formation of a plethora of glycoconjugates for the peptidoglycan macromolecule in prokaryotes [Badet et al., 1987]. The disruption of GFAT gene is vital in some species, but these mutants can resume growth when glucosamine is added to the media [Smiht et al., 1996; Bulik et al., 2003; Authur et al., 2004]. The other is a membrane-spanning protein TolQ (ZMO0161) which is one component for a complex structure forming a biopolymer transporter [Kampfenkel and Braun 1993]. The mutation of this gene suffers delayed outer membrane (OM) invagination and contains large OM blebs at constriction sites and cell poles [Gerding, 2007].

(ii) DNA repair: DNA repair protein RadC encoded by radC (ZMO0663) functions specifically in recombination repair that is associated with the replication fork and required for growth-medium-dependent repair of DNA strand breaks like recA that required for virtually all recombination stimulated by dnaB107 [Saveson and Lovett, 1999]. During competence, radC is specifically co-induced with six flanking genes, maf-(radC)-mreBCD-minCD, encoding proteins involved in cell shape determination and septum placement. RadC thus could have a function related to cell envelope metabolism [Attaiech et al., 2008]. Exonuclease VII large subunit XseA encoded by xseA (ZMO0300) is implicated in the resection of the nicked mismatched strand during bacterial methyl-directed mismatch repair pathway [Harris et al., 1998] that is used to repair base mutations thereby keeping genome mutation frequencies low [Larrea et al., 2008]. Unexpected, all two mutant strains in this group were not sensitive to 2 mM

 H_2O_2 . This may be explained by the fact that Z. mobilis as a facultative bacterium must have defense mechanisms against oxidative stress [Seo et al., 2005] and the severe growth was observed under coupled stresses of 2 mM H_2O_2 with high temperature (data not shown). Intracellular ROS that causes the DNA damage [Condon, 1987; Zagorski, 2009] increases as temperature increases [Noor et al., 2009]. Cells could maintain their survival ability under such conditions by DNA repair system.

(iii) tRNA modification: tRNA/rRNA methytransferase SpoU encoded by *ZMO1328* is involved in modification of tRNA molecules and may contribute to stabilization of ribosome three-dimensional structure [Decatur and Fournier 2002]. A number of additional modifications in RNAs provide advantages under particular conditions, such as conferring resistance against ribosome-targeting antibiotics [Mann et al., 2001; Toh et al., 2008]. However, the physiological roles of the vast majority of modified nucleosides in rRNA remain unknown [Ero et al., 2008]. Hereby, I propose that tRNA methyltransferase is indispensable for the growth of *Z. mobilis* at CHT.

(iv) Chaperon/protease: metallopeptidase encoded by *ZMO1422* contributes to the cellular process of regulating heat shock response in the wide-range organisms including mammalian and bacteria [Huang et al., 2008].

(v) Translation: ZMO1897 is a subunit of pre-protein translocate involved in protein secretion to the periplasmic space or outer membrane.

(vi) Cell division: ZMO0236 is one of ATPases functioning as a chromosome partitioning-like protein and may be essential for conversion of chromosome dimer to monomer during cell division [Leonard et al., 2005].

(vii) Anti-oxidative stress: xanthine-uracil permease encoded by ZMO0969 is involved in purine salvage and metabolism [Christiansen et al., 1997]. Xanthine is one of a subset of all bases of DNA damage generated by ROS [Kow, 2002]. Oxidized xanthine by xanthine oxidase was generated by periplasmic superoxide anions [Borsetti et al., 2005], that causes damage to membrane lipids, cellular proteins and DNA molecules. In 42 thermosensitive mutants, 21 xanthine-uracil permease mutants were obtained, which implied that this gene was the hot spot for insertion site for transposon Tn10 in Z. mobilis. ZMO1965 encodes a predicted metal-binding protein. ZMO0935 encodes glutathione-S-transferase. This enzyme family is a superfamily of enzymes that play a crucial role in cellular detoxification such as biotransformation of toxic compounds, protection against several stresses and antibacterial drug resistance [La Roche and Leisinger, 1990; Masai et al., 1993; Favaloro et al., 2000; Orser et al., 1993].

(viii) Unknown function: noteworthy, about 25% of the identified genes encode unknown proteins. TrpR-binging protein WrbA (ZMO1335), DUF162 (ZMO0695),

conserved hypothetical proteins (*ZMO0021*) and (*ZMO1243*), and hypothetical protein (*Za10_0951*). Interestingly, WrbA functions as an accessory element in blocking TrpR-specific transcriptional process [Yang et al., 1993] of which expression increased at the early stage of the stationary phase. It could play a role in preparing the cell for long-term maintenance under stress conditions [Chang, 2002]. WrbA is also reported as the multimeric flavodoxin-like proteins family [Grandori, 1998] and designated as a new type (type IV) of NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductases which protect cells against oxidative stress [Patridge and Ferry, 2006] under stationary phase or at high temperature [Soares et al., 2010; Noor et al., 2009].

Surprisingly, the latest protein is hypothetical protein (Za10_0951), which is absent in the genome of the type strain ZM4 and shares a high similarity to transposase (GOX2685) in *Acetobacter pasteurianus* IFO3283 [Asuma et al., 2009]. Transposase is one of DNA-binding enzymes and a member in the polynucleotidyl transferase superfamily that catalyzes 'cut-and-paste' or 'copy-and-paste' reactions, resulting in movement of DNA segments to new sites [Rice and Baker, 2001]. It thus leads to mutations and rearrangements and possibly accelerates biological diversification and consequently evolution [Aziz et al., 2010] by horizontal gene transfer [David et al., 2003]. Therefore, it is speculated that the hypothetical protein Za10_0951 is a transposase that implicates to the cell survivability at CHT.

As described in Chapter 2, 51 thermotolerance genes were discovered in *E. coli* and classified into 8 groups (A-H) [Murata et al., 2011 *inpress*]. Interestingly, of those 6 groups matched with groups of thermotolerant genes in *Z. mobilis*. There is no gene classified into group A of energy metabolism in *Z. mobilis* genome. This may be due to the different of the medium used, LB for *E. coli* and YPD for *Z. mobilis*. The latter medium contains sufficient glucose. Additionaly, genes belong to anti-oxidative stress response genes found in *Z. mobilis* which absent in *E. coli* thermotolerant gene categories [Murata et al., 2011 *inpress*].

Interestingly, there is overlapping of thermotolerant genes with the genes for other stresses (Table 3.2) such as the osmotic stress. Overlapping between the genes for thermotolerance and genes for oxidative stress was found in *E. coli*, but the mechanism is not adequately understood [Gunasekera et al., 2008]. Findings in this study would be useful for generating microbes for high temperature fermentation which expected to the improvement of production of ethanol or other useful materials.

CHAPTER 4

Physiological importance of cytochrome c peroxidase in ethanologenic thermotolerant Z. mobilis

Abstract

Z. mobilis ZmCytC as a peroxidase bearing three heme c-binding motifs was investigated with $\Delta ZmcytC$ constructed. The mutant exhibited filamentous shapes and reduction in growth under a shaking condition at a high temperature compared to the parental strain and became hypersensitive to exogenous H₂O₂. Under the same condition, the mutation caused increased expression of genes for three other antioxidant enzymes. Peroxidase activity, which was detected in membrane fractions with ubiquinol-1 as a substrate but not with reduced horse heart cytochrome c, was almost abolished in $\Delta ZmcytC$. Peroxidase activity was also detected with NADH as a substrate, which was significantly inhibited by antimycin A. NADH oxidase activity of $\Delta ZmcytC$ was found to be about 80% of that of the parental strain. The results suggest the involvement of ZmCytC in the aerobic respiratory chain via the cytochrome bc₁ complex in addition to the previously proposed direct interaction with ubiquinol and its contribution to protection against oxidative stress.

4.1 Introduction

Z. mobilis, a Gram-negative and facultative anaerobe in alpha-proteobacteria, is known to be an efficient ethanol producer [Swings and De Ley, 1977; Baratti and Bu'lock, 1986; Thanonkeo, 2005]. The organism utilizes the Entner-Doudoroff pathway [Sprenger, 1996] and possesses a relatively simple respiratory chain, consisting of a type-II NADH dehydrogenase, ubiquinone and *bd*-type ubiquinol oxidase [Sootsuwan et al., 2007]. The activity of NADH dehydrogenase is relatively strong and thus the respiratory activity may compete for NAD(P)H with the ethanol production reaction under aerobic conditions [Kalnenieks et al., 2006; Sootsuwan et al., 2007], and the respiratory consumption of NAD(P)H may limit the reduction of acetaldehyde to ethanol, presumably causing accumulation of acetaldehyde to inhibit cell growth [Viikari and Gisler, 1986; Kalnenieks et al., 2008].
Since the ethanol fermentation process is exothermic [Uden, 1981; Ghose, 2004], ethanologenic microorganisms seem to be exposed to heat stress in addition to other stresses including ethanol [Attfield, 1997] and to oxidative stress by endogenous reactive oxygen species (ROS) including hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) [Auesukaree et al., 2009], which are accumulated more as temperature increases [Noor et al., 2009]. H_2O_2 causes damage to membrane lipids, cellular proteins and DNA molecules [Condon, 1987; Zagorski, 2009], and such damage influences cell morphology and cell survival in an additive or synergic fashion [Hartke et al., 1998; Trusca et al., 1998]. Therefore, detoxification mechanisms of oxidative stress may be important not only for survival of these organisms but also for ethanol production. Several genes responsive to oxidative stress in *Z. mobilis* are present in its genome: *ZmcytC* for cytochrome *c* peroxidase, *ZMO1573* for iron-dependent peroxidase, *Zmcat* for catalase, *Zmsod* for superoxide dismutase and *ZmahpC* for alkyl hydroperoxide reductase [Seo et al., 2005].

Cytochrome c peroxidase (CCP), which plays an important role in protecting organisms from damage caused by H₂O₂, is distributed widely in eukaryotes and prokaryotes. The structural and functional understanding of cytochrome c peroxidase has been greatly advanced after the first purification from baker's yeast by Altschul et al. [1940]. Unlike yeast CCP possessing a single b-type heme as a co-factor, bacterial CCPs (bCCPs) contain *c*-type heme. Bacterial genome sequencing, however, has revealed that bCCP is present in many but not all Gram-negative bacteria and appears to be absent in Gram-positive bacteria or Archaea. This might be related to the lack of a periplasmic compartment in these organisms [Atack and Kelly, 2007]. Conventional bCCPs are periplasmic enzymes that contain two covalently bound *c*-type hemes, thus called di-heme CCP [Fülöp et al., 1995; Shimizu et al., 2004; Dias et al., 2004; Echalier et al., 2006]. One of the two hemes functions as the peroxidation site where H_2O_2 binds. The second heme is the site accepting electrons from a physiological donor such as cytochrome c_{551} in *Pseudomonas aeroginosa* [Hsiao et al., 2007] and cytochrome c_2 in Rhodobacter sphaeroides [Abresch et al., 2008]. Interestingly, there are bCCPs with three heme-binding motifs in E. coli and related endobacteria such as Gluconobacter oxydans, Bacteroides fragilis and Z. mobilis. They bear an N-terminal extension with a heme *c*-binding motif (CXXCH) and a putative methionine ligand [Atack and Kelly, 2007]. The tri-heme CCP in Actinomyces actinomycetemcomitans has been demonstrated to be a quinol peroxidase based on evidence that it utilizes reduced ubiquinone-1 as an electron donor for the reduction of H₂O₂ to water [Yamada et al., 2007; Takashima et al., 2010].

Z. mobilis cytochrome c peroxidase (ZmCytC) shares homology with tri-heme CCPs and di-heme CCPs [Atack and Kelly, 2007]. Since Z. mobilis possesses the bc_1 complex and cytochrome c_{552} without cytochrome c oxidase, ZmCytC is speculated to accept an electron(s) from the bc_1 complex via cytochrome c_{552} (ZMO0961) to convert hydrogen peroxide to water in the periplasm [Sootsuwan et al., 2007]. However, no direct evidence for this speculated electron transfer process has been provided.

In this study, we constructed a knockout mutant of ZmcytC to elucidate its physiological function. Effects of mutation on growth and morphology and on the expression of genes for other antioxidant enzymes were examined. Biochemical analysis was also performed to determine whether ZmCytC catalyzes peroxidase reaction with reduced ubiquinol-1 or NADH as an electron donor in membrane fractions. The NADH-dependent peroxidase activity was inhibited by the addition of antimycin A. On the basis of these results, we discuss the physiological function of ZmCytC and its possible electron donor in Z. mobilis.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Materials

Restriction enzymes and T4 DNA ligase were purchased from Takara Shuzo (Kyoto, Japan) and New England Biolabs. A DNA sequencing Kit (ABI PRISM [®] Terminator v 3.1 Cycle sequencing Kit) was obtained from Applied Biosystem Japan. Oligonucleotide primers (Table 4.1) were synthesized by Proligo Japan K.K. (Tokyo, Japan). Other chemicals were all of analytical grade and obtained from commercial sources.

Table 4.1 Primers used in this study

Primers	Sequence (5' to 3')
cytC-5	ctctgaaagccagaacc
cytC-up-kan-3	cagetecageetacacagaggttgttgececcata
cytC-down-kan-5	aaggaggatattcatatgctatcgcggccataatc
cytC-3	tcgccatcaaaagcacg
Kan-cytC-5	tatggggcaacaacctctgtgtaggctggagctg
Kan-cytC-3	gattatggccgcgatagcatatgaatatcctcctt
cytC-5RT	cttctgtgatcgttgcc
cytC-3RT	aaaggtctatggcggtc
sod-5RT	cccagacatcgagcgtc
sod-3RT	tacccgccctgcccttt
cat-5RT	geccaaccetectecaa
cat-3RT	atgccctgttgtgacag
ahpc-5RT	gcaagggcaaaggtcat
ahpc-3RT	gttcagcagggtgtatc
iron-5RT	ccgaacccctgccccaa
iron-3RT	tcttcaccatcccgctc
TAIL-840up1	ccaagacagaaagcacatcc
TAIL-840up2	cgctgtcatatcgccat

4.2.2 Bacterial strains, culture conditions and membrane preparation

Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study are shown in Table 4.2 Z. *mobilis* TISTR 548 and its mutant, $\Delta ZmcytC$, were grown in YPD medium consisting of 0.3% yeast extract, 0.5% peptone and 3% glucose [Michel et al., 1985] at 30 °C or 37 °C under a shaking condition at 200 rpm or under a static condition [Taherzadeh et al., 1997]. Cells cultured for 9 h and 24 h (corresponding to optical densities of about 0.8 and 2.5 at 550 nm under the shaking condition and about 1.5 and 3.0 at 550 nm

under the static condition, respectively) were used for some experiments as those in exponential and stationary phases, respectively. To prepare membrane fractions, cells were harvested and suspended in 10 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) and then passed twice through a French press at 16,000 psi, followed by centrifugation at 86,000 g for 90 min [Sootsuwan et al., 2007]. The pellet was then homogenized with the same buffer and used as a membrane fraction.

Strain or plasmid	Genotype	Reference
E. coli DH5α	$F^{-}\psi 80 \Delta lac Z \Delta M 15 \Delta (lac ZYA-argF)$	Novagen
	$U169 \ recA1 \ endA1 \ hsdR17(r_k^-, m_k^+)$	
	phoA supE44 \thi1 gyrA96 relA1	
Z. mobilis TISTR 548	Wild type	TISTR
Z. mobilis T548⊿cytC	Z. mobilis TISTR 548 $\Delta ZmcytC$	Present work
Plasmid		
pGEM-T Easy	Amp ^r	Promega
pDK4	Km ^r	K. A. Datsenko
pGEMZMCYTC::Km	pGEM-T Easy carrying a fragment	Present work
	of 3.4-kb; sequence upstream and	
	downstream kb of ZmcytC with	
	insertion of 1.5-kb of kanamycin	
	resistance gene	
pZA22	tet ^r , cml ^r	H. Yanase
pZAZMCYTC	pZA22 carrying a 3.5-kb fragment of	Present work
	the full length of ZmcytC gene	
	between the BamHI and SalI of	
	pZA22	

Table 4.2 Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study

4.2.3 DNA manipulation

Conventional recombinant DNA techniques were applied [Sambrook and Russell, 2001]. To construct an expression plasmid of ZmcvtC, we designed primers (Table 4.1) specific to the region about 840 bp upstream from the initiation codon of *ZmcvtC* and the region 1,100 bp downstream from its termination codon, on the basis of the genome sequence of Z. mobilis strain ZM4 strain [Seo et al., 2005]. Using a primer set of cytC-5 and cytC-3, a 3,462-bp DNA fragment was amplified by PCR with PrimeSTAR (TAKARA BIO INC, Shiga, Japan) and Z. mobilis TISTR 548 genomic DNA as a template. The amplified DNA fragment was cloned into pGEM-T Easy. The construct was further confirmed by nucleotide sequencing [Sanger et al., 1977]. The plasmid DNA was digested with BamHI and SalI, and DNA fragment containing ZmcytC was ligated into the BamHI-SalI site of pZA22, generating pZAZMCYTC. A ZmcytC-disrupted mutant strain was constructed by homologous recombination. The recombinant DNA fragment for the homologous recombination was prepared by fusion PCR [Kuwayama et al., 2002]. The DNA fragments of upstream and downstream sequences of ZmcytC were separately amplified by PCR using Z. mobilis TISTR 548 genomic DNA as a template and a primer set of cytC-5 and cytC-up-kan-3 and a primer set of cytC-down-kan-5 and cytC-3, respectively. PCR reaction was performed with as follows: heating to 98 °C for 1 min and 30 cycles of 98 °C for 10 s, 52 °C for 10 s and 72 °C for 2 min, followed by a final extension at 72 °C for 5 min. The kanamycin resistance cassette (kan) was amplified by PCR using pKD4 plasmid DNA carrying the kan gene as a template with a primer set of kan-cytC-5 and kan-cytC-3. PCR products were separated on 0.9% agarose gel. The corresponding DNA bands were excised and purified with Easy trap (TAKARA BIO). The Fusion PCR with the three purified DNA fragments was performed using a PuReTaqTM Ready-To- GoTM PCR beads kit (GE Healthcare, Buckinghamshire, UK) as follows: 94 °C for 1 min and 10 cycles of 94 °C for 10 s, 40 °C for 10 s and 72 °C for 4 min, followed by an extension at 72 °C for 5 min. After the process, 10 pmol primers of cytC-5 and cytC-3 were added to the reaction tube and the fusion was restarted as follows: 94 °C for 1 min and 30 cycles of 94 °C for 10 s, 52 °C for 10 s and 72 °C for 4 min, followed by an extension at 72 °C for 5 min. The fusion PCR product was then purified and ligated into pGEM-T Easy. The resultant clone was verified by nucleotide sequencing. The deletion in the ZmcytCORF of the clone was 1,355 bp encompassing from the 23^{rd} codon to the 452^{nd} codon. The plasmid DNA was isolated and introduced into Z. mobilis TISTR 548. The

disrupted mutants were screened on YPD agar plates containing kanamycin (50 µg/ml). The ZmcytC disruption was confirmed by using the genomic DNA from the mutant as a template and further proved by digestion with PstI, of which a recognition site is present in the kan gene. Furthermore, the specific insertion of the recombinant fragment including the kan cassette into the genome was examined by using TAIL-PCR [Lui et al., 1995] followed by the nucleotide sequencing, which determined sequences outward from the 840-bp upstream position from the initiation codon of ZmcytC and sequences outward from the 1,100-bp downstream position from the stop codon. Briefly, the mutant genomic DNA used as a template for 1st TAIL-PCR with a specific primer of the upstream TAIL-840up1 or the downstream TAIL-1100down1 of ZmcvtC and arbitrary primer (AD2 or AD3). The 1st PCR products were used as the template for the 2nd TAIL-PCR with a specific primer of the upstream TAIL-840up2 or the downstream TAIL-1100down2 of ZmcytC and arbitrary primer (AD2 or AD3). The 2nd PCR products were used as the template for the 3rd TAIL-PCR with a specific primer of the upstream TAIL-840up3 or the downstream TAIL-1100down3 of ZmcytC and arbitrary primer (AD2 or AD3), all of the TAIL-PCR amplification was performed as described previously [Lui et al., 1995]. The 2nd PCR product or 3rd PCR product was subjected to nucleotide sequencing on an ABI PRISM310 (PE Biosystems) with a primer of TAIL-840up3 or TAIL-1100down3

4.2.4 Halo assay

Halo assays for sensitivity to H_2O_2 of the $\Delta ZmcytC$ and its parental strains and their transformant with pZAZMCYTC or an empty vector were performed as described previously [Lertwattanasakul et al., 2009]. Briefly, 1 ml of culture at mid-exponential phase (density to $OD_{550}=1$) was mixed with 2 ml of soft YPD agar (0.8% agar) and spread on YPD agar plates. Various volumes of 10% (v/v) H_2O_2 were placed on the center of the sterilized discs. This paper disc assay was carried out in triplicate cultures for each strain and the data were treated statistically.

4.2.5 Intracellular ROS level

An oxidative-sensitive probe, dichlodihydrofluorescein H₂DCFDA, was used to measure the intracellular ROS level [Lertwattanasakul et al., 2009]. Briefly, cells were grown in YPD medium with and without 10 μ M H₂DCFDA at 30 °C or 37 °C under a shaking condition at 200 rpm for 24 h. Cells were then harvested and washed 3 times with 10 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 6.8). They were then subjected to either observation of cell morphology or measurement of fluorescent intensity after disruption by sonication and removal of cell debris. The fluorescent intensity was measured using a Hitachi 650-10S Fluorescence spectrophotometer (excitation, 504 nm; emission, 524 nm). Emission values were normalized by protein concentration.

4.2.6 RT-PCR analysis

Cells were grown in YPD medium for 24 h, and total RNA was immediately extracted using the hot phenol method [Aiba et al., 1981]. To examine the expression of *ZmcytC* (ZMO1136), *Zmcat* (ZMO0918), *Zmsod* (ZMO1060), *ZmahpC* (ZMO1732) and ZMO1573, RT-PCR was performed using an mRNA-selective RT-PCR kit (TAKARA BIO), two specific primers for each gene and 0.1 µg of total RNA as described previously [Tsunedomi et al., 2003]. The primer set used for each gene is shown in Table 4.1. After RT reaction had been performed at 40°C for 15 min, PCR consisting of denaturing at 85 °C for 1 min, 45 °C for 1 min and extension at 72 °C for 2 min was carried out. The PCR products after 20, 25, 30 and 35 cycles for each gene were taken and analyzed by 0.9% agarose gel electrophoresis, followed by staining with ethidium bromide. Intensity of bands of RT-PCR products was quantitatively determined using the UN-SCAN-IT gelTM automated digitizing system (Silk Scientific). Linearity of the amplification was observed up to the 25th or 35th cycle. Under our conditions, the RNA-selective RT-PCR was able to specifically detect mRNA because no band was observed when reverse transcriptase was omitted.

4.2.7 Analytical procedures

Ethanol and glucose concentrations in the medium were measured by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) (Hitachi Chemical, Japan) using Gelpack GL-C610-S ($7.8 \times 300 \text{ mm}$). The medium fraction was prepared as a supernatant after a low-speed centrifugation of *Z. mobilis* cultures at different cultivation time points and diluted 10 times before applying to HPLC. Using HPLC with a reflective index detector, chromatography was performed at 60 °C and degassed water was used as a mobile phase at a flow rate of 0.3 ml/min. The concentration was then compared with the standard of known concentrations of ethanol or glucose.

Ubiquinol and NADH oxidase activities were measured spectrophotometrically at 25 °C by following the decrease in absorbance at 275 nm and 340 nm, respectively [Elias *et al.*, 2001]. One unit of ubiquinol-1 and NADH oxidase activities is defined as 1 µmol of ubiquinol-1 or NADH oxidized/min, which was calculated with a millimolar extinction coefficient of 12.25 for ubiquinol and 6.25 for NADH. Peroxidase assay was carried out as described previous [Yamada et al., 2007]. To measure ubiquinol or NADH peroxidase activity, the consumption of ubiquinol or NADH was determined in the assay mixture as for the ubiquinol or NADH oxidase expect for the addition of 1 mM glucose and 50 unit glucose oxidase. The reaction was initiated by the addition of 10 mM H₂O₂ to the final concentration of 0.01 mM. The cytochrome *c* peroxidase assay was performed at 25 °C in 100 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5) and 30 µM horse heart cytochrome *c* [Yamada et al., 2007]. The reaction was initiated by the addition of 10 mM H₂O₂. Oxidation of cytochrome *c* was measured at 550 nm.

4.2.8 Database search and computer analysis

Database searching was performed with DDBJ, NCBI, Swiss-Prot and TrEMBL databases. Comparison of primary sequences, hydropathy plot analysis and multiple alignments were conducted by using GENETYX (Software Development, Tokyo, Japan).

4.2.9 Statistics

Unless otherwise indicated, mean and SD calculated from data of at least three independent experiments are presented. The variations between the experiments were estimated by SD, and the statistical significance of changes was estimated by two-sample *t*-test assuming equal variances. ***, ** and * mean p < 0.001, <0.01 and <0.05, respectively.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Structural characteristics of ZmCytC

Comparison of the primary structure of ZmCytC, which is deduced from its nucleotide sequence, with primary structures of other bCCPs was performed (Figure 4.1). The length of the amino acid sequence of ZmCytC corresponds to those of tri-heme c peroxidases and about 100 amino acid residues including one heme c-binding motif extend at its N-terminus compared to sequences of di-heme CCPs. Hydropathy analysis revealed that there is one possible membrane-spanning segment at the N-terminal (data not shown), which is responsible for association with the inner membrane. Although the N-terminal about 20-amino acid sequence has a character of basic amino acids followed by a hydrophobic sequence, similar to that of a signal sequence, it may be not removed because a similar sequence is present in purified tri-heme CCP in A. actinomycetemcomitans [Yamada et al., 2007; Takashima et al., 2010]. This is consistent with the finding that most peroxidase activity in Z. mobilis was recovered in membrane fractions (see below). ZmCytC shares 39-43% sequence identity with di-heme CCPs and 44-57% with tri-heme CCPs. Yamada et al. [2007] reported that the tri-heme CCP in A. actinomycetemcomitans is ubiquinol peroxidase, which is very similar in primary sequence to ZmCytC (47% identity). These findings strongly suggest that ZmCytC is a member of a tri-heme CCP family. However, since it has been annotated as a cytochrome c peroxidase in a database, it is also important to clarify the electron donor for ZmCytC.

EmCytC	1	MNIKALFGSAVVLAVVAYGATTSYLVHYDHETAPKLSSLSPTNNNPKAKAAFDTIAEA	58
GdiCCP		MSVRKLVLSVAALGCVAYGGTVGYLTHFDHDTAPTLGTNSPTLADPVASAAFAAIRES	58
ECOCCP		MKMVSRITAIG-LAGVAICYLGLSGYVW-YHDNKRSKQADVQASAVSENNKVLGF-LREK	57
AacCCP		MKKFALKTAVVAIVGYLGVVGYVHQYDKGQMEKLLAEGSYSAEQQ-KIAKVFFNN-	54
RCpCCP			1
RspCCP			1
PaeCCP			1
ZmCytC	59	RCDYCHTKDAKLPF-YASLPVAKQLMQRDIKRGLQHFQIQPVLNALEKGEAVDEESLARM	117
GdiCCP	59	RCDYCHARNTDLPF-YFHVPVANQLMQRDVDQGLRHFRIEPVLAAFQSGAVPSEEQLARI	117
ECOCCP		GCDYCHTPSAELPAYY-YIPGAKQLMDYDIKLGYKSFNLEAVRAALLADKPVSQSDLNKI	116
AacCCP		GCQYCHTPNAELP-FYAHVPLVGSMLQNDIKEGNRVFLLNELLNGLKDPSKLSEVDLAKL	113
RCpCCP	1		1
RspCCP			1
PaeCCP			1
ZmCytC		QFVVEHDMMPPKMYLTMHWHAA-LGEKGKKAMLEWIKESRIKNYDAAGLVAPQFQSEPIQ	176
GdiCCP		EEVVRQNRMPPTLYLLLHWHAH-LSQAQRDALLTWIAAERRAHYATPGVAP-RFAAEPVQ	175
ECOCCP		EWVMQYETMPPTRYTALHWAGK-VSDEERAEILAWIAKQRAEYYASNDTAPEHRNEPVQ-	174
AacCCP		ERVIENDEMPIAKFLHIHWGSR-PDEDEKTALLNWIREQRKAFLPVNTEGTDNHRLV-Q-	170
RcpCCP	1	ALREEAKGL-FEVIPMQ	40
RspCCP	1	ARLILTA-LIATTALAGAAQADVLRDKALEY-FAPLPST	37
PaeCCP	1	DALHDQASAL-FKPIPEQ	17
ZmCytC	177	PIPAADFS-DKEKIALGE-REFT KOLG GDGTLN ASTEGLNKGVUNLVEST IKGOK- PVPET-LPVDAAKVALGO-REFT KOLG GDGTLN ASTEALDHEWYG GRVALIDDRH- PIPOKLPTDAO-KVALGF-AFH KOLG GDGTLN ASTEALDNAEWYG GRKS IT VGGAV- PIPDELMTDAA-KVALGH-KEFNG GRLG GDGTIN HT HOLDKMSVI RLD ST IDGKK- APOLADNNTVTRKIDLGAM FFI PENA KSGVTFS VSI HNVGLKVI RLD ST IDGKK- APOLADNNTVTRKIDLGAM FFI PENA KSGVTFS VSI HNVGLKVI RLD ST IDG VPAVKONRITP-EKIELGKA FFI PENA KSGVTFS VSI HNTTKOD MME SVH-GWOK VTELRGOPI SEQORE-LGKK FFI PENL RSHVLSINTEH NVGTMA NVF SVH-GWOK	233
GdiCCP	176	PVPET-LPVDAAKVALGQ-REFFEKQLSGDGTLNGASCHALDHSGVEGRVEALCIDNRH-	232
ECOCCP	175	PIPQKLPTDAQ-KVALGF-ALYHTPRLSADSTISSAH HALNASSVEGRKESICVGGAV-	231
AacCCP	171	PIPDEIMTDAA-KVALGH-KLEMAGRLSGDGTIKEHT HOLDKSGVHRLDHSTEIDGKK-	227
RcpCCP	41	APQLADNNTVTRDKIDLGAMAFF PRMSKSGVFSHQS HNVGLGGVHGLETSICH-GWQK	99
RspCCP	38	VPAVKGNRITP-EKIELGKANFFEPRLEASGVFSEYSENITTGCDUNMERSVEH-GWQK	95
PaeCCP	18	VTELRGQPISEQQRE-LGKK FFF PRL RSHVLS NT HNVGT KARNVPISVEH-GWQK	75
			293
ZmCytC GdiCCP	234		292
	200		291
ECOCCP	232	GETTAR VENSY RVEN DITATION AGO PLAPINE AND A DE	287
AacCCP	228	GETTAP VE NAATHEA THEGOVENAL BEGTEPLNEVINGSRSWEETVARE EQDEDERQ	158
RcpCCP	100	CPRIAD ALNAVENVA THEORYPEIAA TAATA KATVQAGVEINNTPENLVATVQSMPG-IVE	150
RspCCP PaeCCP	96	GPIRAGYYRSWYRKL HYDGE KDDOERAM WMPLEKCSHDRAEVSKRVMAQPGYKE GPIRVE YUDAAFYOS FINGE AT ADLAAF WMPLEKCSHDRTGVADKLKOPPYLT GPIRAGYYRSWRYE HODEAT OOMGE HINPIEKSSHDRTGVADKLKOPPYLT GURAFYFRAAFYFA THDES YD AD HOF PLRYEKSSHSWEIVAREODEDFKO GPRAGTALKAVEFYAR THDES YD AA KWYQAGVESNNTPERLVATVCSWPG-YVE SPRISTVINAVIJEAA SHDEFED KA KKHYQAGVESNNTPEQVETLRSMPQ-YVE SPRISTVINAVIJEAA SHDEFE KDEGE KKHIGSVEHSTPOLVECTLCSIFE-YVD	134
Lacool			
ZmCytC	294	AFTKVYGGQANQE-RITNATAVYBATIVITDSRFFQYLKCHENAINEQEKRYALFKD	350
GdiCCP	293	A QGVFGSDEITRDRITDAIAEYEKTLINDSREURYEKEDDQALNAQEKNEYALEKS	350
ECOCCP	292	QFLEVYPQGFSGENITDA-IAEFEKTITEDSPETKWLRCDENALTAQOKKEYQLEKD	348
AacCCP	288	ASLQVYPQISK-ETLTNA-IGEYSKTATENSDERRYKKENT-LTAQQLKCYELEKQ	342
RcpCCP	159	ASAKAFPGQKDPISFDNFALAVEAFSAFMIFENSK HQWLMCADGAMSADEKAELKLHID	218
RspCCP	155	WESGAFPDEAEPTNFDNMAMAIEAFEAFUITEAP-FHAFLNGDDEALTAEORAELELFID	213
PaeCCP	135	ATKYYGGQANQE-RITNÄTÄVYBATVY-DSREGOVIKHENAINEQEKRYALEKD ALGOYGGSDEITRDRITDATAEYEKTIFTDEREIRKYKÖGOAINAQEKNYALEKS OLEEVYPQGFSGENITDA-TAEFKKIIFTDSDEREIRKYKÖKANAQEKNYALEKS ASLQYYPQISK-ETLTNA-IGEYEKTIFTNSDEREVEKSENTAQOKKYELKO ASAKPFGCKOPISFDNFALAVEAFFATIFTNSKET OMMAADGANSADEKAILKAEID MSGAFPDEAEPTNFNMAMIIEAFATIFTNSKET OMMAADGANSADEKAILKAEID ASRAFPGKAGKPVSFDNMAIIEAFATIFTNSKET OMMAADGANSADEKAILKAEID ASRKAFPGKAGKPVSFDNMAIIEAFATIFTNSKET OMMAADGANSADEKAILKAEND	194
ZmCytC	351	LGASHVEKAM SÖSFEVNEUEGDYFGKRÖHPSD-ACOM PSOTHNALDMHRFNVFT VCSSGHTVSLSCOAFRAMGIEGDYFARGGTITDA KEYMMHSDAMRERKVEN NKATHGSILLSRSFELELKKRDNFGEITA-ATI IMMVKERER KURGVEGE YK DTHTFVMMGÖSIEYM IYGDYFKDRGTPITDACOMPAC ODPY MHRFKVESI TGAAHMNINISKONGYPFVDEKEGABULPACINFFAMTATAD EVYFRAGHE KCSTHISVMVCHCYYFFUIDKEGABULPACINFFAMTATAD EVYFRAFE SCSAHMNINISKOAYPFUIDKEGABULPACINFFAMTATAD EVYFRAFE SCSAHMNINISKOAYPFUIDKEGABULPACINFFAMTATAD EVYFRAFE	409
GdiCCP	351	VGOSGONTOVSLOGOAFEAMSLEGDYFAARGGTLTDA KGFYMVHSDAMMERFKVPND	410
ECOCCP	349	NKLAT HGGIILLGGKSFEPLGEKKDFNFGEITA-ALIGMNVKKEERKLROKVPGUR	405
AacCCP	343	YK DT HTGVNMGGUSYEYMGIYGDYFKDRGTPLTDALOGHEACHQDPYCMHRFKVPSLG	402
RcpCCP	219	TGGAACHNCINICGNGYYPFWVVEKPGAEVLPAGKCSFAVHATAD EYVFRAGPLS	275
RspCCP	214	KGUSTUHSEVNVECHGYYPFULIEKPGADILPEGEKCSFAVHATVDE EYVFRAAPUS	270
PaeCCP	195	SGISAEHNEINLEGQAXFPFGLVKKPDASVEPSGKENEAVHKTQSEEYVFRAAPHN	251
ZmCytC			464
GdiCCP	411	UTAT TAT A STATE DOW REMARK TPDHDLSDHDVADTVAR OTTAT	465
ECOCCP	411		459
AacCCP	400		456
RcpCCP	276	TATTAL THESE STANS I CATLODYO- UDOTTAL COLORING TO THE PODEWAND	334
	270		329
RspCCP PaeCCP	252	IISI TAPI FROGSAKT LEDA REVYRY TOKGOIPEKDVODIVAB KTOTESVRG IIAI TAPI FROGSAKT LEDA REVYRY TOKGOIPEKDVODIVAB KTOTESVRG VALAK BERGOVPT LOCK KULENY VEKELPCE-DVDIVAB ITITYYTP TAI TAPIMEDASAKD KEN RISLKY GNAK-PQQQDIDDITSE BSITEYTP IIAI TAPIMEDASAKD KEN RISLKY GNAK-PQQQDIDDITSE BSITEPFEG IIAI TAPIMEDASAKD KEN RISLKY GNAK-PQQQDIDDITSE BSITEPFEG IIAI TAPIMEDASAKD KEN RISLKY GNAK-PQQQDIDDITSE BSITEPFEG VALVA FREGKVNDERT TI ASS LGETMDEE-VOHVAF DIST CYMPTYTTPV VALVA FREGKVNDERT TI ASS LGETMDEE-VOHVAF DIST CYMPTYTTPV	310
	202		
ZmCytC		HNLATITEEEAGILPSK-	481
GdiCCP		HQLAETTH	473
EcoCCP		YMQDKQ	465
		KKLQ	460
RCpCCP	335	LPVRSAQTPRPEHMN	349
		LPPETASTPRPTAEVKVD	347
PaeCCP	311	LPASTETTPRPAE	323

Figure 4.1 Alignment of deduced amino acid sequences of ZmCytC and other bCCPs. Deduced amino acid sequences of ZmCytC from *Z. mobilis* (NCBI: ZMO1136), GdiCCP from *Gluconacetobacter diazotrophicus* PAl5 (NCBI: Gdia_0285), EcoCCP from *E. coli* (NCBI: AAC76543.1), AacCCP from *A. actonomycetemcomitans* (DDBJ: AB269691), RcpCCP from *Rh. capsulatus* (DDBJ: RCAP_rcc01723), RspCCP from *Rh. sphaeroides* (DDBJ: Rsph17025_1377) and PaeCCP from *P. aeruginosa* bCCP (PDB: 1EB7) were aligned. The parameters were as follows: gap open = 10, gap extension = 0.05, and gap distance = 8. Conserved residues are shadowed. Numbers to the right denote residue positions. Three heme *c*-binding motifs (CXXCH) are indicated by thick upper lines. ZmCytC, GdiCCP, EcoCCP and AacCCP have 3 heme *c*-binding motifs and other three CCPs have 2 heme *c*-binding motifes.

- 70 -

4.3.2 Effects of disruption or increased expression of ZmcytC on morphology, growth and ethanol production

In order to clarify the physiological function of ZmCytC, we constructed a disrupted mutant of ZmcytC by homologous recombination with a kan cassette. The specific disruption of the gene was confirmed by TAIL-PCR followed by nucleotide sequencing, which determined the outward sequences both at upstream and downstream junctions between the genome and the DNA fragment inserted for the ZmCytC disruption. Only a single sequence was found at each junction, suggesting that the insertion of the DNA fragment including the kan cassette was only one place in its chromosome. Z. mobilis TISTR 548 used in this study is thermotolerant and it can grow and produce ethanol even at a relatively high temperature under a shaking condition [Sootsuwan et al., 2007] and under a static condition (unpublished). We thus examined growth and morphology of $\Delta ZmcytC$ at 30 °C and 37 °C because it was expected that cells would be exposed to more oxidative stress as temperature increased Noor et al., 2009]. When ROS in TISTR 548 was observed by a specific fluorescent probe, dichlodihydrofluorescein H₂DCFDA, its level at 37 °C was about 1.7-fold higher than that at 30 °C under shaking conditions, but hardly changed under static conditions (data not shown).

No significant difference in colony morphology between $\Delta ZmcytC$ and its parent was observed on YPD plates or in liquid medium under static conditions. We thus examined the effects of the mutation on growth and morphology in liquid medium under a shaking condition. The growth curves (Figure 4.2A) revealed that the ZmcytCmutation caused negative effects on growth at 37 °C and 39 °C, but not at 30 °C. Morphological observation showed that both ZmcytC mutation and parental cells became elongated at 37 °C and 39 °C (Figure 4.2B and data not shown) and the mutant cells were a little longer than the parental cells. 4'-6-Diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) staining exhibited a line of nucleoides along with elongated cells at high temperatures (data not shown), suggesting that the elongation is due to the inhibition of cell division. Even at 30 °C, the average cell length of mutant cells was 1.3 ± 0.2 -fold longer than that of the parental cells.

We further attempted complementation experiments with a plasmid clone of ZmcytC (Figure 4.2C and D). However, introduction of an empty vector, pZA22, was found to cause a large reduction of growth at 37 °C though no such effect was found at 30 °C. We have no clear reason for this negative effect of the plasmid. So, due to the

effect, no complementation by pZAZMCYTC was observed in growth at 37 °C (Figure 4.2C). Cells may require more energy to maintain plasmid molecules at a high temperature. With regard to cell morphology, the introduction of pZA22 caused elongation at 30 °C (Figure 4.2D-b and F-b). Both $\Delta ZmcytC$ bearing pZAZMCYTC and the parental strain bearing pZAZMCYTC were found to be shorter in cell size than those bearing an empty vector, pZA22 both at 30 °C and 37 °C, indicating that cell elongation was suppressed by the addition of pZAZMCYTC.

We further examined the effect of the ZmcytC mutation on glucose consumption and ethanol production at 30 °C and 39 °C under static and shaking conditions (Figure 4.3). Under static conditions, glucose consumption and ethanol production were faster at 39 °C than at 30 °C. No significant effect of the mutation, however, was observed. Under the shaking condition, glucose consumption was much less at 39 °C than at 30 °C, probably due to repressed growth at a higher temperature (Figure 4.2A). At 30 °C, the $\Delta ZmcytC$ showed 23% and 40% increases in ethanol production at 24 h and 48 h, respectively, compared to those of its parent (Figure 4.3C). These increases may be due to the increase in amount of NADH available for ethanol synthesis since NADH oxidase activity was reduced in the mutant (see below). Taken together, the results suggest that ZmcytC is crucial for growth at a high temperature.



Figure 4.2 Growth curves and morphology of ZmcytC mutant and parental strains under a shaking condition and effects of ZmcytC clone.

Cells were grown in YPD medium under a shaking condition (200 rpm) at different temperatures and cell morphology at 24 h was observed. A Growth curves of *Zmcyt*C mutant (opened symbols) and parental (closed symbols) strains at 30 °C (circles), 37 °C (triangles) and 39 °C (squares). B Cells morphology of *Zmcyt*C mutant (**B-a**) and parental strain (**B-c**) at 30 °C and of *Zmcyt*C mutant (**B-b**) and parental strain (**B-d**) at 37 °C in figure A. C Growth curves of *Zmcyt*C mutant/pZAZMCYTC (circles) and 37 °C (open symbols). D Cells morphology of *Zmcyt*C mutant/pZAZMCYTC at 30 °C (**D-a**) and 37 °C (**D-c**) and *Zmcyt*C mutant /pZA22 at 30 °C (**D-b**) and 37 °C (**D-d**) in figure C E Growth curves of the parental strain/pZAZMCYTC (diamonds) and the parental strain/pZA22 (squares) at 30 °C (closed symbols) and 37 °C (**D-c**) and *Zmcyt*C mutant /pZAZMCYTC at 30 °C (**D-c**) and the parental strain/pZA22 (squares) at 30 °C (closed symbols) and 37 °C (**D-c**) and *Zmcyt*C mutant /pZAZMCYTC at 30 °C (**D-c**) and the parental strain/pZAZMCYTC at 30 °C (**F-c**) and the parental strain/pZA22 at 30 °C (**F-b**) and 37 °C (**F-a**) and 37 °C (**F-c**) and the parental strain /pZA22 at 30 °C (**F-b**) and 37 °C (**F-a**) and 37 °C (**F-c**) and the parental strain /pZA22 at 30 °C (**F-b**) and 37 °C (**F-a**) and 57 °C (**F-c**) and the parental strain /pZA22 at 30 °C (**F-b**) and 37 °C (**F-a**) and 57 °C (**F-c**) and the parental strain /pZA22 at 30 °C (**F-b**) and 37 °C (**F-a**) and 57 °C (**F-c**) and the parental strain /pZA22 at 30 °C (**F-b**) and 37 °C (**F-a**) and 57 °C (**F-c**) and the parental strain /pZA22 at 30 °C (**F-b**) and 37 °C (**F-b**) in figure **E**. Photos shown in **B**, **D** and **F** are also representatives. Scale bar, 10 µm.



Figure 4.3 Effect of disruption of ZmcytC on glucose utilization and ethanol production. Cells were grown in 30 ml of YPD medium at 30 °C (**A**) or 39 °C (**B**) under static conditions and 30 °C (**C**) or 39 °C (**D**) under a shaking condition (200 rpm). Glucose and ethanol concentrations were determined at the time indicated. Open and closed circles represent glucose concentration in the medium of the ZmcytC mutant and parental strains, respectively. Open and closed columns represent ethanol concentration on the ZmcytC mutant and parental strains, respectively.

4.3.3 Sensitivity to H₂O₂ of a disrupted mutant of ZmcytC

Since ZmcytC was expected to encode cytochrome *c* peroxidase, the sensitivity to H₂O₂ of $\Delta ZmcytC$ was examined on plates containing filter discs that absorbed different volumes of 10% H₂O₂ (Figure 4.4A and B). $\Delta ZmcytC$ showed halos larger than those of the parental strain, suggesting that the mutation caused cells to be hypersensitive to H₂O₂. The effect of ZmcytC on sensitivity to H₂O₂ was further examined by introduction of pZAZMCYTC into $\Delta ZmcytC$ (Figure 4.4C) and its parent (Figure 4.4D). In the case of $\Delta ZmcytC$, the introduction of the plasmid clone greatly reduced the halo size compared to the control strain harboring pZA22. Similar but slightly smaller effect was observed in experiments with the parental strain. These results suggest that ZmCytC contributes to the protection against oxidative stress. Notably, comparison of halo sizes at the same concentration of H_2O_2 in Figure 4.4B, C and D revealed that introduction of even an empty vector caused hypersensitivity to H_2O_2 . Maintenance of the plasmid might be a burden to cells.



Figure 4.4 Effect of disruption or increased expression of ZmcytC on sensitivity to exogenous H_2O_2 .

Disc diffusion assay was performed on YPD plates at 30 °C as described in Experimental Procedures. Typical examples are shown in **A**. Halo diameters determined were shown in **B** for the *Zmcyt*C mutant (open columns) and parental (closed columns) strains, in **C** for *Zmcyt*C mutant/pZAZMCYTC (open columns) and *Zmcyt*C mutant/pZA22 (closed columns) and in **D** for the parental strain/pZAZMCYTC (open columns) and the parental strain/ pZA22 (closed columns). Reported values are the mean (\pm SD) of three independent experiments. *p* values were calculated by two-sample *t*-test assuming equal variances.

4.3.4 Expression of genes presumably related to oxidative stress response and effect of a disrupted mutation of *ZmcytC* on their expression

On the basis of the function of ZmCytC in protection of oxidative stress as described above, it was assumed that the ZmcytC disruption affected the expression of genes related to oxidative stress response, Zmcat, Zmsod, ZmahpC and ZMO1573. The assumption was examined by RT-PCR with total RNA prepared from cells that were grown in YPD at 30 °C and 37 °C under static or shaking conditions (Figure 4.5). The band intensity in each PCR cycle corresponded to the level of mRNA examined. The intensity of RT-PCR products of ZmcytC in the parental strain was stronger at 37 °C than that of 30 °C under both static and shaking conditions and was stronger under the shaking condition than under the static condition at both temperatures. There was no band in Δ ZmcytC, confirming disruption of the ZmcytC gene. The intensity of products of ZMO1573 was also stronger at a higher temperature under the shaking condition. Therefore, ZmcytC and ZMO1573 are thought to be up-regulated at a higher temperature, a condition in which oxidative stress is more accumulated. On the other hand, the results suggest that Zmcat is down-regulated at a high temperature.

Next, the effect of the ZmcytC disruption on expression of Zmsod, Zmcat, ZmahpC and ZMO1573 was examined by comparison of the intensities of RT-PCR products from the mutant and the parent. A significant difference in the intensity was observed in ZmahpC and ZMO1573 under the shaking condition at 37 °C and in Zmsod and ZmahpC under the static condition at 37 °C. These results suggest that Zmsod, ZmahpC and ZMO1573 are complementarily expressed to the ZmcytC mutation. ZmCytC may thus be crucial for the protection of Z. mobilis from oxidative stress, especially at a high temperature.



Figure 4.5 Expression of ZmcytC, Zmsod, Zmcat, ZmahpC and ZMO1573 under static and shaking conditions at 30 °C or 37 °C. Δ ZmcytC and the parental cells were grown in YPD medium at 30 °C (**A**) or 37 °C (**B**) under a static and shaking condition (200 rpm) at 30 °C (**C**) or 37 °C (**D**) for 24 h, from which total RNA was prepared. RT-PCR was then carried out with 0.1 µg of total RNA except that 0.001 µg of total RNA was used for 16S rRNA, and PCR products from 20, 25, 30 and 35 cycles were analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis. **E** Relative band intensity of bands in **A-D** was determined as described in Experimental Procedures.

4.3.5 Peroxidase activity of ZmCytC and its possible electron donor

Peroxidase activities of the $\Delta ZmcytC$ and parental strain in membrane fractions were compared (Table 4.3). Ubiquinol-1 peroxidase activity was detected in the parental cells, but only a trace of amount of ubiquinol-1 peroxidase activity was detected in the mutant cells. NADH peroxidase activity in the mutant was also significantly lower than that in the parental cells. These results suggest that ZmCytC functions as a peroxidase in the inner membrane and receives electrons from the respiratory chain.

Z. mobilis possesses a simple respiratory chain consisting of dehydrogenase, ubiquinone, and ubiquinol oxidase [Sootsuwan et al., 2007]. The organism, however, retains the cytochrome bc_1 complex and possibly its electron acceptor as a cytochrome c, though there is no cytochrome c oxidase in its genome. We thus examined whether ZmCytC accepts electrons via the cytochrome bc_1 complex, by using antimycin A as an inhibitor of cytochrome bc_1 complex. The addition of antimycin A greatly reduced NADH peroxidase activity in the parental strain. The remaining activity was nearly the same as the level of NADH peroxidase activity in $\Delta ZmcytC$. On the other hand, the activity of ubiquinol-1 peroxidase was hardly inhibited by antimycin A, and it is therefore likely that the cytochrome bc_1 complex functions as the electron donor for ZmCytC. Table 4.3 Peroxidase and oxidase activities in membrane fractions from the parental and *AZmcytC* cells

				Activities (U/mg protein) ^a	mg protein) ^a		
Strains	Cytochrome NADH	NADH	HQAN	UQ1H2	UQ1H2	Antimycin A ^c	
	c peroxidase ^b Oxidase	Oxidase	Peroxidase	Oxidase	Peroxidase		
	4					NADH Peroxidase UQ ₁ H ₂ Peroxidase	Q1H2 Peroxidase
Parent	ND	2.04 + 0.13	1.30 + 0.20	13.62 + 2.08	13.62 + 2.08 7.91 + 1.10	0.37 + 0.01 6.9	6.90 + 1.33
AZmcytC ND	ND	1.60 + 0.39	0.44 + 0.05	6.80 + 0.50 $0.35 + 0.00$	0.35 + 0.00	T	
^a Cells were	orown in VPD	medium for 24	h under shakir	or condition at 3	0 °C. Prenaratic	^a Cells were prown in YPD medium for 24 h under shaking condition at 30 °C. Prenaration of membrane fractions and measurement	and measurement

of enzyme activities were performed as described in Experimental Procedures. Reported values are the mean (±SD) of three Cells were grown in YPD meanum for 24 h under shaking condition at 30 °C. Preparation of membrane fractions and measurement independent experiments.

 $^{\rm b}$ Reduced horse heart cytochrome c was used. ND, not detectable,

 $^{\circ}$ Activities in the presence of 50 μM antimycin A.

4.4 Discussion

ZmCytC in Z. mobilis has been annotated as cytochrome c peroxidase [Seo et al., 2005], though it seems to possess three heme c-binding motifs similar to ubiquinol peroxidase in A. actinomycetemcomitans [Yamada et al., 2007; Takashima et al., 2010]. In order to determine the physiological function of ZmCytC and its electron donor, ZmcytC-disrupted mutant was constructed and examined. Our findings suggest a unique strategy of the organism to protect cells against H₂O₂ in association with respiratory chain.

CCP and ubiquinol peroxidase are thought to contribute to protection against exogenous oxidative stress. The ZmcytC mutant was shown to exhibite more sensitivity than the parental strain to exogenous H_2O_2 (Figure 4.4) and reduced growth at a high temperature under the shaking condition (Figure 4.2). Since such a growth defect was obvious under the shaking condition but not under the static condition, the defective phenotype may be due to the critical level of endogenously generated H_2O_2 , which was suggested to be accumulated more at a high temperature. The ZmcytC mutant and parental strains became filamentous under the shaking condition at high temperatures. This significant morphology may be due to inhibition of cell division as observed when DNA damage is accumulated. H₂O₂ oxidizes solvent-exposed iron, resulting in the formation of hydroxyl radicals which severely damage DNA molecules. In such a situation, cells stop cell dividing and become filamentous [Zagorski, 2009]. The ZmcytC mutation caused an increase in the expression of genes for antioxidant enzymes, Zmsod, ZmahpC and ZMO1573, especially at a high temperature. Such a response, however, did not fully suppress the ZmcytC mutation under the shaking condition at a high temperature. These finding and the up-regulation of ZmcytC at a high temperature suggest that ZmCytC as a H₂O₂-degrading enzyme is crucial for survival of Z. mobilis at a high temperature.

Structural comparison with other CCPs including the extensively analyzed ubiquinol peroxidase of *A. actinomycetemcomitans* [Yamada et al., 2007; Takashima et al., 2010] suggests that *Z. mobilis* ZmCytC is a membrane-bound peroxidase with three heme *c*-binding motifs. ZmCytC-dependent peroxidase activity was detected in membrane fractions when ubiquinol or NADH, but not reduced horse heart cytochrome

c, was used as an electron donor. Surprisingly, NADH peroxidase, but not ubiquinol peroxidase was inhibited by antimycin A, which is known to be an inhibitor for the cytochrome bc_1 complex (Table 4.3), suggesting that the bc_1 complex mediates the electron transfer from NADH to ZmCytC. Cytochrome c_{552} bearing a putative signal sequence is expected to be an additional mediator [Sootwan et al., 2007]. If this is the case, electrons from the cytochrome bc_1 complex via cytochrome c_{552} are fed by ZmCytC to H₂O₂ in the periplasm. Considering the report that purified tri-heme CCP in *A. actinomycetemcomitans* catalyzes the peroxidation reaction with ubiquinol as a substrate, ZmCytC may accept electrons from ubiquinol in addition to cytochrome *c*. In the former case, the electron transfer occurs as the order of type II NADH dehydrogenase-ubiquinol-cytochrome bc_1 complex-cytochrome c_{552} -ZmCytC. Since there is no cytochrome *c* oxidase in *Z. mobilis* [Sootsuwan et al., 2007], it is thought that ZmCytC plays an important role in the formation of membrane potential at the cytochrome bc_1 complex site. Further study is required for this speculation.

References

- Abresch EC, Paddock ML, Villalobos M, Chang C, Melvin Y, Interaction between cytochrome c₂ and photosynthetic reaction center from *Rhodobacter sphaeroides*:
 Role of inter- protein hydrogen bonds in binding and electron transfer. Biochemistry 2008; 47:13318–13325.
- Adams DE, West SC (1996) Bypass of DNA heterologies during RuvAB-mediated threeand four-strand branch migration. J Mol Biol 1996; 263:582–596.
- Agrawal M, Mao Z, Chen RR, Adaptation yields a highly efficient xylose-fermenting Zymomonas mobilis strain. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2011; 108:777–85.
- Aiba H, Adhya S, de Cromburgghe B, Evidence for two functional gal promoters in intact *Escherichia coli* cells. J Biol Chem 1981; 256:11905–11910.
- Al Refaii A, Alix JH, Ribosome biogenesis is temperature-dependent and delayed in *Escherichia coli* lacking the chaperones DnaK or DnaJ. Mol Microbiol 2009; 71:748–762.
- Al-Deib AA, Mahdi AA, Lloyd RG, Modulation of recombination and DNA repair by the RecG and PriA helicases of *Escherichia coli* K-12. J Bacteriol 1996; 178:6782–6789.
- Alba BM, Leeds JA, Onufryk C, Lu CZ, Gross CA, DegS and YaeL participate sequentially in the cleavage of RseA to activate the sigma(E)-dependent extracytoplasmic stress response. Genes Dev 2002; 16:2156–2168.
- Altintas MM, Eddy CK, Zhang M, McMillan JD, Kompala DS, Kinetic modeling to optimize pentose fermentation in *Zymomonas mobilis*. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2006; 94:273–295.
- Altschul A, Abrams MR, Hogness TR, Cytochrome c peroxidase. J Biol Chem 1940; 136:777–794.

Altschul SF, Gish W, Miller W, Myers EW, Lipman DJ, Basic local alignment search

tool. J Mol Biol. 1990; 215:403-410.

- Arends SJ, Williams K, Scott RJ, Rolong S, Popham DL, Weiss DS, Discovery and characterization of three new *Escherichia coli* septal ring proteins that contain a SPOR domain: DamX, DedD, and RlpA. J Bacteriol 2010; 192:242–255.
- Asuma Y, Hosoyama A, Matsutani M, Furuya N, Horikawa H, Harada T, Whole- genome analyses reveal genetic instability of *Acetobacter pasteurianus*. Nucl. Acids Res. 2009; 1–16.
- Atack JM, Kelly DJ, Structure, mechanism and physiological roles of bacterial cytochrome *c* peroxidases. Adv Microbiol Physiol 2006; 52:73–106.
- Attaiech L, Granadel C, Claverys JP, Martin B. RadC, a misleading name?. J Bacteriol 2008; 190:5729–5732.
- Attfield PV, Stress tolerance: the key to effective strains of industrial baker's yeast. Nat Biotechnol 1997; 15:1351–1357.
- Auesukaree C, Damnernsawad A, Kruatrachue M, Pokethitiyook P, Boonchird C, Kaneko Y, Harashima S, Genome-wide identification of genes involved in tolerance to various environmental stresses in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Appl Genet 2009; 50:301–310.
- Aziz RK, Breitbart M, Edwards RA, Transposases are the most abundant, most ubiquitous genes in nature. Nucleic Acids Research 2010; 1–11.
- Baba T, Ara T, Hasegawa M, Takai Y, Okumura Y, Baba M, Datsenko KA, Tomita M, Wanner BL, Mori H, Construction of *Escherichia coli* K-12 in-frame, single-gene knockout mutants: the Keio collection. Mol Syst Biol 2006; 2:1–8.
- Babiker MA, Banat A, Hoshida H, Ano, A, Nonklang S and Akada R, High-temperature fermentation: how can processes for ethanol production at high temperatures become superior to the traditional process using mesophilic yeast? Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2010; 85:861–867.
- Bai FW, Anderson WA, Moo-Young M, Ethanol fermentation technologies from sugar

and starch feedstocks. Biotechnol Adv 2008; 26:89–105.

- Banat IM, Nigam P, Singh D, Marchant R, MacHale AP, Review: Ethanol production at elevated temperatures and alcohol concentrations: Part I Yeasts in general.
 World J Microbiol Biotechnol 1998; 14:809–821.
- Barak R, Abouhamad WN, Eisenbach M, Both acetate kinase and acetyl coenzyme A synthetase are involved in acetate-stimulated change in the direction of flagellar rotation in *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol 1998; 180:985–988.
- Baratti JC, Bu'lock JD, Zymomonas mobilis: A bacterium for ethanol production. J Biotech Adv 1986; 14:95–115.
- Basso LC, de Amorim HV, de Oliveira AJ, Lopes ML, Yeast selection for fuel ethanol production in Brazil. FEMS Yeast Res. 2008; 8:1155–1163.
- Ben-Zvi AP, Goloubinoff P, Review: mechanisms of disaggregation and refolding of stable protein aggregates by molecular chaperones. J Struct Biol 2001; 135:84–93.
- Bennett RJ, West SC, Resolution of Holliday junctions in genetic recombination: RuvC protein nicks DNA at the point of strand exchange. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93:12217–12222.
- Benschoter AS, Ingram LO, Thermal tolerance of Zymomonas mobilis: Temperature-induced changes in membrane composition. Appl Environ Microbiol 1986; 51:1278–1284.
- Bloor AE, Cranenburgh RM, An efficient method of selectable marker gene excision by Xer recombination for gene replacement in bacterial chromosomes. Appl Environ Microbiol 2006; 72:2520–2525.
- Boorstein WR, Ziegelhoffer T, Craig EA, Molecular evolution of the HSP70 multigene family. J Mol Evol 1994; 38:1–17.
- Borsetti F, Tremaroli V, Michelacci F, Borghese R, Winterstein C, Daldal F, Zannoni D, Tellurite effects on *Rhodobacter capsulatus* cell viability and superoxide dismutase activity under oxidative stress conditions. Research in Microbiology

2005; 156:807-813.

- Britton RA, Lupski JR, Isolation and characterization of suppressors of two *Escherichia coli dnaG* mutations, dnaG2903 and parB. Genetics 1997; 145:867–875.
- Calazans GMT, Lopes CE, Lima RMOC, Defranca FP, Antitumor activities of levans produced by *Zymomonas mobilis* strains. Biotechnol Lett 1997; 19:19–21.
- Carey VC, Ingram LO: Lipid Composition of *Zymomonas mobilis*: Effects of ethanol and glucose. Bacteriology 1983; 154:1291–1300.
- Carmelo, V., Santos, R., Viegas, C.A. and Sa'-Correia, I. Modification of Saccharomyces cerevisiae thermotolerance following rapid exposure to acid stress. Int J Food Microbiol 1998; 42:225–230.
- Cassey B, Guest JR, Attwood MM, Environmental control of pyruvate dehydrogenase complex expression in *Escherichia coli*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 1988; 1159: 325-329.
- Cazetta ML, Celligoi MA, Buzato JB, Scarmino IS, Fermentation of molasses by *Zymomonas mobilis*: effects of temperature and sugar concentration on ethanol production. Bioresour Technol. 2007; 98:2824–2828.
- Chang DE, Smalley DJ, Conway T, Gene expression profiling of *Escherichia coli* growth transitions: an expanded stringent response model. Mol Microbiol 2002; 45:289–306.
- Charoensuk K, Irie A, Lertwattanasakul N, Sootsuwan K, Thanonkeo P, Yamada M, Physiological Importance of Cytochrome c Peroxidase in Ethanologenic Thermotolerant *Zymomonas mobilis*. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 2011; 20:70–82.
- Chiang CJ, Wang JY, Chen PT, Chao YP, Enhanced levan production using chitin-binding domain fused levansucrase immobilized on chitin beads. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2009; 82:445–451.
- Christiansen LC, Chou S, Nygaard P, Saxild HH. Xanthine Metabolism in *Bacillus* subtilis: Characterization of the *xpt-pbuX* Operon and Evidence for Purine- and

Nitrogen-Controlled Expression of Genes Involved in Xanthine Salvage and Catabolism. J Bacteriol 1997; 179(8): 2540–2550.

- Ciani M, Beco L, Comitini F, Fermentation behaviour and metabolic interactions of multistarter wine yeast fermentations. International Journal of Food Microbiology 2006; 239–245.
- Coleman MC, Fish R, Block DE, Temperature-dependent kinetic model for nitrogen-limited wine fermentations. Appl Environ Microb 2007; 73:5875–5884.
- Condon S, Responses of lactic acid bacteria to oxygen. FEMS Microbiol Reviews 1987; 46:269–280.
- Dahl C, Schulte A, Stockdreher Y, Hong C, Grimm F, Sander J, Kim R, Kim SH, Shin DH, Structural and molecular genetic insight into a widespread sulfur oxidation pathway. J Mol Biol 2008; 384:1287–1300.
- Datsenko KA, Wanner BL, One-step inactivation of chromosomal genes in *Escherichia coli* K-12 using PCR products. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000; 97:6640–6645.
- Davidson JF, Whyte B, Bissinger PH, Schiestl RH, Oxidative stress is involved in heat-induced cell death in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93:5116–5121.
- Decatur WA, Fournier MJ, rRNA modifications and ribosome function. Trends Biochem Sci 2002; 27:344–351.
- Deeraksa A, Moonmangmee S, Toyama HMY, Adachi O, Matsushita K, Characterization and spontaneous mutation of a novel gene, *pole*, involved in pellicle formation in *Acetobacter tropicalis* SKU1100. Microbiology 2005; 151:4111–4120.
- Dias JM, Alves T, Bonifacio C, Pereira AS, Trincão J, Bourgeois D, Structural basis for the mechanism of Ca²⁺ activation of the di-heme cytochrome *c* peroxidase from *Pseudomonas nautica* 617. Structure 2004; 12:961–973.
- Dulley J, Grieve P, A simple technique for eliminating interference by detergents in the Lowry method for protein determination. Anal Biochem 1975; 64:136–141.

- Echalier A, Goodhew CF, Pettigrew GW, V. Fülöp, Activation and catalysis of the di-heme cytochrome *c* peroxidase from *Paracoccus pantotrophus*. Structure 2006; 14:107–117.
- Elias M, Tanaka M, Toyama H, Matsushita K, Adachi O, Yamada M, C-terminal periplasmic domain of *Escherichia coli* quinoprotein glucose dehydrogenase transfers electrons to ubiquinone. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:48356–48361.
- Erickson JW, Gross CA, Identification of the sigma E subunit of *Escherichia coli* RNA polymerase: A second alternate sigma factor involved in high-temperature gene expression. Genes Dev 1989; 3:1462–1471.
- Ero R, Peil L, Liiv A, Remme J, Identification of pseudouridine methyltransferase in *Escherichia coli*. RNA. 2008; 14:2223–2233.
- Favaloro B, Tamburro A, Trofino MA, Bologna L, Rotilio D, Heipieper HJ, "Modulation of the glutathione S-transferase in *Ochrobactrum anthropi*: function of xenobiotic substrates and other forms of stress". The Biochemical Journal 2000; 346:553–559.
- Fijalkowska IJ, Dunn RL, Schaaper RM, Genetic requirements and mutational specificity of the *Escherichia coli* SOS mutator activity. J Bacteriol 1997; 179: 7435–7445.
- Frazzon J, Dean DR, Formation of iron-sulfur clusters in bacteria: an emerging field in bioinorganic chemistry. Curr Opin Chem Biol 2003; 7:166–173.
- Fülöp V, Ridout CJ, Greenwood C, Hajdu J, Crystal structure of the di-haem cytochrome c peroxidase from Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Structure 1995; 3:1225–1233.
- Gerding MA, Liu B, Bendezú FO, Hale CA, Bernhardt TG, de Boer PA, Self-enhanced accumulation of FtsN at Division Sites and Roles for Other Proteins with a SPOR domain (DamX, DedD, and RlpA) in *Escherichia coli* cell constriction. J Bacteriol 2009; 191:7383–7401.
- Gerding MA, Ogata Y, Pecora ND, Niki H, de Boer PA, The trans-envelope Tol-Pal complex is part of the cell division machinery and required for proper outer-membrane invagination during cell constriction in *E. coli*. Mol Microbiol.

2007; 63:1008-1025.

- Ghose TK, Bandyopadhyay KK, Studies on immobilized Saccharomyces cerevisiae. II. Effect of temperature distribution on continuous rapid ethanol formation in molasses fermentation. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 2004; 24:797–804.
- Gibbs M, De Moss RD, Anaerobic dissimilation of C14-labelled glucose and fructose by *Pseudomonas lindneri*. J Biol Chem 1954: 207:689–694.
- Gibson BR, Lawrence SJ, Leclaire JP, Powell CD, Smart KA, Yeast responses to stresses associated with industrial brewery handling. FEMS Microbiol Rev 2007; 31:535–69.
- Grandori R, Khalifah P, Boice JA, Fairman R, Giovanielli K, Carey J, Biochemical characterization of WrbA, founding member of a new family of multimeric flavodoxin-like proteins. J Biol Chem 1998; 273:20960–20966.
- Gunasekera TS, Csonka LN, Oleg Paliy O, Genome-wide transcriptional responses of *Escherichia coli* K-12 to continuous osmotic and heat stresses. J Bacteriology 2008; 190:3712–3720.
- Gupta RS, Evolution of the chaperonin families (Hsp60, Hsp10, and Tcp-1) of proteins and the origin of eukaryotic cells. Mol Microbiol 1995; 15:1–11.
- Guyot S, Ferret E, Gervais P, Responses of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* to thermal stress. Biotechnol Bioeng 2005; 92:403–409.
- Guyot S, Pottier L, Ferret E, Gal L, Gervais P, Physiological responses of *Escherichia coli* exposed to different heat-stress kinetics. Arch Microbiol 2010; 192:651–661.
- Haarer BK, Amberg DC, Old yellow enzyme protects the actin cytoskeleton from oxidative stress. Mol Biol Cell 2004; 15:4522–4531.
- Han WC, Byun SH, Kim MH, Sohn EH, Lim JD, Um BH, Kim CH, Kang SA, Jang KH, Production of lactosucrose from sucrose and lactose by a levansucrase from *Zymomonas mobilis*. J Microbiol Biotechnol 2009; 19:1153–60.

Harris RS, Ross KJ, Lombardo MJ, Rosenberg SM, Mismatch repair in Escherichia coli

cells lacking single-strand exonucleases ExoI, ExoVII, and RecJ. J Bacteriol 1998; 180:989–993.

- Hartke A, Giard JC, Laplace JM, Auffray Y, Survival of *Enterococcus faecalis* in an oligotrophic microcosm: changes in morphology, development of general stress resistance, and analysis of protein synthesis. Appl Environ Microbiolol 1998; 64:4238–4245.
- Haydon DJ, Quail MA, Guest JR, A mutation causing constitutive synthesis of the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex in *Escherichia coli* is located within the *pdhR* gene. FEBS Lett 1993; 336:43–47.
- Helmann JD, Chamberlin MJ, Structure and function of bacterial sigma factors. Annu Rev Biochem 1988; 57:839–872.
- Hermans MA, Neuss B, Sahm H, Content and composition of hopanoids in *Zymomonas mobilis* under various growth conditions. J Bacteriol 1991; 173:5592–5595.
- Hsiao HC, Boycheva S, Watmough NJ, Brittain T, Activation of the cytochrome c peroxidase of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. The role of a heme-linked protein loop: A mutagenesis studies. J Inorganic Biochem 1997; 101:1133–1139.
- Huang Y, Dong K, Zhang X, Zhang B, Hou L, Chen N, Chen S, Expression and regulation of the yggG gene of *Escherichia coli*. Curr Microbiol 2008; 56:14–20.
- Ikegami A, Nishiyama K, Matsuyama S, Tokuda H, Disruption of *rpmJ* encoding ribosomal protein L36 decreases the expression of *secY* upstream of the spc operon and inhibits protein translocation in *Escherichia coli*. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 2005; 69:1595–1602.
- Ikeuchi Y, Shigi N, Kato J, Nishimura A, Suzuki T, Mechanistic insights into sulfur relay by multiple sulfur mediators involved in thiouridine biosynthesis at tRNA wobble positions. Mol Cell 2006; 21:97–108.
- Ingram LO, Buttke TM, Effects of alcohols on microorganisms. Adv Microb Physiol 1984; 25:253–300.

- Ingram LO, Gomez PF, Lai X, Moniruzzaman M, Wood BE, Yomano LP, York SW, Metabolic engineering of bacteria for ethanol production. Biotechnol Bioeng 1998; 58:204–14.
- Jeffries TW, Jin YS, Ethanol and thermotolerance in the bioconversion of xylose by yeasts. Adv Appl Microbiol 2000; 47:221–268.
- Kabir MS, Yamashita D, Koyama S, Oshima T, Kurokawa K, Maeda M, Tsunedomi R, Murata M, Wada C, Mori H, Yamada M, Cell lysis directed by sigmaE in early stationary phase and effect of induction of the *rpoE* gene on global gene expression in *Escherichia coli*. Microbiology 2005; 151:2721–2735.
- Kalnenieks U, Galinina N, Strazdina I, Kravale Z, Pickford JL, Rutkis R, Poole RK, NADH dehydrogenase deficiency results in low respiration rate and improved aerobic growth of *Zymomonas mobilis*. Microbiology 2008; 154:989–994.
- Kalnenieks U, Galinina N, Toma M, Pickford JL, Rutkis R, Poole RK, Respiratory behaviour of a Zymomonas mobilis adhB::kan^r mutant supports the hypothesis of two alcohol dehydrogenase isoenzymes catalysing opposite reactions. FEBS Letter 2006; 580:5084–5088.
- Kampfenkel K, Braun V, Membrane topologies of the TolQ and TolR proteins of *Escherichia coli*: inactivation of TolQ by a missense mutation in the proposed first transmembrane segment. J Bacteriol 1993; 75:4485–4491.
- Kang PJ, Craig EA, Identification and characterization of a new *Escherichia coli* gene that is a dosage-dependent suppressor of a *dnaK* deletion mutation. J Bacteriol 1990; 172:2055–2064.
- Klein G, Dartigalongue C, Raina S, Phosphorylation-mediated regulation of heat shock response in *Escherichia coli*. Mol Microbiol 2003; 48:269–285.
- Klein G, Lindner B, Brabetz W, Brade H, Raina S, *Escherichia coli* K-12 Suppressor-free Mutants Lacking Early Glycosyltransferases and Late Acyltransferases: minimal lipopolysaccharide structure and induction of envelope stress response. J Biol Chem 2009; 284:15369–15389.

- Kneidinger B, Marolda C, Graninger M, Zamyatina A, McArthur F, Kosma P, Valvano MA, Messner P, Biosynthesis pathway of ADP-L-glycero-beta-D-manno-heptose in *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol 2002; 184:363–369.
- Kouvelis VN, Saunders E, Brettin TS, Bruce D, Detter C, Han C, Typas MA, Pappas KM, Complete genome sequence of the ethanol producer *Zymomonas mobilis* NCIMB 11163. J Bacteriol 2009; 191:7140–7141.
- Kow YW, Serial review: oxidative DNA damage and repair: Repair of deaminated bases in DNA. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 2002; 33:886–893.
- Kuwayama H, Obara S, Morio T, Katoh M, Urushihara H, Tanaka Y, PCR-mediated generation of a gene disruption construct without the use of DNA ligase and plasmid vectors. Nucleic Acids Res 2002; 30:1–5.
- La Roche SD, Leisinger T, "Sequence analysis and expression of the bacterial dichloromethane dehalogenase structural gene, a member of the glutathione S-transferase supergene family". J Bacteriol 1990; 172:164–171.
- Lampe DJ, Witherspoon DJ, Soto-Adames FN, Robertson HM, Recent horizontal transfer of mellifera subfamily mariner transposons into insect lineages representing four different orders shows that selection acts only during horizontal transfer. Mol Biol Evol 2003; 20:554–562.
- Larrea AA, Pedroso IM, Malhotra A, Myers RS, Identification of two conserved aspartic acid residues required for DNA digestion by a novel thermophilic Exonuclease VII in *Thermotoga maritima*. Nucleic Acids Research 2008; 36:5992–6003.
- Lauhon CT, Kambampati R, The *iscS* gene in *Escherichia coli* is required for the biothynthesis of 4-thiouridine, thiamine, and NAD. J Biol Chem 2000; 280:26760–26769.
- Lauhon CT, Requirement for IscS in biosynthesis of all thio-nucleosides in *Escherichia* coli. J Bacteriol 2002; 184:6820–6829.

Lehninger AL, Nelson DL, Cov MM, Protein Metabolism: Principles of Biochemistry,

Neal V(ed) 1993, pp 892. New York: Worth Publisher, Inc.

- Leonard TA, Møller-Jensen J, Löwe J, Towards understanding the molecular basis of bacterial DNA segregation. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 2005; 360:523-535.
- Lertwattanasakul N, Shigemoto E, Rodrussamee N, Limtong S, Thanonkeo P, Yamada M, Crucial role of alcohol dehydrogenase Adh3 in *Kluyveromyces marxianus* mitochrondrial metabolism. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 2009; 73:2720–2726.
- Lipinska B, Zylicz M, Georgopoulos C, The HtrA (DegP) protein, essential for *Escherichia coli* survival at high temperatures, is an endopeptidase. J Bacteriol 1990; 172:1791–1797.
- Lui YG, Mitsukawa N, Oosumi T and Whittier R, Efficient isolation and mapping of *Arabidopsis Thaliana* T-DNA insert junctions by thermal asymmetric interlaced PCR. The Plant Journal 1995; 8:457–463.
- Lyngstadaas A, Løbner-Olesen A, Boye E, Characterization of three genes in the *dam*-containing operon of *Escherichia coli*. Mol Gen Genet 1995; 247:546–554.
- Manaia CM, Moore ERB, *Pseudomonas thermotolerans* sp. nov., a thermotolerant species of the genus *Pseudomonas sensustricto*. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 2002; 52:2203–2209.
- Mann PA, Xiong L, Mankin AS, Chau AS, Mendrick CA, Najarian DJ, Cramer CA, Loebenberg D, Coates E, Murgolo NJ, Aarestrup FM, Goering RV, Black TA, Hare RS, McNicholas PM, EmtA, a rRNA methyltransferase conferring high-level evernimicin resistance. Mol Microbiol 2001; 41:1349–1356.
- Masai E, Katayama Y, Kubota S, Kawai S, Yamasaki M, Morohoshi N, "A bacterial enzyme degrading the model lignin compound beta-etherase is a member of the glutathione-S-transferase superfamily". FEBS Letters 1993; 323:135–140.

- Matsushita K, Yamada M, Shinagawa E, Adashi O, Ameyama M, Membrane- bound respiratory chain of *Psudomans aeruginosa* grown aerobically. J Bacteriol 1980; 141:389–392.
- Michaelis EK, Michaelis ML, Physico-chemical interactions between alcohol and biologial membranes. Res Adv Alcohol Drug Probl 1983; 7:127–173.
- Michel G, Azoulay T, Starka J, Ethanol effect on the membrane protein pattern of *Zymomonas mobilis*. Ann Inst Pasteur Microbiol 1985; 136:173–179.
- Michel GPF, Starka J, Effect of ethanol and heat stresses on the protein pattern of *Zymomonas mobilis*. J Bacteriol 1985; 165:1040–1042.
- Mihara H, Esaki N, Bacterial cysteine desulfurases: their function and mechanisms. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2002; 60:12–30.
- Mogi T, Mizuochi-Asai E, Endou S, Akimoto S, Nakamura H, Role of a putative third subunit YhcB on the assembly and function of cytochrome bd-type ubiquinol oxidase from *Escherichia coli*. Biochim Biophys Acta 2006; 1757:860–864.
- Morimoto RI, Kroeger PE, Cotto JJ, The transcriptional regulation of heat shock genes. a plethora of heat shock factors and regulatory conditions. In: Feige U, Morimoto RI, Yahara I, and Polla BS, editors. The transcriptional regulation of heat shock genes: A plethora of heat shock factors and regulatory conditions. Basle: Birkhäuser-Verlag. 1996, pp. 139–163.
- Morita M, Kanemori M, Yanagi H, Yura T, Heat-induced synthesis of sigma32 in *Escherichia coli*: structural and functional dissection of *rpoH* mRNA secondary structure. J Bacteriol 1999; 181:401–410.
- Motamedi MR, Szigety SK, Rosenberg SM, Double-strand-break repair recombination in *Escherichia coli*: physical evidence for a DNA replication mechanism in vivo. Genes Dev 1999; 13:2889–2903.
- Murata M, Fujimoto H, Nishimura K, Charoensuk K, Nagamitsu H, Raina S, Kosaka T, Oshima T, Ogasawara N, Yamada M. Molecular strategy for survival at a critical

high temperature in Eschierichia coli 2011. PLoS ONE (in press).

- Narberhaus F, Kaser R, Nocker A, Hennecke H, A novel DNA element that controls bacterial heat-shock gene expression. Mol Microbiol 1998; 28:315–323.
- Niba ET, Naka Y, Nagase M, Mori H, Kitakawa M, A genome-wide approach to identify the genes involved in biofilm formation in *E. coli*. DNA Res 2007; 14:237-246.
- Nikaido H, Molecular basis of bacterial outer membrane permeability revisited. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 2003; 67:593–656.
- Nitta T, Nagamitsu H, Murata M, Izu H, Yamada M, Function of the □^E Regulon in dead cell lysis in stationary phase in *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol 2000; 182:5231–5237.
- Noor R, Murata M, Yamada M, Oxidative stress as a trigger for growth phase-specific sigmaE-dependent cell lysis in *Escherichia coli*. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 2009; 17:177–187.
- Ohara M, Wu HC, Sankaran K, Rick PD, Identification and characterization of a new lipoprotein, NlpI, in *Escherichia coli* K-12. J Bacteriol 1999; 181:4318–4325.
- Orser CS, Dutton J, Lange C, Jablonski P, Xun L, Hargis M, "Characterization of a Flavobacterium glutathione S-transferase gene involved reductive dechlorination". Journal of Bacteriology 1993; 175:2640–2644.
- Osman YA, Ingram LO, *Zymomonas mobilis* mutants with an increased rate of alcohol production. Appl Environ Microbiol. 1987; 53:1425–32.
- Ourisson G, Rohmer M, Hopanoids II. Biohopanoids: a novel class of bacterial lipids. Chem Res 1992; 25:403–4085.
- Panesar PS, Marwaha SS, Kennedy JF, *Zymomonas mobilis*: An alternative ethanol producer. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 2006; 81:623–635.
- Patridge EV, Ferry JG, WrbA from *Escherichia coli* and *Archaeoglobus fulgidus* is an NAD(P)H:Quinone Oxidoreductase. J Bacteriol 2006; 188:3498–3506.

- Perron K, Comte R, van Delden C, DksA represses ribosomal gene transcription in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* by interacting with RNA polymerase on ribosomal promoters. Mol Microbiol 2005; 56:1087–1102.
- Piper PW, The heat shock and ethanol stress responses of yeast exhibit extensive similarity and functional overlap. FEMS Microbiol Lett 1995; 134:121–127.
- Pizarro F, Varela C, Martabit C, Bruno C, Pe'rez-Correa JR, Agosin E, Coupling kinetic expressions and metabolic networks for predicting wine fermentations. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 2007; 98:986–998.
- Raina S, Georgopoulos C, The *htrM* gene, whose product is essential for *Escherichia coli* viability only at elevated temperatures, is identical to the *rfaD* gene. Nucleic Acids Res 1991; 19:3811–3819.
- Raina S, Missiakas D, Georgopoulos C, The *rpoE* gene encoding the sigma E (sigma 24) heat-shock sigma factor of *Escherichia coli*. EMBO J 1995; 14:1043–1055.
- Reed KE, Cronan JE Jr, Lipoic acid metabolism in *Escherichia coli*: sequencing and functional characterization of the *lipA* and *lipB* genes. J Bacteriol 1993; 175:1325–1336.
- René O, Alix JH, Late steps of ribosome assembly in *E. coli* are sensitive to a severe heat stress but are assisted by the HSP70 chaperone machine. Nucleic Acids Res 2010; 39:1855–1867.
- Rice PA, Baker TA, Comparative architecture of transposase and integrase complexes. Nat Struct Biol 2001; 8:302–307.
- Riezman H, Why do cells require heat shock proteins to survive heat stress? Cell Cycle 2004; 3:61–63.
- Rojas DM, Vásquez CC, Sensitivity to potassium tellurite of *Escherichia coli* cells deficient in CSD, CsdB and IscS cysteine desulfurases. Res Microbiol 2005; 156:465–471.

- Roncero C, Casadaban MJ, Genetic analysis of the genes involved in synthesis of the lipopolysaccharide core in *Escherichia coli* K-12: three operons in the *rfa* locus. J Bacteriol 1992; 174:3250–3260.
- Rudolph B, Gebendorfer KM, Buchner J, Winter J, Evolution of *Escherichia coli* for growth at high temperatures. J Biol Chem 2010; 285:19029–19034.
- Ruiz-Roig C, Viéitez C, Posas F, Nadal de E, The Rpd3L HDAC complex is essential for the heat stress response in yeast. Molecular Microbiology 2010; 76:1049–1062.
- Sambrook J, Russell DW, Molecular cloning: A Laboratory Manual, ed 3rd Cold Spring Harbour, Cold Spring Harbour Laboratory Press, 2001.
- Sanger F, Nicklen S, Coulson AR, DNA sequencing with chain terminating inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1977; 74:5463–7.
- Saveson CJ, Lovett ST, Tandem Repeat Recombination Induced by Replication Fork Defects in *Escherichia coli* Requires a Novel Factor, RadC. Genetics 1999; 152:5–13.
- Seo J, Chong H, Park HS, Yoon K, Jung C, Kim JJ, Hong JH, Kim H, Kim J, Park CJ, Oh H, Lee J, Jin S, Um H, Lee H, Oh S, Kim J, Kang HL, Lee SY, Lee KJ, Kang HS, The genome sequence of the ethanologenic Bacterium Zymomonas mobilis ZM4. Nat Biotechnol 2005; 23:63–68.
- Shigi N, Sakaguchi Y, Asai S, Suzuki T, Watanabe K, Common thiolation mechanism in the biosynthesis of tRNA thiouridine and sulphur-containing cofactors. EMBO J 2008; 7:3267–3278.
- Shimizu H, Schuller DJ, Lanzilotta WN, Sundaramoorthy M, Arciero DM, Hooper AB and Poulos TL, Crystal structure of *Nitrosomonas europaea* cytochrome *c* peroxidase and the structural basis for ligand switching in bacterial di-heme peroxidases. Biochemistry 2004; 40:13483–13490.
- Singh D, Nigam P, Banat IM, Marchant R, McHale AP, Review: Ethanol production at elevated temperatures and alcohol concentrations: Part II – Use of *Kluyveromyces marxianus* IMB3. World Journal of Microbiology & Biotechnology 1998;

14:823-834.

- Soares NC, Cabral MP, Gayoso C, Mallo S, Rodriguez-Velo P, Fernández-Moreira E, Bou G, Associating growth-phase-related changes in the proteome of *Acinetobacter baumannii* with increased resistance to oxidative stress. J Proteome Res 2010; 9:1951–1964.
- Sootsuwan K, Lertwattanasakul N, Thanonkeo P, Matsushita K, Yamada M, Analysis of the respiratory chain in ethanologenic *Zymomonas mobilis* with a cyanide-resistant *bd*-type ubiquinol oxidase as the only terminal oxidase and its possible physiological roles. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnology 2007; 14:163–175.
- Sprenger GA, Carbohydrate metabolism in *Zymomonas mobilis*: a catabolic highway with some scenic routes. FEMS Microbiol Lett 1996; 145:301–307.
- Swings J, De Ley J, The biology of Zymomonas. Bacteriological Rev. 1977; 41:1-46.
- Taherzadeh MJ, Eklund R, Gustafsson L, Niklasson C, Liden G, Characterization and fermentation of dilute-acid hydrolyzates from wood. Ind Eng Chem Res 1997; 36:4659–4665.
- Takashima E, Konishi K, Characterization of a quinol peroxidase mutant in Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2008; 286:66–70.
- Taylor SV, Kelleher NL, Kinsland C, Chiu HJ, Costello CA, Backstrom AD, McLafferty FW, Begley TP, Thiamin biosynthesis in *Escherichia coli*. Identification of this thiocarboxylate as the immediate sulfur donor in the thiazole formation. J Biol Chem 1998; 273:16555–16560.
- Tehranchi AK, Blankschien MD, Zhang Y, Halliday JA, Srivatsan A, Peng J, Herman C, Wang JD, The transcription factor DksA prevents conflicts between DNA replication and transcription machinery. Cell 2010; 141:595–605.
- Thanonkeo P, Effect of ethanol and heat stress on physiological responses in *Zymomonas mobilis*, pp 183–196. *In* Yamada, M (ed), Survival and death In bacteria, Kerala, Research Signpost 2005.

- Thanonkeo P, Sootsuwan K, Leelavacharamas V, Yamada M, Cloning and transcriptional analysis of groES and groEL in ethanol-producing bacterium *Zymomonas mobilis* TISTR 548. Pak J Biol Sci 2007; 10:13–22.
- Toh SM, Xiong L, Bae T, Mankin AS, The methyltransferase YfgB/RlmN is responsible for modification of adenosine 2503 in 23S rRNA. RNA. 2008; 14:98–106.
- Tomoyasu T, Ogura T, Tatsuta T, Bukau B, Levels of DnaK and DnaJ provide tight control of heat shock gene expression and protein repair in *Escherichia coli*. Mol Microbiol 1998; 30:567–581.
- Trusca D, Scott S, Thompson C, Bramhill D, Bacterial SOS checkpoint protein SulA inhibits polymerization f purified FtsZ cell division protein. J Bacteriol 1998; 180:3946–3953.
- Tsunedomi R, Izu H, Kawai T, Matsushita K, Ferenci T, Yamada M, The activator of GntII genes for gluconate metabolism, GntH, exerts negative control of GntR-regulated GntI genes in *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol 2003; 185:1783–1795.
- Uden van N, Duarte H da C, Effects of ethanol on the temperature profile of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Z Allg Mikrobiol 1982; 21:743–750.
- Uehara T, Parzych KR, Dinh T, Bernhardt TG, Daughter cell separation is controlled by cytokinetic ring-activated cell wall hydrolysis. EMBO J 2010; 29:1412–1422.
- Valentin-Hansen P, Johansen J, Rasmussen AA, Small RNAs controlling outer membrane porins. Curr Opin Microbiol 2007; 10:152–155.
- van der Veen S, Abee T, de Vos WM, Wells-Bennik MHJ, Genome-wide screen for *Listeriamonocytogenes* genes important for growth at high temperatures. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2009; 295:195–203.
- Viikari L, Formation of levan and sorbitol from sucrose by Zymornonas mobilis. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 1984; 19:252–255.
- Viikari L, Gisler R, By-products in the fermentation of sucrose by different *Zymomonas*-strains. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 1986; 23:240–244.

- Wall D, Delaney J M, Fayet O, Lipinska B, Yamamoto T, Georgopoulos C, arc-dependent thermal regulation and extragenic suppression of the *Escherichia* coli cytochrome d operon. J Bacteriol 1992; 174:6554–6562.
- Watts T, Cazier D, Healey D, Buskirk A, SmpB contributes to reading frame selection in the translation of transfer-messenger RNA. J Mol Biol 2009; 391:275–281.
- Wei P, Li Z, Lin Y, He P, Jiang N, Improvement of the multiple-stress tolerance of an ethanologenic Saccharomyces cerevisiae strain by freeze-thaw treatment. Biotechnol Lett 2007; 29:1501–1508.
- Welch RA, Burland V, Plunkett G, Redford P, Roesch P, Rasko D, Buckles EL, Liou SR, Boutin A, Hackett J, Stroud D, Mayhew GF, Rose DJ, Zhou S, Schwartz DC, Perna NT, Mobley HL, Donnenberg MS, Blattner FR, Extensive mosaic structure revealed by the complete genome sequence of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002; 99:17020–4.
- Xiao H, Dong Z, O'Donnell M, DNA polymerase III accessory proteins. IV. Characterization of *chi* and *psi*. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:11779–11784.
- Yamada H, Takashima E, Konishi K, Molecular characterization of the membrane-bound quinol peroxidase functional connected to the respiratory chain. FEBS J 2007; 274:853–66.
- Yamamoto N, Nakahigashi K, Nakamichi T, Yoshino M, Takai Y, Touda Y, Furubayashi
 A, Kinjyo S, Dose H, Hasegawa M, Datsenko KA, Nakayashiki T, Tomita M,
 Wanner BL, Mori H, Update on the Keio collection of *Escherichia coli* single-gene deletion mutants. Mol Syst Biol 2009; 5:335–337.
- Yang S, Pelletier DA, Lu TYS, Brown SD, The Zymomonas mobilis regulator hfq contributes to tolerance against multiple lignocellulosic pretreatment inhibitors. BMC Microbiol 2010; 135:1–11.
- Yang W, Ni L, Somerville RL, A stationary-phase protein of *Escherichia coli* that affects the mode of association between the *trp* repressor protein and operator-bearing DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993; 90:5796–5800.

- Yoo SH, Yoon EJ, Cha J, Lee HG, Antitumor activity of levan polysaccharides from selected microorganisms. Int J Biol Macromol 2004; 34:37–41.
- Yura T, Kanemori M, Morita MT, The heat shock response: regulation and function. In: Storz G, Hennecke H, editors. Bacterial stress responses. Washington, D.C. ASM Press. 2000, pp. 3–18.
- Zagorski N, Imlay J, The chemistry behind oxidative damage. ASBMB Today 2009; 33-36.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost I would like to thank my advisor Prof. Dr. Mamoru Yamada. He has taught me, both consciously and un-consciously, how good experimental in applied molecular bioscience is done. I appreciate all his contributions of time and ideas, to make my Ph.D. experience productive and stimulating.

Beside my advisor, I am also thankful for Prof. Dr. Kazunobu Matstushita, Dr. Tomoyuki Kosaka and Dr. Toshiharu Yakushi for their helpful discussion, as well as the collaboration, and Dr. Ponthap Thanonkeo for encouraging me to study on this program.

I would also like to acknowledge the Yamaguchi University officers who pay high attention and was always ready to help me. I have appreciated their collaboration. I am especially thanking my reading committee members for their time, interest, and helpful comments.

I would like to thank Rajamangala University of Technology Tawan-ok, Thailand for financial support throughout my doctoral course.

My time at Yamaguchi Unversity was made enjoyable in large part due to the many friends and groups that became a part of my life. I am grateful for time spent with all my friends, for my finished up my degree, and for many other people and memories.

Lastly, I would like to thank my family for all their love and encouragement for my parents who raised me with a love of science and supported me in all my pursuits. And most of all for my loving, supportive, encouraging, and patient husband Noi and my lovely son Pang Pang whose faithful backup support my heart during the stages of this Ph.D. is so appreciated. Thank you.

> Kannikar Charoensuk Yamaguchi University May 2011

- 101 -

Summary

Molecular mechanism for coping with critical heat and oxidative stresses in thermotolerant Zymomonas mobilis

High-temperature fermentation technology with thermotolerant mesophiles is expected to become one of the economical next-generation fermentation technologies, reduces cooling cost, contamination risk and operation cost in addition to advantages specific for ethanol production including higher saccharification and fermentation rates and continuous ethanol removal. For survival at high temperature, thermotolerant mesophiles are expected to possess a mechanism different from non-thermotolerant mesophiles. I thus focused on molecular mechanisms supporting survival at a critical high temperature (CHT) in *Escherichia coli* and thermotolerant *Zymomonas mobilis* that can be alive at 47°C and 39°C, respectively. Additionally, one of strategies for dealing with oxidative stress in *Z. mobilis* was investigated since oxidative stress is increased as temperature is elevated.

Escherichia coli genome-wide screening with a single-gene knockout library provided a list of genes indispensable for growth at 47°C, called thermotolerant genes. Genes for which expression was affected by exposure to CHT were identified by DNA chip analysis. Unexpectedly, the former contents did not overlap with the latter except for *dnaJ* and *dnaK*, indicating that a specific set of non-heat shock genes is required for the organism to survive under such a severe condition. More than half of the mutants of the thermotolerant genes were found to be sensitive to H_2O_2 at 30°C, suggesting that the mechanism of thermotolerance partially overlaps with that of oxidative stress resistance. Their encoded enzymes or proteins are related to outer membrane organization, DNA double-strand break repair, tRNA modification, protein quality control, translation control or cell division. DNA chip analyses of essential genes suggest that many of the genes encoding ribosomal proteins are down-regulated at CHT. Bioinformatics analysis and comparison with the genomic information of other microbes suggest that *E. coli* possesses several systems for survival at CHT. This analysis allows us to speculate that a lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis system for outer membrane organization and a

sulfur-relay system for tRNA modification have been acquired by horizontal gene transfer.

An ethanologenic thermotolerant Z. mobilis TISTR 548 strain that was chosen as a thermotolerant strain was subjected to transposon mutagenesis via transconjugation with a mobilizable plasmid harboring the transposable element (Tn10) and growth experiment at 39°C, CHT for the strain. Among about 4,000 of the transconjugants obtained, 42 mutants that were found to be dramatically defective in growth at the CHT, which were selected as thermosensitive mutant strains. The insertion site of Tn10 within the genome was then determined by thermal asymmetric interlaced-(TAIL) PCR followed by DNA sequencing. As a result, 17 genes related to the thermotolerance have been identified. Some of these were related to membrane biosynthesis and lipid metabolism, recombination for DNA repair and replication, tRNA modification, transportation system, which may have a direct or in direct relation to the thermotolerance mechanism. Interestingly, the results also revealed a partial overlapping between genes required for the thernotolerance and those for tolerance to other stresses. Our findings provide molecular mechanisms underlying a survival of Z. mobilis at CHT which may advantages in production of ethanol and other useful materials at high temperature.

Z. mobilis ZmCytC as a peroxidase bearing three heme c-binding_motifs was investigated with $\Delta ZmcytC$ constructed. The mutant exhibited filamentous shapes and reduction in growth under a shaking condition at a high temperature compared to the parental strain and became hypersensitive to exogenous H₂O₂. Under the same condition, the mutation caused increased expression of genes for three other antioxidant enzymes. Peroxidase activity, which was detected in membrane fractions with ubiquinol-1 as a substrate but not with reduced horse heart cytochrome c, was almost abolished in $\Delta ZmcytC$. Peroxidase activity was also detected with NADH as a substrate, which was significantly inhibited by antimycin A. NADH oxidase activity of $\Delta ZmcytC$ was found to be about 80% of that of the parental strain. The results suggest the involvement of ZmCytC in the aerobic respiratory chain via the cytochrome bc₁ complex in addition to the previously proposed direct interaction with ubiquinol and its contribution to protection against oxidative stress.

Summary

(Japanese)

題目:耐熱性 Zymomonas mobilis における限界熱ストレスと酸化ストレスに対す る対処分子機構 (Molecular mechanism for coping with critical heat and oxidative stresses in thermotolerant Zymomonas mobilis)

耐熱性中温菌を用いた高温発酵技術は、高い糖化性や発酵率と連続的エタノ ール除去を含むエタノール生産に関する利点に加えて冷却コスト削減・雑菌混 入抑制・操作コスト削減を可能にする、経済的な次世代発酵技術として注目さ れている。耐熱性中温菌は、高温下での生存のために非耐熱性中温菌とは異な った機構をもつことが予想される。本研究では47℃で生育可能な Escherichia coli と 39℃で生育可能な Zymomonas mobilis おいて、生育限界温度(CHT)での生存 分子機構に焦点を当てた。さらに、温度上昇に伴って酸化ストレスが増加する ことから、酸化ストレスに対処するための分子機構についても検討した。

E. coliのゲノムワイドスクリーニングによって 47 ℃での生育に不可欠な遺 伝子(耐熱性遺伝子)群を同定した。CHT ショックによって発現変動する遺伝 子群を同定した。予想に反して、前者は dnaJ と dnaK を除いて後者と重複して おらず、CHT では特殊な非熱ショック応答遺伝子セットが要求されることが示 された。耐熱性遺伝子変異株の半分以上が 30℃で過酸化水素に感受性であるこ とが判明し、耐熱性機構は部分的に酸化ストレス耐性機構と重複していること が示唆された。耐熱性遺伝子は、外膜の形成、DNA 二本鎖切断修復、tRNA 修 飾、タンパク質品質管理、転写調節、細胞分裂に関係していた。必須遺伝子の 内、多くのリボソームタンパク質遺伝子が CHT で発現抑制されることが示され た。生物情報学的解析とゲノム情報比較によって、E. coli が生育限界温度での生 存のためにいくつかのシステムをもつことが示唆された。特に、リポ多糖の生 合成系と tRNA 修飾のための硫黄リレー系が水平伝播によって獲得されてきた と推測された。

エタノール生産性の耐熱性 Z. mobilis TISTR 548 株について、トランスポゾン (Tn10) 変異処理によって 42 個の CHT 感受性変異株を取得した。ゲノムへの Tn10 の挿入箇所は、TAIL PCR と DNA シークエンシングによって決定した。そ の結果、17個の耐熱性遺伝子を同定した。これらの遺伝子は、膜の生合成や脂質代謝、DNA 組換え修復と複製、tRNA 修飾、輸送系に関与することが分かった。また本研究によって、耐熱性遺伝子群と他のストレス耐性遺伝子群の間で部分的に重複することが示唆された。本研究で明らかになった CHT での生存分子機構はエタノールや有用物質の高温発酵に活かされると期待される。

Z. mobilis のペルオキシダーゼ (ZmCytC) は3つのへムc結合モチーフをも ち、酸化ストレスに対処していると予想される。ZmcytC 欠損変異株は、高温撹 拌条件下において親株と比較して繊維状形態が顕著となり生育の減少を示し、 過酸化水素に対してより強い感受性を示した。ZmcytC 欠損変異は、他の3つの 抗酸化酵素遺伝子の発現上昇を引き起こした。ペルオキシダーゼ活性はユビキ ノール-1 や NADH を基質として膜画分で検出できた。ZmcytC 欠損株ではユビキ ノール-1-ペルオキシダーゼ活性がほとんど見られなかった。NADH-ペルオキシ ダーゼ活性はアンチマイシン A によって強く阻害されたが、ZmcytC 欠損株では NADH オキシダーゼ活性は親株の 80%程度であった。この結果は以前に提唱さ れたユビキノールとの直接的相互関係と酸化ストレスに対する防御への貢献に 加えて、チトクロム bc₁ 複合体を介した好気的呼吸鎖における ZmCytC の関与を 示唆する。

List of publications

1. <u>Kannikar Charoensuk</u>, Akira Irie, Noppon Lertwattanasakul, Kaewta Sootsuwan, Pornthap Thanonkeo and Mamoru Yamada:

Physiological importance of cytochrome *c* peroxidase in ethanologenic thermotolerant *Zymomonas mobilis*. Journol of Molecular Microbiology and Biotechnology Vol. 20 (2011), No. 2 pp. 70-82 (Chapter 4).

2. Masayuki Murata, Hiroko Fujimoto, Kaori Nishimura, <u>Kannikar Charoensuk</u>, Hiroshi Nagamitsu, Satish Raina, Tomoyuki Kosaka, Taku Oshima, Naotake Ogasawara, Mamoru Yamada: Molecular strategy for survival at a critical high temperature in *Eschierichia coli* Journol of PLoS ONE, in press (Chapter 2)

 3. 題目:耐熱性エタノール生産細菌を用いたバイオエタノール生産技術
 著者名:山田 守, <u>カニカ・チャロエンスク</u>,入江 陽,ケウタ・スーツワン, ポンテップ・サノンケオ
 学術雑誌名 巻・号・頁:ケミカルエンジニヤリング 53:681-686
 発表又は受理:発表
 発刊又は発刊予定年月:09/2008